Federal-Mogul Limited (formerly T&N Limited)

Company registration number: 163992

Director’s report for the vear ended 31 December 2008

The director of Federal-Mogul Limited (“the Company™) presents his annual report for the year ended 31
December 2008 together with the audited financial statements for the year.

Administration and Chapter 11 Proceedings

On 1 October 2001, the Company’s then ultimate parent undertaking, Federal-Mogul Corporation and its
subsidiaries in the United States voluntarily filed for financial restructuring under Chapter 11 of the US
Bankruptcy Code. In addition, the majority of Federal-Mogul subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, including the
Company, filed jointly for Chapter 11 and Administration under the UK Insolvency Act 1986.

On 26 September 2005, the Administrators entered into a Global Settlement Agreement with Federal-Mogul
Corporation, the Plan Proponents and the Pension Protection Fund. The Agreement allowed Federal-Mogul to
retain the businesses and other assets of the UK Filing Group in exchange for funding specific creditor payments
and reserves that will be used by the Administrators to provide distributions to creditors.

On 10 July 2006 the Administrators issued to the creditors their proposals for company voluntary arrangements
(CVAs) for the Company and 50 other UK filing subsidiaries. These proposals were approved at shareholders’
and creditors’ meetings hetd on 7 September 2006 and were confirmed by the UK Court on 11 October 2006.
On | December 2006, 64 of the UK filing companies, including the Company, exited from UK Administration.

On 8 November 2007, the US Bankruptcy Court confirmed Federal-Mogul Corporation's Fourth Amended Joint
Plan of Reorganization ("the Plan") and on 14 November 2007 the Plan was affirmed by the US District Court.
On 27 December 2007, following a 30 day period when objections to the Plan could be raised, the Plan became
effective in accordance with its terms (the "Effective Date™) and Federal-Mogul Corporation, together with 59 of
the UK filing companies, including the Company, emerged from Chapter 11.

On the Effective Date, the Chapter 11 Cases of a further 75 Federal-Mogul subsidiaries in the UK were
dismissed. Each of those UK subsidiaries has either few or, in most cases, no known third-party creditors, has no

history of using asbestos or manufacturing, selling or distributing asbestos containing products. None of the UK
subsidiaries whose Chapter 11 Cases were dismissed were a party to the Plan.

Significant events
On 7 April 2009 the Company changed its name from T&N Limited to Federal-Mogul Limited.

Results and dividends

The profit for the year after tax was £3.4m (2007 profit: £7.3m). No dividends are proposed (2007: £ml).

Principal activities and review of the business

The principal activity of the Company continued to be the manufacture and distribution of automotive
components for original equipment (“OE”) manufacturers and aftermarket outlets.
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Company registration number: 163992

Director’s report for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

Principal activities and review of the business (continued)

The Company considers turnover and operational EBITDA to be its key financial performance indicators.
Turnover for the year was £201.8m compared with £216.0m in 2007. The most significant factors contributing
to the reduction in turnover were the closure of the sealing systems manufacturing facility at the Company’s
Slough site in 2007 and the impact of the completion in 2008 of the closure of the Company’s Elstead
manufacturing facility. Otherwise, activity remained in line with previous years. EBITDA is a non-GAAP
measure defined to exclude impairment charges, Chapter 11 and UK Administration expenses, restructuring
costs, asbestos related costs, corporation tax expense, interest expense and income, depreciation and
amortisation. EBITDA for the year was £7.2m compared with £17.9m in 2007. £5.6m of the £10.7m net
decrease in EBITDA is due to an adverse impact on trading of falling exchange rates.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The revenue derived from the Company’s principal activity is closely linked with global OE automotive sales
and production levels. Variations in the level of vehicle production would affect not only sales to OE customers
but, depending on the reason for the change, could impact demand from aftermarket customers. Should the
Company fail to respond appropriately to changes in the demand for its products then its results and financial
condition could be affected adversely.

Research and development

The research and development activities of the Company continue to be directed principally towards the
development of new products and to improving the performance and effectiveness of existing products. in 2008
expenditure amounted to £4.2m (2007: £4.1m).

Asbestos-related costs

The Company, and a number of its fellow subsidiaries of Federal-Mogul Corporation, are amongst many
defendants named in a large number of court actions, both in the United States and the United Kingdom, alleging
personal injury resulting from exposure to asbestos or asbestos-containing products.

Upon the Plan and CV As becoming effective an asbestos personal injury trust (“the Trust™) was established in
the US and the UK Asbestos Trust (the “UK Trust™) was established in the UK. The terms of the Plan and CV As
limit the assets of the Company that the holder of an Asbestos Claim has recourse to. This has the effect of
placing a limit on the Company’s liability at an amount equal to the value of those assets. The assets comprise of
the insurance cover under the Hercules Policy which, following a settlement with one of the three reinsurers, has
a limit of £471.2m, the Stock Repayment Obtligation, £338.0m, and an asset in respect of loans to be provided by
the Trusts that will not be required to be repaid, £28.8m. Thus the assets have a total value of £838.0m so the
liability has been fixed at £838.0m.

The terms of the Plan and CV As are such that the Director considered derecognition of the assets and liabilities is
the most appropriate way of reflecting these liabilities and related liabilities and this was reflected in the 2007

accounts.

Further information is included in note 19 of the financial statements.




Federal-Mogul Limited

Company registration number: 163992

Director’s report for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

Directors and senior executive

The following served as a director of Federal-Mogul Limited during the year:

D. Bozynski, resigned 27 January 2009
L. D. Hangran was appointed on 27 January 2009
Employees and employment policies
The Company has over 1,200 employees located in the UK.
It is the Company’s policy to provide equal opportunities to all employees. The Company provides appropriate
training at all levels and is committed to helping employees to develop their full potential by gaining relevant
skills and experience.
Full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment made by disabled persons. Employees who
become disabled will be retained in employment wherever possible and, where necessary, appropriate retraining

will be provided.

The Company places considerable emphasis on regular and effective communications with employees on matters
of concem to them. The Company involves and consults employees on matters concerning its performance.

Creditor payment policy
It is Company policy to:
(1) agree the terms of payment when agreeing the terms of the transaction;
(ii) ensure that the supplier is aware of the terms of payment; and
(iii)  abide by those terms.
Trade creditor days of the Company as at 31 December 2008 were 28.3 days.
Treasury Policies

Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments comprise cash at bank, balances with group undertakings and trade
debtors and creditors arising from normal operations. These financial instruments are used to fund the
Company’s operations. It is Company policy that no trading in financial instruments be undertaken.

Interest Rate Risk

There are no bank borrowings. so interest rate risk arises only from those intra-group loans which bear
interest. A number of these loans carry interest at a floating rate since the rate is linked to bank base rate.
However, no specific action is taken to hedge the corresponding interest rate exposure since there is
minimal risk to the Group as a whole.




Federal-Mogul Limited

Company registration number: 163992

Director’s report for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

Treasury Policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Several intra-group loans are denominated in foreign currencies and a significant element of export sales
are invoiced in foreign currencies. As a member of a multi-national group, the Company does not hedge
currency exposure. [t is not considered appropriate to do so in connection with intra-group loans or
intra-group trading and exposure to risk relating to third party export sales is mitigated by using foreign
currency receipts to meet payments to overseas suppliers. However, foreign currency is held for only
short periods, the general policy being to convert all cash transactions to sterling as soon as possible.

Credit Risk

The Company’s objective is to reduce the risk of financial loss due to a counterparty’s failure to honour
its obligations. This is achieved by each operating division being responsible for assessing the credit risk
associated with accepting production schedules from customers and for managing shipments and
receivables within pre-determined credit limits, Similarly, in respect of intra-group loans resulting from
Federal-Mogul Group’s policy to use cash surpluses in one area of the business to meet funding
requirements in another, credit risk is assessed by a central treasury department.

Liguidity Risk

The Company aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation by its operations. Formal
approval procedures apply within each operating unit in respect of capital expenditure and cash flow is
managed through regular forecasting and management review of operating results at all levels of the
company.

Donations

The Company made charitable donations amounting to £6,914 (2007: £4,319} in the year. The largest single
donation was £4,979 made to a hospice, local to one of the UK manufacturing sites. Remaining donations were
in support of local charities and community projects in the vicinity of the other UK manufacturing sites. There

were no political donations.

Completeness of information to auditors

In accordance with Section 234ZA of the Companies Act 1985 the director:
s is not aware of any relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

» has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any
relevant gudit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

On behalf of fe Bogrd

Director au

Date: 77/ [O:]’ ( oY




Federal-Mogul Limited

Statement of the director’s responsibilities

The director is responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the director to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the director has elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of aftairs of the Company and of the
profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the director is
required to:

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

The director is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Company and to enable him to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985. He is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FEDERAL-MOGUL
LIMITED

We have audited the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the
Profit and Loss Account, the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, and the related
notes 1 to 21. These financial statemenis have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the director and auditors

The director’s responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice) are set out in the Statement of the Director’s Responsibilities.

QOur responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether, in our opinion, the
information given in the Director’s Report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding director’s remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed,

We read the Director’s Report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements within it.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
Jjudgments made by the director in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of infermation in the financial
statements.




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FEDERAL-MOGUL
LIMITED (continued)

Comparative profit and loss account

In our audit report of the previous period, we stated that with respect to the carrying values of the asbestos
provision and the related insurance recoverable of £838m and £500m respectively at 31 December 2006, the
evidence available to us was limited. Such amounts should have been recorded at the best estimate of the
discounted amounts payable and receivable as at the balance sheet date in accordance with the provisions of FRS
12 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’. The Company has stated that no estimates of the
future cash flows are available to it to provide an updated estimate of the appropriate level of provision, on a
discounted basis as at 31 December 2006 or an estimate of the timing of the utilisation of the £338m capital
contribution. Owing to the absence of this information, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the appropriate carrying value of the provision and the related assets. This had a
consequential impact for the profit and the amounts reflected in equity for the capital contribution reflected in
2007.

We also stated that the amounts recorded as an asbestos provision of £838m and related insurance recoverable of
£500m at 31 December 2006 reflected on an undiscounted basis, the settiement of the liabilities which occurred
in 2007 and accordingly did not reflect conditions at the balance sheet date. Our audit reports on the accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 were qualified in this respect.

As part of emergence from Chapter 11 proceedings, the Trust, which was set up to manage and discharge
asbestos personal injury claims, subscribed for stock in the US parent, leaving the amount payable of £338m
(‘the Stock Repayment Obligation’) outstanding. The rights to this Stock Repayment Obligation, which will be
utilised as described in note 16, have been transferred by the US parent to the Company. This capital
contribution of £338m was reported in the 2007 financial statements as a movement in equity of the full amount,
rather than at a discounted amount reflecting the expected timing of utilisation of the Stock Repayment
Obligation.

As stated in note 19, following the emergence of the company from both the Company Voluntary Arrangement
and the Chapter 11 proceedings, the insurance recoverable asset and the asbestos provision were derecognised in
the 2007 financial statements and accordingly no amounts are reported in the balance sheet as at 31 December
2007 or at 31 December 2008. It is not practicable to quantify the amount of provision and related assets that
would have been required in the December 2006 financial statements nor the amount of the capital contribution
made on a discounted basis, and hence the consequential effect on profit and equity on derecognition of the
assets and liabilities in the prior financial year,

Qualified opinion in respect of comparatives

Except for the financial effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be necessary had
we been able to satisfy ourselves as to the appropriate level of the asbestos provision and the insurance
recoverable asset as at 31 December 2006 and as to the amount of the capital contribution made in the
comparative year on a discounted basis, in our opinion:

o the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit for the
year then ended;

o the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

7 ¢ 2 A
Ernst & Yourlg LLP
Registered Auditor

Manchester

2710 v




Federal-Mogul Limited

Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2008

Notes 2008 2007
fm £fm
Tatal Turnover 201.8 216.0
Cost of sales (171.6) (185.9)
Gross profit 30.2 30.1
Other operating expenses 3(a) (40.7) (29.0)
Other operating income 49 7.2
Operating (loss) / profit en ordinary activities (5.6) 8.3
Profit on disposal of loan notes 3(b) - 0.5
(Loss) / profit on ordinary activities before finance charges (5.6) 8.8
Net interest receivable / (payable) 4 39 {2.6)
(Loss) / profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3 (1.7) 6.2
Tax on (loss) / profit on ordinary activities 5 5.1 1.1
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 34 7.3
Profit attributable to shareholders 3.4 7.3

The results above all relate to continuing operations.

There is no material difference between the result as disclosed in the profit and loss account and the result on

an unmodified historical cost basis for both periods.




Federal-Mogul Limited

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2008

2008 2007
Notes

£m £fm
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 9 39.5 42.5
Investments 10 4999 497.2

5394 539.7
Current assets
Stocks 11 15.8 i5.9
Debtors falling due within one year 12 144.7 199.6
Debtors falling due afier more than one year 12 64 56.2

151.1 255.8
Cash at bank and in hand 75.6 22.0

2425 293.7
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 13 (66.7) (168.6)
Net current assets 175.8 125.1
Total assets less current liabilities 715.2 664.8
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 14 (488.8) (441.8)
Net assets 226.4 223.0
Capital and reserves:
Called up share capital 15 2222 222.2
Share premium account 16 11.0 11.0
Special reserve 16 64.2 64.2
Capital contribution reserve 16 338.0 338.0
Profit and loss account 16 (409.0) {412.4)
Shareholders’ funds - equity 226.4 223.0

The financial statements on pages 8 to 26 were approved by the Board on ZZ/ 0}’

Director

2009 and signed on its behalf by:



Federal-Mogul Limited

Statement of total recognised gains and losses

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than the profit for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31
December 2007,

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

For the year ended 31 December 2008 2007
£m £m
Deficit on shareholders’ funds at start of year 223.0 (122.3)
Profit attributable to shareholders 34 7.3
Capital contribution received (as explained in note 16) - 338.0
Shareholders’ funds at end of year 226.4 223.0

10




Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008

1. Accounting policies

The Company follows applicable UK Accounting Standards and Practice. The financial statements are
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain classes of fixed
assets.

Deferred tax

The taxation charge is based on the result for the period and takes into account taxation deferred
because of timing differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting
purposes. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result
in an obligation to pay more, or right to pay less or to receive more, tax with the following exceptions:

¢ Provision is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation of fixed assets and gains on
disposals of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets only where, at the
balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the replacement assets concerned.
However, no provision has been made where on the basis of all available evidence at the
balance sheet date, it i1s more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into
replacement assets and charged to tax only where the replacement assets are sold.

e Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of
overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent that, at the balance sheet
date, dividends have been accrued as receivable.

o Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the director considers that it is more
likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the
underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which the timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Depreciation and Impairment

Depreciation 1s provided on cost or the revalued amount, as applicable, to write tangible fixed assets,
other than freehold land, down to their estimated residual values on a straight line basis as follows:

- Frechold buildings, 2.5% per annum.

- Leasehold buildings are assumed to have a life equal to the period of the lease, but with a
maximum of 40 years.

- Plant and machinery, at rates ranging from 7% to 33% per annum.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost / valuation less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment fosses.



Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of transaction. Any monetary
assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currency are retranslated at the year end rate. Exchange
differences on transactions in foreign currencies are included in the profit and loss account.

Grants

Grants related to expenditure on tangible fixed assets are credited to profit over a period approximating
to the lives of qualifying assets. Grants receivable to date, less the amounts so far credited to profit, are
included in creditors.

Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for any impairment.

Leasing

Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the life of
the lease.

Pensions Costs
The Company has adopted FRS 17 “Retirement Benefits” in the accounts.

A new defined contribution scheme was introduced in the form of a stakeholder plan. Contributions to
this scheme are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they become payable.

Further information on pension arrangements is set out in Note 7 to the accounts.
Research and development

Research and development revenue expenditure, including all expenditure on internally generated
patents and trademarks, is written off when incurred.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of original cost and net realisable value on a first-in first-out basis. Cost
comprises materials, labour and an allocation of attributable overhead expenses. Net realisable value is
the price at which stocks can be sold in the normal course of business after allowing for the costs of
realisation. :

12




Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its
performance. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates,
VAT and other sales taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer, usually on dispatch of the goods.

Interest income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues.
2. Consolidation and related party disclosures

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking is Icahn Enterprises L.P., a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange. The Company is included in the consolidated financial statements of Icahn Enterprises L.P., which
are publicly available. Consequently, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption from preparing a cash
flow statement under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 1 (revised 1996). The Company is also exempt
under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 8 from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are
part of the Icahn Enterprises Group or investees of the Icahn Enterprises Group.

The Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings are included in consolidated accounts for a larger group,
Federal-Mogul Corporation, drawn up to the same date in the same financial year and those accounts are drawn
up in accordance with the provisions of the Seventh Directive (83/349/EEC) or in a manner equivalent to
consolidated accounts and consolidated annual reports so drawn up. Accordingly the Company, in accordance
with the exemption in S228(A) of the Companies Act, has not prepared consolidated financial statements. The
financial statements therefore contain information about Federal-Mogul Limited as an individual company and
not as a group.

The Company has not presented segmental information required by the Companies Act 1985 as, in the opinion of
the director, this disclosure would be seriously prejudicial to the interests of the Company.

3. Analysis of results

2008 2007
(a) Other operating expenses £m £m
Distribution costs 8.5 10.0
Administrative expenses
Before exceptional items 322 20.5
Costs of Administration and Chapter 11 filings - (1.5)
Other operating expenses 40.7 29.0

Costs of operations charged in arriving at operating profit include £7.2m (2007: £4.8m) in respect of redundancy and
rationalisation. £0.5m of these costs (2007: £1.4m) have been charged as costs of sales and £6.7m (2007: £3.4m} as
administration expenses.




Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to_the financial statements_for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

2008 2007
{b) Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting): £m £m
Auditor’s remuneration
- Audit of company financial statements 0.3 0.2
- Audit of UK subsidiary companies 0.1 0.1
- Other fees to auditors — taxation services 0.9 1.3
Research and development 42 4.1
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
- owned assets 5.6 6.3
Operating lease rentals
- on plant and machinery 1.2 0.9
- on land and buildings 0.5 0.9
Profit on disposal of fixed assets — continuing operations - -
Loss/ (gain) on foreign exchange movements 3.0 (0.5}

The auditors of the Company also received fees of £nil (2007:£nil) in connection with the audit of the T&N Retirement
Benefits Scheme (1989). In addition the auditors of the Company also received audit fees for auditing the accounts of the
Company’s overseas subsidiary undertakings of £0.2m (2007: £0.1m).

Profit on disposal of loan notes

On 10 December 2007 the Company entered into an agreement with Federal-Mogul (Continental European Operations)
Limited (“FM{(CEQ)L"} to purchase part of the latter’s holding in a loan note issued by Federal-Mogul Deutschland GmbH
(the “Specified Part™) together with related interest due thereon. The total purchase price was £127.8m. At the date of
purchase the par value of the Specified Part was £149.5m (Euros 207.9m) and unpaid interest was £10.7m. On acquisition
of the Specified Part, the Company assumed responsibility for a capital gains tax liability deferred by the original issue of
the loan note. As recompense for assuming this liability the total purchase price reflected a discount of £7.8m.

On 13 December 2007 the Company entered into an agreement with Federal-Mogul Corporation (“FMC”) to sell the
Specified Part together with related interest due. At the date of sale the par value of the Specified Part was £149.0m (Euros
207.9m) and unpaid interest was £10.8m. On sale a foreign exchange loss of £0.5m arose, which was included as a
translation adjustment in the profit and loss account in 2007. Total consideration received was £135.7m giving rise to an
exceptional profit of £0.5m and reflecting a £7.8m credit to tax in respect of the purchase price discount. These were
reflected in the profit and loss account in 2007.

2008 2007
4. Net interest receivable / (payable) £m £m
Interest payable on group loans (10.2) (5.1
Other interest (0.1) (0.2)
Exchange loss movement on loans denominated in a foreign currency (7.1) (0.8)
(17.4) {6.1)
Interest receivable on group loans 9.5 2.2
Interest receivable on deposits 24 0.7
Other interest 07 0.3
Exchange gain movement on loans denominated in a foreign currency 8.7 0.3
213 3.5
Net interest receivable / (payable) 3.9 {2.6)




Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

5. Tax on profit on ordinary activities

2008 2007
(a) Analysis of tax credit in the period £m £m
Current year UK corporation tax at 28.5% (2007: 30%) on the (loss) / profit
for the period (14.7) 19.4
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (0.5) -
Group relief receivable  —prior period (L.1) (0.5)
Advance corporation tax - current period 9.8 (12.9)
- prior period 1.2 0.4
(5.3) 6.4
Overseas taxation paid 0.2 0.3
Total current tax (note 5(b)) (5.1 6.7
Deferred tax (note 7) - (7.8)
Tax on {loss) / profit on ordinary activities recorded in the profit & loss (5.1) (1.1)
account

Advance corporation tax {“ACT"”) relates to ACT written off / (recoverable) in the year and a reduction in surrendered ACT
for which payment has fallen due.

(b} Factors affecting current tax (credit) / charge for period

The tax assessed on the (loss) / profit on ordinary activities for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:

2008 2007
£m fm

{Loss) / profit on ordinary activities before taxation (1.7) 6.2
(Loss) / profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of
corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%) (0.5) 1.9
Effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.3 0.7
Gain arising from sale of loan note - 355
Impact of pension payments deferred to subsequent periods {18.2) (30.1)
Decelerated / (accelerated) capital allowances 0.2 {0.4)
Movement in net asbestos costs 2.7) 0.7
Higher taxes on overseas earnings 0.2 03
ACT written off / (recovered) 9.8 (12.9)
Group relief surrendered for no consideration 6.9 12.5
Adjustment to prior year group relief surrendered for consideration (1.1) (0.5)
Reduction in prior year surrendered ACT for which payment has fallen due 1.2 04
Adjustment to prior year corporation tax liability (0.5) -
Difference in tax rates in respect of loss carried back from 2008 to 2007 0.7) -
Current tax (credit) / charge for period (Note 5(a)} {5.1) 6.7




Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

5. Tax on profit on erdinary activities (continued)

(b) Factors affecting current tax (credit) / charge for period (continued)

In 1998 fellow group subsidiaries disposed of investments for which the proceeds took the form of loan notes. The capital
gains tax liabilities on these investment disposals do not crystallise until the loan notes are redeemed or sold to a third party
or outside the UK capital gains tax group. During 2007 a part of one such loan note (“‘the Specified Part™) was acquired by
the Company which thereafter assumed any capital gains tax liability which would arise on sale of the Specified Part. The
Company then sold the Specified Part in 2007 thereby crystallising a capital gain that is estimated as £118.9m. The profit on
the sale of the loan note was £0.5m — see note 3(b). The difference between the book gain and taxable gain gave rise to an
additional tax charge of £35.5m. The Company had available to offset against this gain current year tax losses to the extent
that these were not intended for use by fellow UK subsidiaries as group relief.

In 2008 tax relief arises in respect of £50.2m (2007: £50.2m) of the £201m contribution to a defined benefit pension scheme
in 2006 — see note 5(c} for further details. Tax relief also arises in respect of £13.0m (2007: £49.6m) in respect of payments
made by the Supervisors to meet liabilities arising under S.75 of the Pension Act 1995 — see note 5(c¢) for further details.

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

Total tax losses of approximately £183m (2007: £183m) are carried forward for utilisation against future profits. These
losses will only be recognised as a deferred tax asset when such utilisation is foreseeable.

In 2007 asbestos related personal injury liabilities and related recoverables have been derecognised following the Plan, as
further exptained in note 19. Tax relief for payments in respect of asbestos liabilities derecognised following the Plan is
expected to arise in the year of payment. Amounts recoverable under relevant asbestos insurance assets derecognised
following the Plan are expected to be taxed in the years in which sums are received.

The Company made contributions to a defined benefit pension scheme of £200.8m in 2006 (note 7). The Company is
required to spread its claim for tax relief in respect of this sum in equal instalments over four years commencing in 2006.

Under the terms of the CV A in 2006, the Company set aside funds in bank accounts over which the Supervisors have control
which are used to make payments to holders of relevant CVA claims, in respect of asbestos liabilities which are to be settled
out of funds in the CVA reserves under the terms of the CVA, tax relief is expected to arise in the years in which the
Supervisors make payments.

In 2006 the Company set aside in the CVA reserves £65.3m under the terms of the CVA to meet liabilities arising under
Section 75 of the Pension Act 1995. Tax relief in respect of this sum is expected to arise in the years in which the
Supervisors make payments.

Note 19 makes reference to the Stock Repayment Obligation of £338m which has been assigned to the Company in 2007 by
way of capital contribution. The SRO asset has subsequently been derecognised following the Plan. The Company may
avail itself of the benefit of the SRO to meet established asbestos personal injury claims. To the extent that it does so the
capital contribution will be released to profit and loss account reserves and the amounts so released will be taxable in the
year of release.

The Company’s potential deferred tax assets take account of an estimate of the potential future tax relief that is expected to
arise in the Company from payment of derecognised creditors., The Company’s potential deferred tax liabilities take account
of an estimate of the potential future taxable profits that are expected to arise in the Company from receipts in respect of
derecognised assets and from releases from the capital contribution to the profit and loss account reserves.

The potential tax benefits arising from net asbestos and pension payments and from funds in the CVA reserves will only be
recognised when those benefits are foreseeable.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures as the
Company considers it would have limited liability to additional taxation should such amounts be remitted due to the
availability of double tax relief.



Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

5. Tax on profit on ordinary activities (continued)

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges (continued)

No deferred tax has been provided for tax that may become payable if revalued assets are disposed of at their revalued
amounts.

Advance corporation tax of £18.8m (2007: £8.1m), none of which is recognised in the accounts, is available to carry forward
against future UK tax liabilities.

The Finance Act 2007 includes changes which will affect future tax charges. The main change which will affect the
Company is a reduction in the rate of Corporation Tax from 30% to 28% from 1 April 2008. Finance Act 2007 changes to
Industrial Building allowances also affect the Company. The deferred tax balance has been adjusted in the current year to
reflect both these changes {note 17). Further changes in the UK Capital Allowance regime in the Finance Act 2008 will also
impact on allowances the Company may claim. The full impact of these changes is still being assessed.

6. Employees 2008 2007

Monthly average number of employees

Manufacturing 1,048 1,170
Selling and Marketing 43 45
Research and Development 68 72
Administrative 305 373
1,464 1,660

2008 2007

Employment costs £m £m
Wages and salaries 40.8 48.5
Social security costs 49 5.3
Net pension charge (Note 7) 27 3.1
Redundancy payments 3.6 5.3
52.0 62.2

7. Pensions commitments

2008 2007
£m £m
Defined contribution scheme 2.9 3.1

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in the form of a stakeholder plan.

In 2008 costs were £2.7m (2007: £3.1m). As at 31 December 2008 outstanding employer contributions of £0,.1m (2007:
£0.3m) were included in Creditors — Amounts falling due within one year.

In 2008 there are no other significant post-employment benefits.
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 {(continued)

8. Director’s emoluments

The director of the Company has not received any emoluments in respect of his services as a director of the Company (2007:

£nil).

The Director was not a member of the Company’s defined contribution pension scheme in 2008 or 2007,

9. Tangible fixed assets Land and buildings Plant and machinery Total
Cost or valuation £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 18.6 177.4 196.0
Additions - 3.2 32
Disposals (0.1) (19.4) (19.5})
Reclassifications 0.1 (0.1} -
Transfers to Group companies - (1.7) (1.7)
At 31 December 2008 18.6 159.4 178.0
Depreciation £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 8.0 145.5 153.5
Disposals (1.0} (18.0) (19.0)
Transfers to Group companies - (1.6) (1.6)
Charge for the year 0.5 5.1 5.6
At 31 December 2008 7.5 131.0 138.5
Net book value

At 31 December 2008 11.1 28.4 39.5
At 31 December 2007 10.6 31.9 42.5

Included in the cost of fixed assets are plant and machinery in the course of construction of £2.1m (2007 £3.6m). Assets in

the course of construction are not depreciated.

2008 2007
Net book value of land and buildings £m £m
Freehold land - not depreciated 3.6 23
Freehold buildings 7.3 8.1
Short leasehold 0.2 0.2

11.1 10.6
Net book value of tangible fixed assets based Land and buildings Plant and machinery Total
on historic cost £m £m £m
Cost (or ascribed value) 11.1 159.4 170.5
Depreciation (4.0) (131.0) (135.0)
Net book value based on historic cost
At 31 December 2008 7.1 28.4 35.5
At 31 December 2007 6.6 31.9 38.5
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

10. Fixed asset investments

Subsidiary Undertakings

Shares Loans Total
£m fm £m

Cost
At 1 January 2008 619.0 6.5 625.5
Transfers from Group companies 33 - 33
Dissolution of subsidiaries 3.9 0.9) {4.8)
Write-off of balance - 0.9) 0.9)
Repayments - (1.2) (1.2)
Currency translation - 0.2 0.2
At 31 December 2008 618.4 3.7 622.1
Provisions
At 1 January 2008 (123.3) (5.0) {128.3)
Dissolution of subsidiaries 4.0 0.9 4.9
Write-off of balance - 0.9 0.9
Reduction in year - 0.3 0.3
At 31 December 2008 (119.3) (2.9) (122.2)
Net book value
At 31 December 2008 499.1 0.8 4999
At 31 December 2007 495.7 1.5 497.2

Details of the investments in which the Company holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital are disclosed
below. Advantage has been taken of the exemption in 5231{5)} of the Companies Act whereby, due to the large number of undertakings in
respect of which the Company would be required to make disclosure, disclosure has only been made in respect of those undertakings
whose results or financial position principally affect the financial statements.

Name of Country of Holding Proportion | For the year | Aggregate amount | Profit or Nature of
Company incorporation of voting | ending (*) of capital and (loss) for Business
if outside rights and reserves at the end | the year
Great Britain shares held of its most recent
% financial year
£fm fm

AE Limited Ordinary 64.94 | 31.12.08 42.5 2.8 Holding

shares company
Federal- Czech Registered 100 31.12.08 101.0 12.7 Automotive
Mogul Republic shares friction
Friction materials
Products a.s.
Federal- Crdinary 100 31.12.08 4.1 - Export sales
Mogul shares company
Export
Services
Limited
FDML Ordinary 100 31.12.08 374.1 50.0 Holding
Holdings shares company
Limited #

* Financial information taken from the audited financial statements.

# On 11 February 2009 T&N Holdings Limited changed its name to FDML Holdings Limited.
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued}

10. Fixed asset investments (continued)

In accordance with FRS11, the director has compared the carrying value of investments to their value in use to the Company
and recorded an impairment charge for any individual investments that he considered impaired.

The value in use has been derived from discounted cash flow projections using a nominal discount rate of 12.5% (2007:
10.5%).

The Company’s principal subsidiaries, associated undertakings and trade investments are listed in note 20.

11. Stocks 2008 2007
£m £fm
Raw materials 2.6 3.2
Work in progress 1.6 2.1
Finished goods 11.6 10.6
15.8 15.9

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not material.

12. Debtors 2008 2007
Debtors falling due within one year £m £m
Trade debtors 25.1 27.6
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries 109.5 163.5
Taxation — United Kingdom corporation tax 2.1 -
Prepayments and accrued income 1.3 1.2
Other debtors 6.7 7.3
144.7 199.6
Debtors falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries - 49.9
Other debtors 6.4 6.3
6.4 56.2
13. Creditors — Amounts falling due within one year 2008 2007
£m £m
Trade creditors 7.8 10.2
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiaries 40.2 106.4
Payroll and other taxes, including social security 1.4 4.7
Taxation — United Kingdom corporation tax - 8.0
Other creditors - 18.2
Accruals and deferred income 17.3 21.1
66.7 168.6
14. Creditors — Amounts falling due after more than one year 2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts owed to fellow subsidiaries 488.8 441.8
488.8 441.8

15. Called up share capital

Authorised Authorised Issued and Issued and
No. of shares £m fully paid fully paid
Ordinary shares of 40p each No. of shares £m
At 1 January 2008 725,000,000 290.0 555,358,973 222.2
At 31 December 2008 725,000,000 290.0 555,358,973 2222
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

16. Reserves

Share premium Special Capital contribution Profit and
Account Reserve reserve loss account
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 11.0 64.2 3380 (412.4)
Profit attributable to shareholders - - - 34
At 31 December 2008 11.0 64.2 338.0 (409.0)

The special reserve was established in 1997 on a reduction in capital and is not distributable.

In 2005 a non-returnable capital contribution of £13.2m was received from Federal-Mogul Corporation. This amount is
distributable in future periods, subject 1o part 23 of the Companies Act 2006.

In accordance with the terms of Federal-Mogul Corporation’s Fourth Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization (“the Plan™) the
U.S. Asbestos Trust (“the Trust”) subscribed for 57.5% of the Reorganized Federal-Mogu! Class B Common Stock for the
subscription price of £338,000,000, such sum being left outstanding as a debt owing by the Trust to Reorganized Federal-
Mogul.

On 27 December 2007 Reorganized Federal-Mogul assigned and transferred to the Company by way of capital contribution
all of its right, title and interest in and to such debt, the “Stock Repayment Obligation” (SRO).

This amount was included as a capital reserve as it was not realised at that time. A transfer is made between the Capital
Contribution Reserve and the Profit and Loss Account as the amounts are realised by reduction of the SRO during the year,
A reduction in the SRO occurs either by setting off against the liability in respect of an Asbestos Claim an equivalent
amount of the SRO, or by the Trust paying the whole or part of the SRO to the Company for the purpose of enabling the
Company io satisfy the liability in respect of an Asbestos Claim. There have been no such transactions during the year.

17. Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax provided 2008 2007

£m £m
Accelerated capital allowances 29 2.9
Asbestos related costs (2.3) (1.4)
Other timing differences {0.6) (1.5)

Provision for deferred tax - -

Asbestos Other timing Total
related costs differences

£fm £m £m

At | January 2008 (1.4) 1.4 -

Adjustments in respect of previous periods (1.1) 1.1 -

Current year movements 0.2 {0.2) -

At 31 December 2008 (2.3) 2.3 -
Unprovided assets 2008 2007
£m £m
Asbestos related costs (5.1) (8.7)
Pensions (15.2) (33.4)
Losses (51.3) (51.3)
(71.6) (93.4)
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

2008 2007
18. Commitments and contingent liabilities £m £m
Future capital expenditure - contracts placed 0.8 0.5
Operating leases - payment commitments for 2008
On leases of land and buildings expiring:
- within one year - 0.2
- between two and five years - 0.3
- in more than five years 0.2 -
0.2 0.5
On leases of plant and machinery expiring:
- within one year 0.3 0.2
- between two and five years 0.4 0.3
0.7 0.5

Contingent liabilities also exist in respect of cross-guarantees given by the Company and its UK subsidiaries to support
some of the Group’s UK banking facilities amounting to £nil (2007: £nil).

19. Asbestos-related personal injury litigation
Background

The Company, and a number of its fellow subsidiaries of Federal-Mogul Corporation, are amongst many defendants named
in a large number of court actions, both in the United States and the United Kingdom, alleging personal injury resulting from
exposure to asbestos or asbestos-containing products.

In 1996, the Company purchased a £500m layer of insurance {the "Hercules Policy") to cover asbestos-related disease
claims against the T&N Group, which will be triggered should the aggregate cost of asbestos personal injury claims made or
brought against the Company or any of its subsidiaries listed in Schedule B to the Hercules Policy after 12.01 GMT on !
July 1996, where the asbestos-related exposure consists at least in part of exposure to ashestos, asbestos products, asbestos
fibres or asbestos dust mined, manufactured, sold, installed or distributed prior to that date, exceed £690m (the Company
and such subsidiaries are referred to as "Hercules-Protected Entities™).

In December 2001 one of the three reinsurers, who each had a third share of the policy, challenged the validity of its
reinsurance contract with the Company. As a result of this lawsuit a claim was also made against the broker that assisted in
procuring the policy. Under the terms of a settlement (the "Settlement") reached by the parties, it was agreed that the
reinsurer and the broker would be liable, in total, for 82.75% of the one third share of the reinsurance policy, the Company
effectively bearing the remaining 17.25% of the one third share (or approximately £28.75 million). Therefore the total
effective coverage provided by ali three reinsurers (including the broker) is 94.25% (the "Repayment Percentage”). The
Bankruptcy Court approved the settlement in November 2006,

Impact of the Chapter 11 Filing and UK Administration Orders

On 1 October 2001, the Company’s then ultimate parent undertaking, Federal-Mogul Corporation, and its subsidiaries in the
United States voluntarily filed for financial restructuring under Chapter 11 of the US Bankruptcy Code. In addition, the
majority of Federal-Mogul subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, including the Company, filed for Chapter 11 and petitioned
for and were granted an administration order under the UK Insolvency Act 1986. Federal-Mogul Corporation, together with
its US and UK affiliates that commenced bankruptcy proceedings in the United States, including those that commenced
administration proceedings in the United Kingdom, are referred to collectively as the "Debiors”. The proceedings were
commenced in response to a sharply increasing number of asbestos-related claims and their demand on the Debtors’ cash
flows and liquidity.
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Federal-Mogul Limited

Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

19, Ashestos-related persenal injury litigation (continued)
Impact of the Chapter 11 Filing and UK Administration Orders

On 10 July 2006 the administrators issued to the creditors their proposals for company voluntary arrangements ("CV As") for
the Company and 50 other UK subsidiaries (together, the "CVA Companies"). The CVAs enabled the CVA Companies to
agree formally a composition or scheme of arrangement with their creditors determining how their debts should be paid and
in what proportions such debts would be settled. These proposals were approved at shareholders’ and creditors’ meetings of
the CVA Companies held on 7 September 2006 and became effective on 11 October 2006 (the "Effective Date of the
CVAs"). On i December 2006, the Company, and a further 63 of the UK companies, exited from UK administration.

On the Effective Date of the CVAs, a UK Asbestos Trust (the "UK Trust") was established pursuant to the UK Asbestos
Trust Deed. Claims made under the terms of the CVAs {which include asbestos personal injury claims against any CVA
Company where the alleged exposure occurred within the UK or Australia and certain other claims) are required to be
asserted through the agency of the UK Trust and are referred to as "CVA Asbestos Claims”. The holder of a CVA Asbestos
Claim (as defined in the CV As} is given under the CVAs a claim against the UK Trust equivalent to the CVA Asbestos
Claim that he holds against the CVA Company; this is referred to as a "Trust Claim". The holder of a Trust Claim will not
receive the full value of his Trust Claim out of the trust funds forming the UK Asbestos Trust but instead will receive a
dividend based on the total claim at a level to be set from time to time by the UK Asbestos Trustee. Asbestos personal
injury claims against Debtors which did not fall within the definition of "CVA Asbestos Claims" were left to be dealt with
by the US plan of reorganization,

On 8 November 2007, the US Bankruptcy Court confirmed Federal-Mogul Corporation’s Fourth Amended Joint Plan of
Reorganization ("the Plan"). In early 2007, the Debtors and other Plan Proponents had solicited votes to accept or reject the
Plan through a process approved by the US Bankruptcy Court. The Plan Proponents comprised the overwhelming majority
of significant stakeholders in the Chapter 11 Cases, including representatives of the holders of current and future asbestos-
related personal injury claims against the Debtors. On 15 June, 2007, the results ‘of the Plan voting process with the US
Bankruptcy Court showed that all classes of claims against and equity interests in the Debtors voted to accept the Plan by
margins in excess of the US Bankruptcy Code requirements.  All ¢classes of asbestos personal injury claims voted to accept
the Plan by margins in excess of those required for the imposition of an asbestos trust and channeling injunction pursuant to
section 524(g) of the Bankrupicy Code, which allows a Debtor to establish a funded trust to assume liability for all existing
and future asbestos personal liability claims against it. The legal representative for future asbestos personal injury claimants
also supported approval of the Plan. The Plan provides for distributions of cash and/or securities to be made to holders of
pre-Petition date (i.e. before 1 October 2001) claims against the Debtors as well as certain claims that arose during the
period that the Debtors were in Chapter 11. On 14 November 2007, the Plan was affirmed by the US District Court. On 27
December 2007, following the expiration of a 30 day period when objections to the Plan could be raised, the Plan became
effective in accordance with its terms (the "Effective Date of the Plan"} and Federal-Mogul Corporation together with 59 of
the UK filing companies, including the Company, emerged from their proceedings under Chapter 11 of the US Bankruptcy
Code.

On the Effective Date of the Plan, an asbestos personal injury trust ("the US Trust") was established pursuant to Section
524(g) of the US Bankrupicy Code. Claims made under the terms of the Plan against any Debtor that was a Hercules-
Protected Entity are required to be asserted through the agency of the US Trust and are referred to as "Debtor HPE Asbestos
Claims". The definition of "Debtor HPE Asbestos Claim" excludes any CVA Asbestos Claim (so that UK and Australian
claims are not included). The holder of a Debtor HPE Asbestos Claim (as defined in the Plan) is given under the Plan a
claim against the US Trust equivalent to the Asbestos Personal Injury Claim that he holds against the Hercules-Protected
Entity; this is referred to in the Plan as a "Trust Claim". The holder of a Trust Claim will not receive the full value of his
Trust Claim out of the trust funds forming the US Asbestos Trust, but instead will receive a dividend based on the total
claim at a level set from time to time by the US Asbestos Trustees. CVA Asbestos Claims against CVA Companies
continue to be dealt with by the CV As,

23




Federal-Mogul 1.imited

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008 {continued)

19, Asbestos-related personal injury litigation (continued)

Assumption of liabilities by the US Trust

Pursuant to and subject 10 the terms specified in the Plan, the US Trust assumed all liability for asbestos personal injury
claims against the Reorganized Hercules-Protected Entities in excess of both (i) the Hercules Retention (being the remaining
amount of the limit of £690 million as defined by the Hercules Policy) and the Hercules Coverage (being the £500 million
insurance coverage provided under the Hercules Policy, subject to the Settlement) and (ii) all other sums as are attributable
to or otherwise represent the Hercules Recoveries (being amounts recovered under the Hercules Policy) to the extent such
amounts exceed the Hercules Coverage.

Under the terms of the Plan, upon the Hercules Policy Expiry Date (as defined in the Plan), the US Trust will assume
liability for all remaining Asbestos Personal Injury Claims (other than those covered by employer’s liability insurance). The
"Hercules Policy Expiry Date” includes the date on which the Hercules Policy ceases to have effect whether by commutation
or settlement.

Under the terms of the Plan, the US Trust subscribed for 57.5% of the Reorganized Federal-Mogul Class B Common Stock
for the subscription price of £338m (being an amount approximately equal to the remaining Hercules Retention under the
Hercules Policy), such sum being left outstanding as a debt owing by the US Trust to Reorganized Federal-Mogul.
Immediately following this subscription Reorganized Federal-Mogul assigned and transferred to the Company by way of
capital contribution all of its right, title and interest in such debt, known as the "Stock Repayment Obligation”, thereby
ensuring that established Debtor HPE Asbestos Claims can be paid by being offset against the Stock Repayment Obligation.

The Stock Repayment Obligation shall be payable by offset, in whole or in part, upon notice by either the Company to the
US Trust or by the US Trust to the Company in exercise of the option to offset provided for under the terms of the Plan, or
shall be payable, in whole or in part, upon notice by the US Trust to the Company in exercise of the option to make payment
provided for under the terms of the Plan. To the extent that it has not been paid at any earlier date the Stock Repayment
Obligation shall be payable 20 years after the Effective Date of the Plan.

Derecognition of Asset and Liability
The Director has considered the terms of the Plan and the CVAs and discussed these with the Company’s advisers.

Whilst the terms of the Plan and the CVAs do not result in the legal release of the liabilities up to the amounts of the
Hercules Retention and the Hercules Coverage, they provide that, in relation to the liabilities for asbestos personal injury
claims, the Company will not incur net cash outflows. In addition the US Trust and/or UK Trust should bear all risks due to
circumstances such as the insolvency or liquidation of any insurance carrier or the broker, the inability to substantiate claims
under the Hercules Policy, reduced liquidity of the US Trust and/or UK Trust, or reduced levels or complete exhaustion of
assets available to the US Trust and/or UK Trust to settle asbestos personal injury claims. The recourse of the US Trust and
the UK Trust in respect of asbestos personal injury claims is limited by reference to certain of the Company’s assets, being
essentially the Stock Repayment Obligation and the proceeds of the Hercules Policy. The assets concerned will be utilised
by the US Trust and the UK Trust to settle the liabilities arising with no prospect of any residual benefit to the Company,
and thus the Company will ntot have access to or benefit from these assets which do not represent future economic benefits
that are controlied by the Company. Therefore the Director considered that derecognition of the assets and liabilities was
the most appropriate way of reflecting these transactions. There has been no movement in respect of these balances during
the year (see the following table).

Insurance Recoverable and Stock Repayment Asbestos Related Net Asset / (Liability)
US Trust Loan Asset Obligation Provision Position
£m £m £m fm
Balances as at
31.12.07 500.0 338.0 (838.0) 0.0
Balances as at
31.12.08 500.0 338.0 (838.0) 0.0
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Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

20. Principal subsidiary and associated undertakings and trade investments at 31 December 2008

Holding Companies
FDML Holdings Ltd (formerly known as T&N Holdings Limited) +

Federal-Mogul UK Investments Lid (formerly known as T&N Invesiments Limited)

Powertrain

Federal-Mogul Bradford Ltd

Federal-Mogul Piston Segman (50%)#

Federal-Mogul lzmit (44.85%)#

Dongsuh Industrial Company Lid (50%)#

Anging TP Goetze Piston Ring Company Ltd (35.7%)#

Friction Products

Federal-Mogul Friction Products Ltd
Federal-Mogul Friction Products a.s. +
Federal-Mogul Friction Products SA

Korea Beral Ltd (23.27%)*

Federal-Mogul Friction Products Company (70%%)
Federal-Mogul Friction Products (Thailand) Lid

Engine Parts Aftermarket
Federal-Mogul Aftermarket UK Lid

Sealing Products

Federal-Mogul Scaling Systems Ltd
Federal-Mogul Sealing Systems Company

Camshafts

Federal-Mogul Camshaft Castings Ltd
Federal-Mogul Camshafts Ltd

Powder Metal Products
Federal-Mogul Sintered Products Ltd

Systems Protection
Federal-Mogul Japan KK

UK
UK

UK

Turkey
Turkey
South Korea
China

UK

Czech Republic
Spain

South Korea
China

Thailand

UK

UK
China

UK
UK

UK

Japan

Apart from FDML Holdings Limited and Federal-Mogul UK Investments Limited, the UK companies operate as branches of

Federal-Mogul Limited. All the above companies traded during the year.

Unless otherwise shown, investments in overseas companies are held by subsidiaries of T&N Holdings Limited. The
companies are incorperated and operate principally in the countries indicated. Equity investments are wholly owned, unless

otherwise shown, and consist of ordinary shares.

#

*
+

Associated undertakings
Trade investments
Held directly by Federal-Mogut Limited
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Notes to the financial statements for the vear ended 31 December 2008 (continued)

21. Corporate information

Head Office and Registered Office
Manchester International Office Centre
Styal Road

Manchester

M22 5TN

Company registration number: 163992

Ultimate parent company

The Company’s immediate parent company is Federal-Mogul Globa! Growth Limited, a company registered in England and
Wales. The ultimate parent company and controlling party is Icahn Enterprises L.P. registered in the USA. The group
accounts of Icahn Enterprises L.P. are the largest group accounts in which the Company is included. Accounts of this
company may be obtained from Icahn Enterprises L.P., 767 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4700, New York, NY10153, USA. The
group accounts of Federal-Mogul Corporation Inc are the smallest group accounts in which the Company is included.
Accounts of this company may be obtained from Federal-Mogul Investor Relations, 26555 Northwestern Highway,
Southfield, MI 48034-2146, USA.

26




THESE PARTNERONIP
ACCOUNTS FORM |
PART OF THE ACCOUNTS
OF COMPANY

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

FORM 10-K

FEDERAL MOGUL CORP - FDML
Filed: February 24, 2009 (period: December 31, 2008)

Annual report which provides a comprehensive overview of the company for the past year

L

OGO2BTK*
A3s 24/07/2009

148
COMPANIES HOUSE




f-"'Tfaib.!e ..o'f,..C'bnte"FS.f

0-K-F 10-K -

‘ -
i c“éﬂ DA ,.1 e ;‘;. o J? '5{1“,
‘ A i'ﬁ.,r.\‘:t- ’ l

ﬂﬂtn‘ 57- BUSINESS ) YWY -
EM PROPERTIES %

1ITEM 3, LEGAL PRO QEEBINGS

“ITEM 3 SUBMISSION- emTTERs TO AVOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

L R

PART Il

MS MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT § COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
TOCKHQLDER MATTERS AND ISSU URC S OF EQUHT

SECURITIES
ITEM 6. LE DA
TEM 7 MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS QF OPERATIONS
LTEM 7A. A IVE, TIVE DISCLOSUY \J
MARKET RISK
ITEM 8. NAN A NT D NT D
ITEM 9, CHANGES INAND D EEM S ou NTS
cC CL
ITEM 9A, 8] OLS PROCEDURES
ITEM 9B,  OTHERINFORMATION
PART ill
ITEM 10, ORS | A 0]
GOVERANCE
ITEM 1L, XE VE COM SA
ITEM 12, ECURITY ERSH! CE | NEFICIAL O D
ND RELATED STOCK| ] s
M1 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND
R (9] E DE

ITEM 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
GN S
EX-10.50 (FEDERAL-MOGUL 2008 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN)

EX-10.51 (FEDERAL-MOGUL 2008 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE UPLIET PLAN})




EX-21 (SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT)

EX-24 (POQWERS QF ATTORNEY)

EX-31. ERTIFICATION BY THE COMPANY'S CEQ PURSUANT TO RULE
13A-14)

-31. TIFt ICN BY THE COM Y'S CFO PURSUANT TO RUL
13A-14)
EX-32 (CERTIF|CATION BY THE COMPANY'S CEO AND CFQ PURSUANT TQ
SECTION 1350)




Table of Coptents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

Commission File Number: 001-34029

FEDERAL-MOGUL CORPORATION

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 20-8350090
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer 1.Dn. Ne.)
incorporation or organization)}

26555 Northwestern Highway
Southfield, Michigan 48033
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number including area code: (248) 354-7700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Titke of Ench . .
Common Stock par value $0.01 per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of Clasy
Warrants to perchase Common Stock, par value 50.01 per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, o3 defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes O No &
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reparts pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d)ofthe Act. Yes O No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for

the past 90 days. Yes Bl No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinguent tilers pursuant to liem 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part [[] of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this

Form 10-K, X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporsting company. Sce
definition of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reporting company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer O Smaller Reporting Company [0
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as Jefined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).  Yes O Ne 3@

"The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant was approximately $405 million as of June 30, 2008 based on the reported
last sale price as published for NASDAQ for such date.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or [5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
af 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes @@ No O

Source; FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2008




The Registrant had 99,404,500 shares of common stock outstanding as ot February 20, 2009,
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Purtions of the Registrant’s Proxy Statement for its 2009 Annua! Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference in Part [ ot this Repont.

Source; FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-X, February 24, 2008




Fonward-Looking Statemeis

Part |
Iiem | — Business
tem 1a = Risk Factors
e Lk = Unpesoly ed Stall Commments
liein 2 — Propertiey
I —1.geal Progeedings
I J ssion of Maters
Pat 1l
Consolidated Finaneial Statements
o . idat e sl S
art 11
Part |V
Signatures
Exhibits

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009

INDEX

Page No.
7

19
25
25
25
26

3
33
34
56

59

61
62
66
114
114
114

115
115
115
115
15

116
121



o

Tablo of Contents
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contzined or incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K which are not statements of historical fact constitute “Forward-Looking
Statements™ within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act”).

Forward-looking statements give current expectations or forecasts of future events. Words such as “anticipate™, “believe”. “estimate™, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”,
“seek™, “may” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with discussions of future operating or financial performance signify forward-looking
statements. Federal-Mogul Corporation (the “Company”) also, from time to time, may provide oral or written forward-tooking statements in other materials
released to the public, Such stitements are made in good faith by the Company pursuant to the “Safe Harbor™ provisions of the Reform Act.

Any or all forward-locking statements included in this report or in any other public statements may ultimately be incorrect. Forward-looking statements may
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance, experience or achievements of the Company
to differ materially from any future results, performance, experience or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-louking statements, The Company
undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

These are some of the factors that could potentially cause actual results to differ materially from historical and expected future results. Other factors besides those
listed here could also materially affect the Cumpany's business,

= Variations in current and anticipated future production volumes, financial condition, or operational circumstances of the Company's significant customers,
particularly the world’s original equipment manufacturers of commercial and passenger vehicles.

*+ The Company’s ability to generate cost savings or manufacturing efficiencies to offset or exceed contractually or competitively required price reductions or
price reductions to obtain new business.

* The Company’s ability to obtain cash adequate to fund its needs, including availability of borrowings under its various credit facilities.
*  Fluctuations in the price and availability of maw materials and other supplies used in the manufacturing and distribution of the Company s products,
*  Material shortages, transportation system delays, or other difficulties in markets where the Company purchases supplies for the manutacturing of its products.

* Significant work stoppages, disputes, or any other difficulties in labor markets where the Company obtains materials necessary for the manufacturing of its
products or where its products are manufactured, distributed or sold.

* Increased development of fuel cell, hybrid-electric or other alternative cnergy technelogies.

+ Changes in actuarial assumptions, interest costs and discount rates, and fluctuations in the global securities markets which directly impact the valuation of
assets and liabilitics associated with the Company's pension and other postemployment benefit plans.

+ Various worldwide economic, political and social factors, changes in economic conditions, currency fluctuations and devaluations, credit risks in emerging
markets, or political instability in foreign countries where the Company has significant manufacturing operations, customers or suppliers,

*+ Legal actions and claims of undetermined merit and amount involving. among other things. product liability, wamanty, recalls of products manafactured or
sold by the Company, and environmental and safety issues invelving the Company's products or facilities.
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New or expanded litigation activity regarding alleged asbestos claims against foreign subsidiaries of the Company for which the liability has not been
permanently channeled to a trust pursuant (o section 524(g) of the United States Bankruptcy Code andfor addressed by the provisions of the Company

Voluntary Arrangements approved in the United Kingdom.

Legislative activities of governments, agencies, and similar organizations, both in the United States and in other countries that may afYect the operations of the
Company. :

Physical damage to, or loss of, significant manufacturing or distribution property, plant and equipment due to fire, weather or other factors beyond the
Company's control.

Possible terrorist attacks or acts of aggression or war, that ceuld exacerbate other risks such as slowed vehicle production or the availability of supplies for the
manufacturing of the Company's products.

The Company’s ability to effectively transition its information system infrastructure and functions to newer generation systems.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Business Overview

Federal-Mogul Corporation (the “Company™) is a leading global supplier of technology and innovation in vehicle and industrial products for fuel economy,
alternative energies, environment and safety systems. The Company serves the world's foremost original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) of automotive, light
commercial, heavy-duty, industrial, agricultural, aerospace, marine, rail, and off-road vehicles, as well as the worldwide aftermarket. Federal-Mogul's leading
technology and innovation, lean manufacturing expertise. as well as marketing and distribution deliver world-class products, brands and services with quality
excellence at a competitive cost. Federal-Mogul has established a global presence and conducts its eperations through various menufacturing, distribution and
technical centers that are wholly-owned subsidiaries or partially-owned joint ventures, organized into six primary reporting segments: Powertrain Energy.
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Protection, Automotive Products, Global Aftermarket, and Corporate. Federal-Mogul offers its customers a
diverse array of market-leading products for OEM and replacement parts (“zRermarket™) applications, including pistons, piston rings, piston pins, cylinder liners.
valve seats and guides, transmission components, dynamic seals, bonded piston seals, combustion and exhaust gaskets, static gaskets and seals, rigid heat shiclds,
cengine bearings, industrial bearings. bushings and washers, brake disc pads, brake linings, brake blocks, element resistant systems protection sleeving products,
acoustic shielding, flexible heat shields, brake system components, chassis products, wipers, fuel pumps, ignitions, and lighting,

The Company, during December 2007, completed its financial restructuring under Chapter 1t of Title H of the United States Code (the “Banknuptcy Code™). On
December 27, 2007, the Fourth Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization for Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession (as Modified) (the “Plan™) became effective (the
“Effective Date™) and in accordance with the Plan the Predecessor Company merged with and into New Federal-Mogul Corporation. Pursuant to the merger:
(i) the separate corporate existence of the Predecessor Company ceased; (ii} New Federal-Mogul Corporation became the surviving corporation and continues to
be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and (iii) New Federal-Mogul Corporation was renamed “Federal-Mogul Corporation.” The ferms “Predecessor
Company™ and “Predecessor” refer Lo Federal-Mogul Corporation prior to emergence from Chapter 11 proceedings. The terms the “Company™,
“Federal-Mogul”, “Successor Company™, and “Successor” refer to Federal-Mogul subsequent to completion of Chapter 11 proceedings. For further information
on the reorganization upon emergence trom Chapter 11 proceedings, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 of this report,

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP™), the Company was required to adopt fresh-start reporting
effective upon emergence from bankruptey on the Effective Date. The Company evaluated the activity hetween the Effective Date and December 31, 2007 and.
based upon the immateriality of such activity, concluded that the use of an accounting convenience date of December 31, 2007 was appropriate, As such,
fresh-start reporting has been applied as of that date. As a result of fresh-start reporting, financial statements of the Successor Company are not comparable to the
financial statements of the Predecessor Company, For further information on fresh-start reporting, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included
in [tem 8 of this report.

Federal-Mogul has operations in 36 countries and, accordingly, all of the Company’s reporting segments derive sales from both domestic and international
markets. The attendant risks of the Company’s international operations are primarily related to currency fluctuations, changes in local economic and political
conditions, and changes in laws and regulations.

Source: FEDERAL MQGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009
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The following 1ables set forth net property, plant and equipment {“PP&E"} and net sales hy geographic region as a percentage of total net PP&E and total net
sales, respectively. Net PP&E balances as of December 31, 2007 in the table below were estimated values associsted with the application of fresh-start reporting.
The Finalization of fresh-start reporting resulted in subsequent changes 1o these estimates.

Successor Predecessor
Net PP&E Net Sales
December 31 Year Ended December 31
08 U T 2007 006
United States 33% 2% 38% 0% 45%
Canada = 1% _2% 2% 2%
Total United States and Canada 33% 33% 40% 42%  4T%
Germany 23% 22% 20% 19% 18%
France ' 6% 6% 8% 8% - 8%
United Kingdom 4% 6% 5% 6% 6%
Switzerland — — 4% 5% 4%
Italy 5% 5% 5% 4% 3%
Other Europe ' _9% _9% _4% _4% 3%
Total Europe 47% 48% 46% 46% 42%
Asia, ‘ ’ ~ 13% 11% 6% 5% 4%
Mexico 4% 5% 4% 4% 4%
South America . i ' ) - i % 2% % 2% %
Other _ 1% 1% 1% _ 1% _ 1%
Total Rest of World *- ' . _20% _19% 4% . _13% 1%
100%  100%  100%  100%  100%
The following table sets forth net sales by reporting segment as a percentage of total net sales:
Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
TS 06
Net sales by reporting segment: ., ) : . o ’
Powertrain Energy ) . . X 3% 0 W% I%%
Powertiain Sealing and Bearings . - © - - - o L ‘ SE T 15% L 15% - - 15%
Vehicle Safety and Protection ) - % 11% 1%
" Automotive Products, o ) T s 6% 5% " 5%
Global Aftermarket 38% _39% _40%
T oo T o ‘ ’ ‘ 100%  100% . 100%

The Company derives significant sales from both the original equipment (“OE”) market and the aftermarket. The Company seeks to participate in both of these
markets by leveraging its OE product engineering and development capability, manufacturing excellence, and expertise to manage a broad and deep range of
replacement parts to service the aftermarket. Federal-Mogul is the OE technology market share leader in several product categories. The Company believes that it
is uniquely positioned to offer premium brands. OE replacement and entry level products for all global aftermarket customers. Therefore, the Company can be
first to the aftermarket with new products, service expertise and customer support. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had current OEM products included
on approximately 300 global vehicle platforms and more than 700 global powertrains used in light, medium and heavy-duty vehicles, This broad range of vehicle
and powertrain applications reinforces the Company’s beliet in its unique market position.
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Strategy

The Company’s strategy is designed 1o create sustainable global profitable growth by leveraging existing and developing new competitive advantages. This
strategy consists of the following primary elements:

= Provide value-added products to customers in all markets served through leading technology and innevation;
¢ Develop products to enable increased fuel economy and reduce vehicle emissions, plus enable the use of alternative energies;
= Utilize the Company’s leading technology resources to develop advanced and innovative products, processes and manufacturing capabilities;

* Offer leading technology and innovation in visibility, vehicle control and stability 1o help vehicle makers meet safety and performance specifications critical
for customer satisfaction;

* Extend the Company's global reach to support its OEM customers, furthering its refationships with leading Asian OEMs and strengthening market share with
U.S. and European OEMs,

* Assess acquisition and investment opportunities that provide product line expansion, technological advancements, geographic positioning, penetration of
emerging markets {(including the "BRIC” markets of Brazil, Russia, India and China) and market share growth;,

* Leverage the strength of the Company’s global aftermarker leading brand positions. product portfolio and range, marketing and selling expertise, and
distribution and logistics capabilities; and

* Aggressively pursue cost competitiveness in all business segments by continuing to drive productivity in existing operations, consolidating and relocating
manufacturing operations to best cost countries, utilizing the Company’s strategic joint ventures and alliances, and rationalizing business resources and
infrastructure.

The Company's strategy is to develop and deliver leading technology and innovation which results in market share expansion in the OF and aftermarket
replacement markets. The Company assesses individual opporunities to execute its strategy based upon estimated sales and margin growth, cost reduction
potential, internal investment returns, and other criteria, and makes investment decisions on a case-by-case basis. Opportunities meeting or exceeding benchmark
return criteria may be undertaken through research and developmenit activities, acquisitions, joint ventures and other strategic alliances, or restructuring activities
as further discussed below.

Research and Development. The Company maintains technical centers throughout the world designed to:
+ provide solutions for customers and bring new, innovative products to market;

* integrate the Company’s leading technologies into advanced products and processes;

* provide engineering support for all of the Company's manufacturing sites; and

» provide technological expertise in engineering and design development.

Federal-Mogul’s research and development activities are conducted at the Company’s research and development locations. Within the United States, these
centers are located in Plymouth, Michigan; Skokie, [llinois; Ann Arbor, Michigan: Exton, Pennsylvania; and Toledo, Ohio. Internationally, the Company's
research and development centers are located in Burscheid, Germany; Nuremberg, Germany, Wiesbaden, Germany; Bad Camberg, Germany, Chapel, United
Kingdom; Crepy, France; and Yokohama, Japan. The Company’s newest technical center in Shanghai, China is expected to open during the second quarter of
2009.

Each of the Company’s business units is engaged in engineering, research and development efforts working closely with customers to develop custom solutions
to meet their needs. Total expenditures for research and development activities, including product engineering and validation costs, were $173 million, $178
million and $162 millien for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As a percentage of OF sales, research and development was 4%
for each of the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Joint Ventures and Other Strategic Alliances. The Company forms joint ventures and strategic alliances to gain share in emerging markets, facilitate the
exchange of technical information and development of new products, extend current product offerings, provide best cost manufacturing operations, and broaden
its customer base. The Company believes that certain of its joint ventures have provided, and will continue to provide, opportunities to expand business
relationships with Asian and other OEMs operating in BRIC growth markets. The Company is
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currently involved in 31 joint ventures located in 12 different countries throughout the world, including China. India, Korea, Russia and Turkey. Of these joint
ventures, the Company maintains a centrolling interest in 17 entities and, accordingly, the financial results of these entities are included i the Conselidated
Financial Statements of the Compuny and its Predecessor. The Company has a non-centrolling interest in 14 of its joint ventures, of which 9 are accounted for
under the equity method and § are accounted for under the cost method. The Company does not hold a controtling interest in an entity based on exposure to
economic risks and potentia! rewards (variable interests) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Further, the Company’s joint ventures are businesses
established and maintained in connection with its operating strategy and are not special purpose entities. :

The Company, os part of its broad strategy to strengthen its position in developing markets, engaged in several investments during 2008, including increasing its
controlling interest in Federal-Mogul Goetze India Limited and obtaining a controlling interest in Federal-Mogul Bearings India Limited.

Net sales for consolidated joint ventures were approximately 6% of consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Company's investment in
non-consolidated joint ventures totaled $221 million as of December 31, 2008, and the equity eamings of such atTiliates approximated $24 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008.

Restructuring Activities. The Company and its Predecessor, as part of the sustainable global profitable growth strategy, has undertaken various restructuring
activities to streamline its operations, consolidate and take advantage of available capacity and resources, and ullimately achieve cost reductions. These
restructuring activities include etforts to integrate and rationalize businesses and 10 relocate manufacturing operations to best cost countries. Such activities have
resulted in the redeployment of human and capital resources to the Company”s core businesses.

An unprecedented downturn in the global automotive industry and global financial markets led the Company to anrounce, in September 2008 and December
2008, certain restructuring actions, herein referred to as “Restructuring 20097, designed to imprave operating performance and respond to increasingly
challenging conditions in the global automotive market. This plan, when combined with other workforce adjustments, is expected to reduce the Company’s
global work force by approximately 8,600 positions. The Company continues ta solidify certain components of this plan, and will announce those components as
plans are finalized. During 2008, the Company has recorded $127 million in restructuring charges associated with Restructuring 2009, and expects to incur
additional restructuring charges up to $37 million through 2010. As the significant majerity of the costs expected to be incurred in relation to Restructuring 2009
are related to severance, such activities are expected to yietd future annual savings at least equal to the costs incurred.

The Predecessor Company announced, in January 2006, a global restructuring plan (“Restructuring 2006™) as part of its sustainable global profitable growth
strategy. From the inception of this program through December 31, 2007, the Predecessor Company incurred expenses of $120 million under this program
associated with the closures of its facilities located in Alpignano, Italy, Upton, United Kingdom; Malden, Missouri; Pontoise, France; Rochdale, United
Kingdom; Slough, United Kingdom: St. Johns, Michigan; St. Louis, Missouri; and Bretten, Germany. The Predecessor Company also transferred production with
high labor content from its facilities in Nuremberg, Germany: Wiesbaden, Germany, and Orleans, France to existing facilities in best cost countries. During 2008,
the Successor Company incurred expenses of §6 million in connection with the Restructuring 2006 program. The Restructuring 2006 program was completed as
of December 31, 2008. Payments associated with this program are expected to continue inte 2009,

The Company’s restructuring activities are further discussed in “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations™ and Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in item 8 of this report.
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The Company's Products

The following provides an overview of products manufactured and distributed by the Company’s reporting segments,

Powertrain Energy. Powertrain Energy products are used in automotive, Jight truck, heavy-duty, industrial, marine, agricultural, power generation and small
air-cooled engine applications. The primary products of this segment include Pistonﬁ, piston rings, pision, pins, cylinder liners, valve seats and guides, and
transmission components. These products are offered under the Federal-Mogul*, AE ", Goetze' and Niiral® brand rames. These products are either sold as
individual products or offered to automotive manufacturers as assembled modules. This modular assembly product otfering adds value to the customer by
simplifying the assembly process, lowering costs and reducing vehicle development time. Powentrain Energy operates 33 manufacturing facilities in 13 countries,
serving a large number of major automotive. heavy-duty and industrial customers worldwide. Powertrain Energy derived 18% of its 2008 OF sales in the United
States and Canada, 69% in Europe, and 13% in the rest of the world (“Rest of World™).

The following provides a description of the various products manufactured by Powertrain Energy:

Product Description
Pistons ‘The main task of the piston is to compress the air and fuel mixture in edvence of ignition. Following combustion,

the piston relays the combustion energy into mechanical energy. In this process, substantial pressures are exerted on
the piston, imposing high demands on it in terms of rigidity and temperature resistance.

Piston Rings The three main tasks of piston rings in intemal combustion engines include: (1) sealing the combustion chamber,
(2} supperting heat transter from the piston to the cylinder wall, and (3) regulating lubrication and oil consumption.

Piston Pins ] Piston pins attach the piston to the end of the connecting rod, allowing the piston to pivot in each cycle of the
engine and following the revolution of the crankshatft,

Cylinder Liners Cylinder liners, or sleeves, work in tandem with the piston and ring, forming the chamber in which the thermal
energy of the combustion process is converted into mechanical energy,

Valve Seats and Guides and Federal-Mogul designs and manufactures a wide variety of powdered metal inserts used in engines, transmissions
Transmission Components and general industrial applications, which are specially designed to meet particular customer requirements.

Powertrain Seoling and Bearings. Federal-Mogul is one of the world’s leading sealing solutions and bearings providers. Comprehensive design capability and
an extensive product portfolio enable effective delivery of complete sealing packages and a full range of bearings, bushings, and thrust washers for enging,
transmigsion and driyeline systems tg a broad yray of custgmers. Federal-Mogul offers a portfolio of world-class brand names, including Federal-Mogul *,
Fel-Pro”, FP Diesel , Glyco , Deva , National and Payen . The group serves a number of different industries including automotive, truck, commercial

equipment (construction, agricultural, power generation, marine and rail), industrial, recreation and consumer power equipment. Product offerings include
dynamic seals, bonded piston seals, combustion and exhaust gaskets. static gaskets and seals, rigid heat shields, engine bearings. industrial bearings, and
bushings and washers, During 2007, the Company also introduced a line of lead-free bearings for automotive engines, designed to enable automakers to meet
increasingly stringent legislation prohibiting the use of lead in automobiles destined for sale in certain markets. Powertrain Sealing and Bearings operates 29

manufacturing facilities in 12 countries. Powertrain Sealing and Bearings derived 33% of its 2008 OE sales in the United States and Canada, 55% in Europe, and
12% in Rest of World.
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The following provides a description of the varivus products manutactured by Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

Product

Dynamic Seals

Ronded Piston Seals
Combustion and Exhaust
Gaskets

Static Gaskets and Seals

Rigid Heat Shields

Engine Bearings

Industrial Bearings

Bushings and Washers

Vehicle Safety and Protection . Federal-Mogul supplies friction an
Both the [riction and the systems protection products are used
consumer products markets. The primary products of this segment i

Description

Dynamic scals are used between a housing or body structure and rotaling or moving shafls to contain lubricants,
fluids and pressure inside the housing, while keeping out dust and other contaminates, There are numerous areas of
application including engine crankshatt, transmission driveshaft, pinion and axle, and wheel seals.

Bonded piston seals use hydraulic pressure in transmissions to facilitate gearshift. These products are used in
automatic, dual clutch transmissions and continuously variable transmissions.

Combustion and exhaust gaskets are used between two surfaces to contain gas and pressure produced from
combustion, These paskets are primarily used on internal combustion engine applications including cylinder head,
exhaust manifold, exhaust takedown, exhaust gas recirculation and turbocharger gaskets,

Static gaskets and seals create a barrier between two surfaces to contain fluids, pressure and gases while keeping
out dust and other contaminants. There are numerous areas of application including engine covers, oil pans, intake
manifolds, transmission covers and differential covers.

Rigid heat shields are designed to provide a heat and sound barrier to emitting components. These products covera
full range of application on a vehicle from engine to tailpipe.

Engine bearings ensure low friction rotation and guidance of the connecting rod and the crankshaft to facilitate the
transmission of full combustion power from the piston. They operate principally under hydrodynumic lubrication
conditions.

Bronze bearings are used in highly toaded compression engines (diesel or gasoline turbocharged). A full range of
lead free solutions has been successfully developed. These products cover a complete range of electroplated and
Sputter coated bearings. These extremely high performance materials support the down sizing of the engines and
consequent CO, reduction.

Aluminum engine bearings are lead free and are primanly used in naturally aspirated gasoline engines. These
materials have exceptionally good sliding properties when combined with cast iron crankshafts.

Sold under the Glycodur® and Deva® brands, industrial bearings are primarily dedicated to applications operating in
mixed or low lubrication conditions. Applications are mainly diverse industrial motors or converters and include
wind turbines and hydroelectric power generation.

Bushings and washers are used in engines and transmissions to ensure low friction rotation or oscittation of shafts.
They are made of bronze, aluminum or polymet material.

sleeving products, and flexible heat shields. Federal-Mogul offers a portfolio of world-class brand names,
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tncluding Fede aI-Mogul'. Abex". Beral®, Ferodo®, Thermo Quiet™ and Wagner ™. Systems protection products are marketed under the brand pame
Bentley-Harris . Federal-Mogul! supplies friction products to all major customers in the light vehicle, commercial vehicle, aerospace and railway sectors and is
also a leading company in the attermarket. Vehicle Safety and Protection operates |8 manufacturing facilities in 13 countries, and derived 22% of its 2008 OE
sales in the United States and Canada, 67% in Europe, and 11% in Rest of World.

The following provides a description of the varieus products manufactured by Vehicle Safety and Protection:

Product Description ‘
Light Vehicle Disc Pads A light vehicle disc pad assembly consists of:

+ friction material, which dissipates forward momentum by converting energy into heat;

= undertayer, which is a layer of different friction material placed between the backplate and friction material 10
improve strength, provide a thermal barrier, corresion resistance, noise performance or a combination of these
characteristics;

= backplate, to support and locate the friction material in the caliper; and

+ shim, which is a rubber/metal laminate developed to suppress noise.

Commercial Vehicle Disc Commercial vehicle disc brake pads are a growing segment of the friction market, superseding drum brakes on

Pads trucks, busses, tractor units and trailers. The basic construction of o commercial vehicle disc pad is the same as a
light vehicle disc pad.

Railway Disc Pads Railway disc pads are produced in single pad or paired pad format. Federal-Mogul produces sintered metal pads for
heavy duty applications,

Light Vehicle Drum Brake Drum brake linings are friction material affixed to a brake shoe and fitted on the rear service brake, rear parking

Linings brake and/or transmission brake application.

Commercial Vehicle Full Full length linings are the commercial vehicle equivalent of light vehicle drum brake linings.

Length Linings

Commercial Vehicle Half Half blocks are segments of friction material made to be riveted onto drum brake shoes. They are used on heavier

Blocks vehicle applications where discs are not used.

Railway Brake Blocks Railway brake blocks work by acting on the circumference of the wheel. They are lighter and quieter in operation

than cast iron blocks. However, friction performance is designed to replicate that of cast iron blocks.

Element Resistant Sleeving Element resistant sleeving preducts provide under-hood and under-car protection of wires, hoses, sensors, and
mechanical components and assemblies from heat, ¢lectro-magnetic interference, dirt, vibration and moisture.

Element resistant sleeving products inchude:

* automotive wire harnesses and hoses;

+ abrasion protection and wire management of cable assemblies;
* dielectric protection of electrical leads:

+ thermal and mechanical protection of hose assemblies; and

* acoustic insutating and sound-dampening materials.

Flexible Heat Shields Flexible heat shields are designed to provide heat barrier and thermal management.
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“Automotive Products. Automotive Produets includes manufacturing operations for brake system components, chassis products, windshield wipers, fuel pumps,
ignition and lighting products. These products are used in autemotive, light truck, industrial, marine, motorcy<le, power generation and small air-cooled engine
markets. These products are marketed under various leading brand names, including Federal-Mogul®, ANCOW, Champion®, FerodoB, MOOG®. National®
and Wagner®. The group serves a number of different industries, including automotive, industrial, motor-sport and commercial equipment for both the OEM and
the replacement parts markets. Automotive Products operates 25 manufacturing facilities in 10 countries, serving a diverse base of distributors and retail
custormers around the world, Aatomotive Products derived 46% of its 2008 OF sates in the United States and Canada, 27% in Europe, and 27% in Rest of World.

The following provides a deseription of the various products manutactured by Automotive Praducts:

Product Description

Brake Brake system components include rotors, drums and hydraulic wheel eylinders, master cylinders, brake lines, brake hoses, slave cylinders, slave
masters and calipers. These parts, along with friction components, dre essential 1o the vehicle braking system and promote safe stopping.

Chassis Chassis parts include ball joints, tie rod ends, sway bar links, idler arms, and pitman arms. These components affect vehicle steering and vehicle
ride quality,

Wipers Windshield wiper parts include conventional and profile style wiper blades. blade refills and wiper arms. These parts are designed to provide all

types of drivers with necessary visibility.
Fuel Pumps  Components in the fue] delivery system include mechanical fuel pumps, electric pump sets and modular design applications.
Ignition Tgnition products include spark plugs, glow plugs, ignition coils, wire sets, battery cables and accessories.

Lighting Automotive lighting products include power and lighting systems, and interior and exterior lighting cernponents.

Global Aftermarket. Global Aftermarket sells products manufactured within the above reporting segments and purchased from outside suppliers to the
independent autometive, heavy-duty and commercial/industrial replacement markets. Through global market insight, supply chain expertise and world-wide
brand and product line management, afermarket customers worldwide benefit from the Company’s extensive OE technology and manufacturing expertise.
Federal-Mogul markets a broad portfolio of leading brands that are designed to salve a problem, facilitate installation and improve safety, durability and vehicle
performance. This portfolio is organized into product categories that provide comprehensive vehicle solutions. Global Aftermarket operates 20 distribution
facilities in 13 countries, secving a diverse base of distributars, retail parts stores and mass merchants around the wortd. Global Attermarket derived 64% of its
2008 sales in the United States and Canada, 22% in Europe, and 14% in Rest of World.
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The tollowing provides a description of the various products and “sofutions™ along with the brands distributed by Global Aftermarket:

Category Product Lines
Engine Selutions Engine Pars
Fuel Delivery Products

Sealing Solutions Gaskets
Secals

Steering Solutions Chassis
Driveline
Hub Assemblies

Braking Selutions Disc Pads
Hydraulic Parts
Linings
Rotors

Service Solutions Filters
Lighting
Spark/Glow Plugs
Wipers

Brand Names
AE®R; Carter®; FP Diesel®; Glyco¥; Goetzed; Nural®; Sealed
Power®
FEL-PRO®; Goetze®: National®; Payen®

MQOOG®; National®, Precision®

Abex®: Beral®, Ferodo®: Necto®, Thermo Quiet®; Wagner®

ANCOR; Champion®; Power MAX B, Wagner®

Reporting Segment Financial Information. Approximately 62% of the Company's 2008 net sales are to the OE market and approximately 38% are to the
aftermarket. The following tables summarize net sales, gross margin and total assets for each reporting segment. For additional information related to the
Company’s reporting segments, refer to Note 22 to the Consalidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 of this report,

Net sales by reporting segment were:

Powertrain Energy : ‘ -
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings

Vehicle Safety and Protection

Autemotive Products

Global Aftermarket -

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2008

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2048 2007 2006

{Millions of Dollars)
$ 2,085 $ 2,054 $ 1,805

1,048 1,054 956
77 793 724
379 334 288

2637 2,679 2,553
$ 6866 $ 6914 $ 6,326




Gross margin by reporting segment was:

Successer Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 007 2006
(Millions of Dellars)

Powertrain Energy $ 269 § 258 $ 267
Powenirain Sealing and Bearings 63 53 79
Vehicle Safety and Protection 172 193 170
Automotive Products 81 73 51
Global ARermarket 530 611 - 610
Corporate 9 {3 {7

$ 1124 $ 1,185 $ 1105

Total assets by reporting scgment were as listed in the table below. Included in total assets as of December 31, 2007 were estimated values, primarily for fixed
assels, intangible assets and deferred taxes, associated with the application of fresh-start reporting. The finalization of fresh-start reporting resulted in subsequent
changes to these estimates.

Successar
December 31

2003 2007

. {Millions of Dollars)
Powertrain Energy ’ : $ 1512 $1.320
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings 816 822
Vehicle Safety and Protection : 1,077 1,708
Automotive Products : 785 1,022
Global Aftermarket. ) 2,007 1,988
Corporate 1,039 506

$ 7236° 5 7866

|

The Company’s [ndustry

The automotive vehicle market sector and industrial, energy and transport market sector are comprised of two primary markets: the OE and OES market
{collectively referred to as the “OE™ market) in which the Company’s products are used in the manufacture of new products and for manufacturer service
replacement parts, and the aftermarket in which the Company’s products are used as replacement parts for current production and previous models through the
independent aftermarket or other service distribution channels.

The OE Market. Demand for automaotive parts in the OE market is generally a function of the number of new vehicles produced, which is driven by
macro-economic factats such as interest rates, fuel prices, consumer confidence, employment trends, regulatory requirements and trade agreements. Although OE
demand is tied to planned vehicle production, parts suppliers also have the opportunity to grow through increasing their product content per vehicle, by
increasing market share with existing customers, and by expanding into new or emerging markets, Companies with a global presence, leading technology and

innovation, and advanced product enginecring, manufacturing and customer support capabilities are best positioned to take advantage of these opportunities.
There are currently several significant trends that are impacting the OE market, including the following:

- Reduced Global Production — During the second half of 2008, an unprecedented downturm in the global automotive industry caused the OEMs to significantly
reduce their global light vehicle production schedules and output, including the forecast production volumes for 2009. In total, the number of light vehicles
produced during 2008 was 16.4 miltion in the Americas, 22.4 million in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA™), and 27.2 million in Asia, compared
10 2007 light vehicle preduction of 18.5 million, 24.0 million and 27.2
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million in the Americas, EMEA, and Asia, respectively. With global OE production deereasing at a significant pace, the demand for parts, including products
produced by the Company. has decreased during the second half of 2008 and is expected. during 2009. 10 continue to fall below 2008 levels.

Automotive Supply Consulidation — Conselidation within the automotive supply base is expected 1o conlinue as the entire industry evolves and as the industry
responds to the global reduction in production volumes. Suppliers will seek opportunities (o achieve synergies in their operations thfough conselidation, while
striving 10 aequire complementary businesses to improve global competitiveness or to strategically enhance a product oftering to global customers.

Globalization of Autometive [ndustry — OEMs are increasingly designing global platforms where the basic design of the vehicle is performed in one location,
but the vehicle is produced und sold in numerous geographic markets to realize significant economies of seale by limiting variations across product designs
and geographic regions. While developed markets in North America and Europe continue to remain important to OEMs, increased focus is being placed upen
expanded design. development and production within emerging markets for growth opportuntties, especially in the BRIC markets of Brazil, Russia, India and
China. As a result, suppliers must be prepared to provide product and technical resources in support of their customers within these emerging markets.
Furthermore, OEMs are moving their operations to best cost geographies outside the U.S. and western Buropean markets and, accordingly, OEMs ure
increasingly requiring suppliers to provide parts on a global basis. Finally, the Asian OEMs continue to expand their reach and market share in relation to
traditional domestic manufacturers. As this trend is expected to continue into the foreseeable future, suppliers must be geographically and technically
positioned to meet the needs of the Asian OEMs.

: ISt Alterpativ D — Increased fuel economy and decreased vehicle emissions are of great
importance to OEMs as legislators and customers continue 10 demand more etficient and cleaner operaling vehicles, Increasingly stringent fuel economy
standards and environmental regulations are driving OEMs to tocus on new technologies including downsized, higher output and turbocharged gasoline
engines, diesel and turbocharged diesel, bio-mass and hybrid diesel applications and hybrid, electric and alternative encrgy engines. As a result, the number of
Powertrain configurations will increase in response to the proliferation of commercially available energy sources. Suppliers offering solutions to QEMs
related to numerous vehicle fuel and powertrain configurations possess a distinet competitive advantage, which is driving accelerated new product
development cycles.

Eocus on Yehicle Satety ~ Vehicle safety continues to receive industry attention by OEMs as customers and tegislators view safety as a fundamental driver in
consumer purchasing decisions. Accordingly, OEMs are secking suppliers with new technologies, capabilities and products that have the ability to advance
vehicle safety. Suppliers that are able to enhance vehicle safety through innovative products and technologies have a distinct competitive advantage.

Bricing Pressures — OEMs provide extensive pricing incentives and financing alternatives to consumers in order to generate sales of new vehicles and retain or
gain market share. These actions have placed pressures on the OEMSs” profits and, in turn, the OEMSs expect certain recovery from their supply base. In order
1o retain current business as well as to be competitively positioned for future new business opportunities, suppliers must continually identify and implement
product innovation and cost reduction activitics to fund annual price concessions to their customers.

W i jons — In recent periods, there have been significant fluctuations in global prices of aluminum, copper, lead, nickel, platinum,
resins and steel. To the extent that cost increases are not passed on to customers, suppliers must continue to identify leading design and innovative
technological solutions and material substitution options in order to retain a competitive advantage.

kets — In the power generation and industrial equipment market, custemers continue to develop alternatives to historic
infrastructure, This includes high efficiency wind turbines, power generators and other power conversion devices, Suppliers with the capability to utilize
automotive expertise to service other related markets have a competitive advantage.
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The Aftermarket Business. CGilobal Aflermarket products for current production and previous models are sold directly 1o a wide range of distributors. retail pars
stores and mass merchamts who distribute these products to professional service providers and “do-il-yoursell” consumers, Demand for aftermarket products is
driven by the duration of OE pants, the number of vehicles in operation. the average age of the vehicle teet, and vehicle usage (measured by miles driven).
Although the number of vehicles en the road and different models available continue to increase, the aftermarket has experienced sofiness due to increases in
average uselul lives of automotive pans resulting from continued technological advancements and resulting improvements in durability.

Some of the significant trends, buth positive and negative, that are impucting the attermarket business include the following:

»  Ratg of Global OEM ction — Until recently global OEM output has outpaced the volume of old vehicles taken out of service year over year. The current
drop in GEM production has reversed this trend thereby extending the average age of vehicles on the road. Should the average age of the vehicle feet
continue to rise over the long term, this increase in vehicles requiring maintenanee and repair will increase the demand for aftermarket replacement parts.

+  Size of the Degler Netwurk — As a result of the drop in OEM vehicle production and the cument economic downturn there is a contraction of the dealer
network, particularly in North America, and therefore a reduction in the availability of dealers offering post-warranty repair work. This should increase the
demand for replucement parts through the independent aftermarket.

« Changes in Consumer Behavier — The altermarket is impacted by changes in economic conditions, volatility in fuel prices, and expanding focus on
environmental and energy conservation. For example, the number of consumers with the ability to purchase new vehicles has been reduced due to adverse
economic conditions and this may increase demand for repairs in order to keep older vehicles road-worthy. In relation to fuel prices, rising fuel prices cause
consumers 10 drive less or defer vehicle repairs, whereas falling fuel prices free up residual income tor consumers to make vehicle repairs.

Extende iv ot Life ar Wi ies — The average useful lives of automotive parts. both OF and aftermarket, have been steadily
increasing due to innovations in product technology and manufocturing. Longer product lives and improved durability allow vehicle owners to replace parts
on their vehicles less frequently.

«  Globalization of Automotive Industey — OEMs are increasingly focused on emerging markets for growth. This increased OEM focus on emerging geographic
regions will ultimately drive the reed for replacement pans for vehicles produced and in service, which the Company believes provides longer-term growth
opportunities for its aftermarket business in these regions.

+  Vehicle Complexity — Today’s vehicles are more complex in design, features, and integration of mechanical and electrical products. Ever increasing
complexity adversely impacts the demand for replacement parts through the traditional independent afiermarket, as vehicle owners are less capable of
performing repairs on their own vehicles. Similarly, independent repair shops must increasingly invest capital in diagnostic equipment und technician training
to service newer vehicles.

The Company’s Customers

The Company supplies OEMs with & wide variety of technologically innovative parts, essentially all of which are manufactured by the Company. The
Company's OE customers consist of automotive and heavy-duty vehicte manufacturers as well as agricultural, off-highway, marine, railroad, aerospace, high
performance and industrial application manufacturers, The Company has well-established relationships with substantially all major American, European and
Asian automotive OEMs.
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Federal-Mogul's aftermarket customers include independent warehouse distributors whe redistribute products to local parts suppliers. distributors of heavy-duty
vehicular parts, engine rebuilders. retail parts stores and mass merchants. The breadth of Federat-Mogul's product lines, the strength of its leading brand names,
marketing expertise. sizable sales force, and its distribution and logistics capability, ure central 10 the Company s Global Afiermarket operations.

No individual customer accounted for more than 6% of the Company s sales during 2008.

The Company’s Competition

The global v ehicular parts business is highly competitive. The Company competes with many independent manufacturers and distributors of component parts
globally. In general, competition for sales is based on price, preduct quality, technology, delivery, customer service and the breadth of products offered by a
given supplicr. The Company is meeting these competitive challenges by developing world-class technologies, efliciently integrating its manufacturing and
distribution operations, expanding its product coverage within its core businesses, restructuring its operations and transferring production to best cost countries,
and utilizing its worldwide technical centers to develop and previde value-added solutions to its customers, A summary of the Company's primary independent
competitors by reporting segiment is set forth below.

* Powedrain Engrgy — Primary competitors include Alsin, Ant Metal, Bleistahl, GKN, Kolbenschmidt, Mahle, NPR, Riken, STI and Sumitema.
* Poweprain S¢aling and Bearings — Primary competitors inclede Daido, Dana/Reinz, Etring Klinger, Freudenberg, Kolbenschmidt, Mahle, Miba and NOK.

*  Vehicle Safety and Protection — Primary competitors include Akebono, Galfer. Honeywell and TMD.
= Automotive Products — Primary competitors include AfTinia, Bosch, Delphi, Honeywell, NGK, Trico, UCl and Valeo.
= Global Aftermarket — Primary competitors include Affinia, Bosch, Contitech, Delphi, Denso, Honeywell, Mahle, TMD, Trico, TRW and Valeo.

The Company's Backlog

For OEM customers. the Company generally receives purchase orders for specific products supplied for particutar vehicles. These supply relationships typically
extend over the life of the related vehicle, subject to interim design and technical specification revisians, and do not require the customer to purchase a minimum
quantity. In addition to customary commercial terms and conditions, purchase orders generally provide for annual price reductions based upon expected
productivity improvements and other tactors. Customers typically retain the right to terminate purchase orders, but the Company generally cannot terminate
purchase orders. OEM order fulfillment is typically manufactured tn response to customer purchase order releases, and the Company ships directly trom a
manufacturing location to the customer for use in vehicte production and assembly. Accordingly, the Company's manufacturing locations do not typically
maintain significant finished goods inventory, but rather produce from on-hand row materials and work-in-process inventory within relatively short
manutacturing cycles. A significant risk to the Company is lower than expected vehicle production by one or more of its OEM customers or termination of the
business based upon perceived or actual shortfalls in delivery, quality or value,

For its Global ARermarket customers, the Company generally establishes product line arrangements that encompass all parts offered within a particular product
line. These are typically open-ended arrangements that are subject to termination by either the Company or the customer at any time. Pricing is market responsive
and subject to adjustment based upon competitive pressures and other commercial factors. Global ARermarket order fulfillment is largely performed from
finished goods inventory stocked in the Company’'s worldwide distribution network. Inventory stocking levels in the Company’s distribution centers are
established based upon historical and anticipated future customer demand.
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Although customer programs typically extend to future periods, and although there is an expectation that the Company will supply certain levels of OE
production and aflermarket shipments over such periods. the Company believes that owstanding purchase orders and product line arrangements do not constitute
firm orders. Firm orders are limited to specitic and suthorized customer purchase order releases placed with its manufacturing and distribution centers for actual
production and order tulfillment. Finn orders are typically fulfilled as promptly as possible after receipt from the conversion of available raw materials and
work-in-process inventory for OFEM orders and Irom current on-hand finished goods inventory for aftermarket orders. The dollar amount of such purchase order
releases on hand and not processed at any puint in time is not believed 1o be signiticant based upon the timeframe involved.

The Company’s Raw Materials and Suppliers

The Company purchases various raw materials and component parts for use in its manufacturing processes, including lerrous and non-ferrous metals, synthetic
and natoral rubber, graphite, tibers, stampings, castings and forgings. The Company also purchases parts manulactured by other manufacturers for sale in the
aftermarket. The Company has not experienced any significant shortages of raw materials, componcnts or finished parts and normally does not carry inventories
of raw materials or finished parts in excess of those reasonably required to meet its production and shipping schedules. For business and efficiency purposes, the
Company has established single sourcing relationships with some of its suppliers. However, based upon market conditions and readily available alternative
supply sources, the Company believes it could readily replace any single supply svurce without a material disruption to its business. In 2008, no outside supplier
of the Company provided products that accounted for more than 1% of the Company s net sales.

The Company experienced material price inflation in ferrous and non-ferrous metals, chemical raw materials and energy of approximately $65 million during
2008. The Company partially ofiset this impact through savings on purchased parts, negotiated price reductions, resourcing activities and through contractual
price escalators, Through its global purchasing function. the Company continues to work with its suppliers to reduce its global material costs. Given the recent
downturn in global industrial output, the Company expects that material costs will generally decline from levels seen in 2008.

fcahn Sourcing LLC

lcahn Sourcing LLC (*lcshn Sourcing™) is an entity formed and controlled by Carl C. feahn, the Chairman of the Company's Board, in order to leverage the
potential buying power of a group of entities with which Mr. [cahn either owns or otherwise has a relationship in negotiating with a wide range of suppliers of
goods, services, and tangible and intangible property. The Company is a member of the buying group and, as such, is afforded the opportunity to purchase goods,
services and property from vendors with whom lcahn Sourcing has negotiated rates and terms. lcahn Sourcing does not guarantee that the Company will
purchase any goods, services or property [tom any such vendors, and the Company is under no obligation to do so. The Company does not pay leahn Sourcing
any fees or other amounts with respect to the buying group arangement and [cahn Sourcing neither sells to nor buys from any member of the buying group. The
Company has purchased a variety of goods and services as a member of the buying group at prices and on terms that it believes are more favorable than those
which would be achieved on a stand-alone basis,

Seasonality of the Company's Business

The Company's business is moderately seasonal because many North American customers typicatly close assembly plants for two weeks in July for model year
changeovers, and for an additional week during the December hotiday season. Customers in Europe historically shut down vehicte production during portions of
July and August and one week in December. Shut-down periods in the Asia Pacific region generally vary by country. The aftermarket experiences seasonal

fluctuations in sates due to demands caused by weather patterns. Historically, the Company's sales and operating profits have been the strongest in the second
quarter. For additional information, refer to the Company’s quarterly financial results contained in Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in
{tem § of this report.
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The Company's Employee Relations

The Company had approximately 43,400 employees as of December 31, 2008.

Various uniens represent approximately 36% of the Company's U.S. hourly employees and approximately 70% of the Company's non-1}.5. hourly employees,
With the exception of two faedities in the U.S., most of the Companys unioruzed manufacturing faciltties have their own contracts with their own expiration
dates and, as a result, no contract expiration date atfects more than one facility.

An unprecedented downturn in the global automotive industry and global financial markets led the Company to announce, in September 2008 and December
2008, certain restructuring actions, herein referred to as “Restructuring 2009”, designed to unprove operating performance and respond 1o increasingly
challenging conditions in the global automotive market, This plan, when combined with other workforce adjustments, is expected to reduce the Company's
global worktorce by approximately 8,600 positions. [n January 2006, the Predecessor Company commenced a restructuring plan that included a significant
reduction in the Company's workforee. The mujority of this reduction was achieved through plant closures during 2006 and 2007. The Company has worked and
will continue 1o work with global customers, local works councils, unions, management. and employees at those locations affected by the restructuring program
to maintain productive employee retations and minimize any Jdisruptions resulting from these restructuring programs.

Impact of Environmental Regulations on the Company

The Company’s operations, consistent with those of the manufacturing secter in general, are subject to numerous existing and proposed laws and governmental
regulations designed to protect the environment, panticularly regarding plant wastes and emissions and selid waste disposal. Capital expenditures for property,
plant and equipment for environmental control activities did ret have a material impact on the Company’s fimancial position or cash flows in 2008 and are not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or cash flows in 2009,

The Company's Intellectual Property

The Company holds in excess of 4,600 patents and patent applications on a worldwide basis, of which 900 have been filed in the United States. Of the
approximately 4.600 patents and patent applications, approximately 30% are in production use and/ar are licensed to third parties, and the remaining 70% are
being considered for future production use or provide a strategic technological benefit to the Company.

The Company does not materinlly rely on any single patent, nor will the expiration of any single patent materially atfect the Company’s business. The
Company’s cument patents expire over various periods into the year 2033. The Company is actively introducing and patenting new technology to replace
formerly patented technology before the expiration of the existing patents. In the aggregate, the Company’s worldwide patent portfolio is materially important to
its business because it enables the Company to achieve technological differentiation from its competitors.

The Company alse maintains more than 6,000 active trademark registrations and applications worldwide. In excess of 90% of these trademark registrations and
applications are in commercial use by the Company or are licensed to third parties.

Interests Held by an Entity Controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn

An entity indirectly owned and controlled by Mr. lcahn filed a Schedule 13D and amendments therein with the Securities and Exchange Commission indicating
that such entity has a beneficial interest of approximately 75% of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock as of February 25, 2008, As a result,
Mr. leahn has the indirect ability to nominate and elect all of the directors on the Company’s Board of Directors, other than the Chief Executive Officer, and
other than Neil Subin (through at least December 27, 2009). Under applicable law and the Company’s certificate of incorporation and by-laws, certain actions
cannot be taken without the approval of holders of a majerity of the Company’s voting stock including, without limitation, mergers and the sale of substantially
all
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of the Company s assets and amendments to its certiticate of incorporation and by-laws. So long as Mr. leabn continues to control a majority of the Company's

outstanding capital stock, he will continue to have these governance rights and the ability to control the Company.

The Company's Web Site and Access to Filed Reports

The Company maintains an internet Web site at wwanfederalmogul.conr, The contents of the Company s Web site are not incorporated by reference in this report.

The Company provides access 10 its annual and periodic reponts filed with the SEC and the Company s [mtegrity Policy free of charge through this Web site. The
SEC also maintains a Web site al wiww.SEC gov where these reports and other information about the Company may be obtained. Paper copies of annual and
periodic reports filed with the SEC may be obtained free of charge by contacting the Company's headguarters af the address focated within the SEC Filings or
under fnvestor Relations on the Company’s Web site.

ITEM LA, RISK FACTORS

An investment in Federal-Mogul involves various risks. The risks discussed below are not the only enes taced by the Company. Please alsa rend the cautionary
nute regarding “Forward-Looking Statements™ beginning on page 2.

Adverse conditions in the automotive market adversely affect demand for the Company's products and exposes the Company 1o credit risks of its customers:
The revenues of the Company's operations are closcly tied to global OE automobile sales, production levels, and independent aftermarket parts replacement
activity. The OE market is characterized by short-term volutility, with overall expected long-tem growth in plobal vehicle sales and production. Automotive
production in the local markets served by the Company can be aflected by macro-economic factors such as interest rates, lue! prices, consumer confidence,
employment trends, regulatory and legislative oversight requirements and trode agreements. A vitriation in the level of automobile production would atfect not
only sales 1o OE customers but, depending on the reasons for the change. could impact demand from aftermarket customers. The Company’s results of operations
and financial condition could be adversely atfected if the Company fails to respond in a timely and appropriate manner to changes in the demand for its products.

Relative to the global automotive industry, the financial stability of the United States automoative industry has been deteriorating. About 40 U 5. suppliers filed
for bankruptey in 2008, according ta the Motor & Equipment Manufacturers Association. Several other companies have announced significant restructuring
activities to eliminate excess capacity, reduce costs, and achieve other benefits normally associated with restructuring activitics. The automotive operations of
General Motors, Ford and Chryster have recently experienced significant operating losses, and these automakers are continuing to restructure their operations.
Continued declines in the automotive production levels of Federal-Mogul's major O customers, particularly with respect to platforms tor which Federal-Mogul
is a significant supplier, could materially reduce sales and harm Federal-Mogul's profitability.

Accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company’s customer base includes virtually every significant global
automaotive manufacturer, numerous Tier | automotive suppliers, and a large number of distributors and installers of automotive aftermarket parts.

The financial distress of Federal-Magul's OF customers and within the supply base could significantly affect its operating performance: During 2007 and
2008, General Motors Corporation, Ford Motor Company and Chrysler Corporation continued to lower production levels on several key platforms, due to a
reduction in end-customer demand. In addition, these customers of Federal-Mogul have expericnced declining market shares in North America and are
continuing to restructure their North American operations in an etfort to improve profitability. These U.S. automotive manufacturers are also burdened with
substantial structural costs, such as pension and healtheare costs, that have impacted their profitability and labor relations. Several other global automotive
manufncturers are also expetiencing opernting and profitability issues as well as labor concems. In this environment, it is difficult to forecast future OE customer
production schedules, the potential for labor disputes, or the success or sustainability of any strategies undertaken by any of Federal-Mogul's customers in
response to the current industry environment. Additionally, given the difficult environment in the automotive industry, there is an increased risk of bankruptcies
or
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stmilar events among Federal-Mogul's OF customers. This eavironment may atso put additional pricing pressure on suppliers 1o reduce the cost of products,
which would reduce Federal-Mogul's margins. [n addition, euts in production schedules are also sometimes announced by Federal-Mogul’s OE customers with
little advanee notice, making it difficult for Federal-Mogul to respond with corresponding cost reductions,

Federat-Mogul's supply base has also been adversely affected by industry conditions. Lower production levels for OEMs and increases in certain raw material,
commodity and ¢nergy costs have resulted in severe financtal distress among many companies within the automotive supply base. Several large suppliers have
filed for bankruptcy protection or ceased operations. Unfavorable industry conditions have also resulted n financial distress within Federal-Mogul's supply base
and an increase in commercial disputes and the risk of supply disruption. In addition, the adverse industry environment has required Federal-Mogu! to provide
financial suppon to distressed suppliers or tzke other measures to ensure uninterrupted production. While Federal-Mogul has taken certain_actions to mitigate
these factors, Federal-Mogul has offset only a portion of their overall impact on its operating results. The continuation or worsening of these industry conditions
would adversely affect Federal-hMogut’s profitability. operating results and cash low.

The Company's operations in foreign countries expeses the Company to risks relared to economic and political conditions, currency fluctuations and
import/export restrictions: The Company has manufacturing and distribution facilities in many countrics. International operations are subject to certain risks
including;

. exposure to [ocal economic conditions;

. exposure to local political conditions {including the risk of seizure of assets by foretgn governments),
. currency exchange rate fluctuations and currency controls; and

. export and import restrictions.

‘The likelihood of such occurrences and their potential effect on the Company are unpredictable and vary from country to country.

Certain of the Company’s operating entities report their financial condition and results of operations in currencies other than the U.S, dollar (including, but not
limited to, Brazilian real. British pound. Chinese yuan renminbi, Czech crown, euro, Indian rupee, Japanese yen, Mexican peso, Palish zloty, and Russian ruble).
In reporting its consolidated statements of operations, the Company translates the reported results of these entities into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange
rates. As a result, fluctuations in the dollar against foreign currencies will affect the value at which the results of these entities are included within
Federal-Mogul's consolidated results.

The Company is exposed to a risk of gain or loss from changes in foreign exchange rates whenever the Company. or one of its foreign subsidiaries, enters into a
purchase or sales agreement in a currency other than its functional currency. While the Company reduces such exposure by matching most revenues and costs
within the same currency, changes in exchange rates could impact the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

The Company has substantial indebtedness, which could restrict the Company's business activities and could subject the Company (o significant interest rate
risk: As of December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately $3.0 billion of outstanding indebtedness. The Company is permitted by the terms of its debt
insiruments to incur substantial additiona! indebtedness, subject to the restrictions thetein. The Company s inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy its
debt obligations, or 1o refinance its debt obligations on commercially reasonable terms, would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The Company’s indebtedness could:

*  limit the Company’s ability to borrow money for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements or other corporate purposes;

*  require the Company to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash tlow to payments on indebtedness. which would reduce the amount of cash tlow
available to fund working capital, capital expenditures, preduct development and other corporate requirements;

*  increase the Company's vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions; and

*  limit the Company’s ability to respond to business opportunities.
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A signiticant portion of the Company’s indebtedness acerues interest at variabte rates. To the extent market interest rates rise. the cost of the Company's debt
would increase, adversely atfecting the Company s financial condition, results of operations, and cash tlows.

The Compaeny is subject to possible insolvency of financial counterparties: The Company cngages in numerous financial transactions and contracts including
insurance policies, leters of credit, credit line agreements, financial derivatives {including interest rate swaps), and investment management agreements
involving various counterpartics. The Company is subject to the risk that one or more of these counterparties may beceme insolvent and therefore be unable to
Jdischarge its obligations under such contracls.

The automotive industry is highly competitive and the Company's success depends upon its ubility 1o compete effectively in the market: The Company
opetates in an extremely competitive industry, driven by global vehicle production volumes and part replacement trends. Business is typically awarded to the
supplier offering the most favorable combination of cost. quality, technology and service. In addition, customers continug 10 require periodic price reductions that
require the Company to continually assess, redefine and improve its operations, products and manufacturing capabilities to maintain and improve profitability.
'The Company s management continues to develop and execute initiatives to meet the challenges of the industry and to achieve its strategy: however, there can be
no assurance that the Company will be able to compete effectively in the automotive market.

If the Company loses any of its execufive officers or key employees, the Company'’s operations and abifity to manage the day-to-day uspects of its business
may be materially adversely affected: The Company’s future performance substantially depends on its ability to retain and motivate executive ofticers and key
employees, both individually and as a group. If the Company loses any of its executive ofticers or key employees, which have many years of experience with the
Compuny and within the automotive industry and other manufacturing industries, or are unable 1o recruit qualified personnet, the Company’s ability (o manuge
the day-to-day aspects of its business may be materially adversely affected. The loss of the services of one or more executive officers or key employees, who also
have strong personal ties with customers and suppliers, could have a material adverse etfect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
aperations.

The employment agreement of José Maria Alapont, the Company’s President and Chiel’ Executive Officer since March 1, 2005, expires on March 23, 2010. Ne
assurances can be given that Mr. Alapont’s employment agreement will be renewed, extended or amended or that Mr. Alapont will be retained as President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company upon expiration of his employment agreement. The loss of Mr. Alapont’s services could have a material adverse effect
on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company does not currently maintain “key person™ life insurance.

The price of the Company's common stock is subject to volatility: Various factors could cause the market price of the Company’s common stock to fluctuate
substantially including general financial market changes, changes in governmental regulation, significant autometive industry announcements or developments,
the introduction of new products or technologies by the Company or its competitors, and changes in other conditions or trends in the automotive industry. Other
factors that could cause the Company’s stock price to {luctuate could be actual or anticipated variations in the Company’s or its competitors’ quarterly or armual
financial results, financial results failing 1o meet expectations of analysts or investors, changes in securities analysts' estimates of the Company’s future
performance or of that of the Company's competitors and the general health of the automotive industry.

Me. Carl C. Icahn exerts significant influence over the Company and his interests may conflict with the interest of the Company’s other stockholders:
Mr. Card C. lcahn indirectly controls approximately 75% of the voting power of the Company’s capital stock and, by virtue of such stock ownership, is able to
control or exert substantial influence over the Company, including:

- theelection of directors;

«  business strategy and policies;

. mergers or other business combinations;

= acquisition or dispesition of assets,

»  future issuances of common stock or other securities;

« incurrence of debt or obtaining other sources of financing; and
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+  the payment of dividends on the Company’s common stock.

The existence of a controfling stockholder may have the effect of making it difticull for. or moy discourage or detay, a third party from seeking to acquire a
majonty of the Company’s outstanding common stock, which may adversely affect the market price of the stock.

Mr. Icahn's interests may not always be consistent with the Company s interests or with the interests of the Company''s other stockholders. Mr. Carl C. lcahn and
entities controlled by him may also pursue acquisitions or business opportunitics that may or may not be complementary to the Company's business. To the
extent that conflicts of interest may arise between the Company and Mr. Icahn and his atTiliates, those contlicts may be resolved in a manner adverse to the
Company or its other sharcholders.

The Company's stock price may decline due 10 sales of shares by Mr. Carl C. Icahn: Sales of substantizl amounts of the Company’s common stock, or the
perception that these sales may oceur, may adversely affect the price of the Company’s common stock and impede its ability to raise capital through the issuance
of equity securities in the future, Mr, fcahn is contractually entitled, subject to certain exceptions, to exercise rights under a registration rights agreement to cause
the Company to register his shares under the Securities Act. By exercising his registration rights and selling a large number of shares, Mr, Icahn could cause the
price of the Company's common stock to decline. No other sharcholder has registration righis.

The Company may pursue acquisitions or joint ventures that invelve inherent risks, any of which may couse the Company not to realize anticipated benefits,
und the Company may have difficulty integrating the aperations of any companies that may be acquired, which may adversely affect the Company'’s results
of vperations: [n the past, the Company has grown through acquisitions, and may engage in acquisitions in the future as part of the Company s sustainabte global
profitable growth strategy. The full benefits of these acquisitions, however, require integration of manufacturing, administrative, financial, sales, and marketing
approaches and personnel. If the Company is unable to successfully integrate its acquisitions, it may not realize the benefits of the acquisitions, the financial
results may be negatively affected, or additional cash may be required to integrate such operations.

In the future, the Company may not be able to successfully identify suitable acquisition or joint venture opportunities or complete any particular acquisition,
combination, joint venture or other tramsaction on acceptable terms. The Company’s identification of suitable acquisition candidates and joint venture
opportunities and the integration ot acquired business operations involves risks inherent in assessing the values, strengths, weaknesses, risks and profitability of
these oppurtunities. This includes the etfects on the Company s business, diversion of management’s attention and risks associated with unanticipated problems
or unforeseen liabilities, and may require significant financial resources that would otherwise be used for the ongoing develapment of the Company’s business.

The difficulties of integration may be increased by the necessity of coordinating geographically dispersed organizations, integrating personnel with disparate
business backgrounds and combining difterent corporate cullures. These ditficulties could be further increased to the extent the Company pursues acquisition or
Jjoint venture opportunities internationally. The Company may not be effective in retaining key employees or customers of the combined businesses. The
Company may fece integration issues pertaining to the internal controls and operations functions of the acquired companies and also may not realize cost
efficiencies or synergies that were anticipated when selecting the acquisition candidates, The Company may experience managerial or other conflicts with its
Jjoint venture partners. Any of these items could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.

The Company’s failure 1o identity suitable acquisition or joint venture opportunities may restrict the Company's ability to grow its business. If the Company is
successtul in pursutng future acquisitions or joint ventures, the Company may be required to expend significant funds, incur additional debt and/or issue
additional securities, which may materially adversely affect results of operations. If the Company spends significant funds or incurs additional debt, the
Company’s ability to obtain financing for working capital or other purposes could decline and the Company may be more vulnerable to economic downturns and
competitive pressures. ’

The Company's restructuring activities may not result in the anticipated synergles and cost savings: The Company expects to conlinue (0 incur restructuring
charges and related costs of through 2010 in connection with the Company’s sustainable global profitable growth strategy. [t is possible that such costs could
vary from initially
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projected amounts or that achieving the expected synergies and cost savings will reguire additional costs or charges to eamings in future periods. It is ulso
possible that the expected synergies may not be achieved. Any costs or charges could adversely impact the business, results of operations, liquidity and financial

condition.

Certain disruptions in supply of and changes in the competitive environment for raw materials could adversely affect the Company’s operating margins and
cash flows: The Company purchases a broad range of materials, components and finished parts. The Company also uses a significant amount of energy, both
clectricity and natural gas, in the production of its products. A significant disruption in Ibe supply of these materials, supplies and cnergy or the failure of a
supplier with whom the Company has established a single source supply relationship could decrease praduction and shipping levels, materially increase operating
costs and materially adversely atfect profit margins. Shortages of materials or interruptions in transportation systems, labor strikes, work stoppages, or other
interruptions to or ditficulties in the employment of labor or transportation in the markets where the Company purchases material, components and supplies for
the produstion of products or where the products are produced, distributed or sold. whether as a result of labor strife, war. further acts of terrorism or otherwise,
in cach case may adversely afTect profitability.

In recent periods there have been signilicant Nuctuations in the prices of aluminum, copper, lead, platinum group metals, resins, steel end energy which have had
and may continue to have an unfavorable impact on the Company s business. Any continued fluctuations in the price or availability of energy and materials may
have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial cendition, To address increased costs associated with these market forces, 2 number of
the Company’s suppliers have implemented surcharges on existing fixed price contracts. Without the surcharge. some suppliers claim they will be unable to
provide adequate supply. Competitive and marketing pressures may limit the Compuny’'s ability to pass some of the supply and materiat cost increases on (o the
Company's customers, particularly with domestic vehicle manufacturers, and may prevent the Company from doing so in the future. Furthermwic, the
Company’s customers are generally not obligated to accept price increases that the Company may desire to pass along to them. This inability to pass on price
increases to customers when material prices increase rapidly or to significantly higher than histeric levels could adversely aftect the Company’s operating
imargins and cash flow, possibly resulting in lower eperating income and profitability.

The Company’s hedging activities to address commodity price fliuctuations may not be successfid in offsetting future increases in those costs or may reduce
or eliminate the benefits of any decreases in those costs: In order to mitigate short-term variation in operating resuits due to the aforementioned commadity
price fluctuations, the Company hedges a portion of near-term expesure to certain raw materials used in production processes, primarily natural gas, copper,
nickel. lead, high-grade aluminum and aluminum alloy. The results of the Company’s hedging practice could be positive, neutral or negative in any period
depending on price changes in the hedged exposures.

The Company’s hedging activities are not designed to mitigate long-term commodity price fluctuations and, therefore, will not protect from long-term
commodity price increases. The Company's future hedging positions may not correlate to actual energy or raw materials costs, which would cause acceleration in
the recognition of unrealized gains and losses on hedging positions in operating results.

The Company is subject to a variety of environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and the cost of complying, or the Company's failure to comply
with such requirements may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of vperations: The Company is subject to a varicty
of federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations relating to the release or discharge of materials into the environment. the management, use,
processing, handling, storage, transport or disposal of hazardous waste materials, or otherwise relating to the protection of public and employee health, safety and
the environment, These laws and regulations expose the Company to liability for the environmental condition of its current facilities, and also may expose the
Company to liability for the conduct of others or for the Company s actions that were in compliance with all applicable laws at the time these actiong were taken.
These laws and regulations also may expose the Company to liability for claims of personal injury or property damage related to alleged exposure to hazardous
or toxic materials in foreign countries where such liability has not been resolved through the Company's 524(g) Trust. Despite the Company s intention to be in
comphiance with all such laws and regulations, the Company cannot guarantee that it will at all times be in compliance with all such requirements. The cost of
complying with these requirements may also increase substantially in future years. If the Company violates or fails to comply with these requirements. the
Company could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. These requirements are complex, change frequently and may become more stringent over time,
which could have a material adverse etfect on the Company's business.
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The Company's failure to maintain and comply with environmental permits that the Company is required to maintain could result in lines or penaltics or other
sanclions and have a maieria! adverse effect on the Company's operations or results. Future events, such as new environmental regulations or changes in or
modified interpretations of existing laws and regulations or enforcement policies, rewly discovered information or further investigation or evaluation of the
potential health hazards of products or business activities, may give nise {o additional compliance and other costs that could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial conditions and operations.

The Company is involved from time to time in legal proceedings und commercial or contractual disputes. which could have an adverse impact on the
Company’s profitability und consolidated financial position: The Company is involved in legal proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes that, irom
lime to time, are significant. These are typically claims that arise in the normal course of business including, without limitation, commercial or contraciual
disputes, including disputes with suppliers, intetlectual property matters, personal injury claims, environmental issues, tax matters and employvment matters. No
assurances can be given that such proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s profitability and censoludated financiat
position.

If the Compeny is unable to protect its intellectual property and prevent its improper use by third parties, the Company's ability to compete int the market may
be harmted: Vartous pateni, copyright, trade secret and trademark laws atford only limited protection and may nat prevent the Company’s competitors from
duplicating the Company’s preducts or gaining access o its proprietary infurmation and technology, These means also may not permit the Company to gain or
maintain a competitive advantage,

Any of the Company s patents may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented or rendered unenforceable. The Company cannot guarantee that it will be successful
should one or more of its patents be challenged for any reason. If the Company’s patent claims are rendered invalid or unenforceable, or narrowed in scope, the
patent coverage afforded to the Company's products could be impaired, which could significantly impede the Company's ability to market its products,
negatively altect its competitive position and materially adversely affect its business and resulis of operations.

The Company's pending or future patent applications may not result in an issued patent, Additionally, newly issued patents may not provide meaningtul
protection against competitors or against competitive technologies. The United States federal courts may invalidele the Company’s patents or find them
unenforceable. Competitors may also be able to design around the Company s patents. Other parties may develop and obtain patent protection for more effective
technologies, designs or methods. 1f these developments were to occur, it could have an adverse effect on the Company’s sales, 3 the Company’s inteltectual
property rights are not adequately protected. the Company may not be able to commercialize its technologies. products or services and the Company’s
competitors could commercialize the Company’s technologies, which could result in a decrease in the Company s sales and market share and could materially
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company’s products could infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may lead 1o litigation that could itself be castly, could result in the
payment of substantial damages or royaliies, and could prevent the Company from using technology that is essential to its products: The Company cannot
guaranice that its products, manufacturing processes or other methods do not infringe the pateats or other intellectual property rights of third parties,
Infringement und other intellectual property claims and proceedings brought against the Company, whether successful or not, could result in substantial costs and
harm the Company’s reputation, Such claims and proceedings can also distract and divert management and key personnel trom othet tasks imponant to the
success of its business. In addition, intellectual property litigation or claims could force the Company 10 do one or more of the following:

*  cease selling or using of any products that incorporate the asserted intellectual property, which would adversely affect the Company’s revenue;

»  pay substantial damages for past use of the asserted intellectual property:

*  obtaina license from the holder of the asserted intellectual property, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all; and

*  redesign or rename, in the case of trademark claims, products to avoid infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may not be

possible and could be costly and time-consuming if' it is possible to do.
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in the cvent of an adverse determination in an intellectual property suit or proceeding, or the Company s tailure to license essential technotogy, the Company’s
cales could be harmed and its costs could increase, which could materially adversely aftect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations,

ITEM 1.B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Nuone.

ITEM2. PROPERTIES

Federal-Mogul's world headquarters is located in Southfield, Michigan, which is a leased facility. The Company had 219 manufacturing/technical centers,
distribution and sales and administration office facilities worldwide at December 31, 2008. Approximately 48% of the facilities are leased; the majority of which
are distribution, warchouse, sales and administration otfices. The Company owns the remainder of the facilities.

Narth Rest of
Type of Facility America Furope World Total
Manufacturing/technical centers 47 51 23 121
Distribution centers and warchouses 14 12 30 56
Sales and administration offices 12 10 20 42
73 73 73 219

The facilities range in size from approximately 100 square teet to 1.1 million square feet, Management believes substantially all of the Company's facilitics are
in good condition and that it has sufficient capacity to meet its current and expected manufacturing and distribution needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Legal proceedings are included in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in ltem 8 of this report, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Resolution of Asbestos Liabilities

As described in greater detail in Note 2 to the Consclidated Financial Statements, included in ltem 8 of this report, all asbestos-related personal injury claims
against the Debtors will be addressed by the U.S. Asbestos Trust or the UK. Asbestos Trust in accordance with the terms of the Debtors’ confirmed Plan and the
Company Voluntary Arrangements ("CVAs™}), and such claims will be treated and paid in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the CVAs, and their retated

ducuments. All asbestos property damage claims against the Debtors have been compromised and resolved through the Plan and the CVAs. Accordingly, the

Debtors have not recorded an asbestos liability as of December 31, 2008 or 2007,

Environmental Matters

The Company is a defendant in Jawsuits filed, or the recipient of administrative orders issued, in various jurisdictions pursuant to the Federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 ("CERCLA™) or other similar national, provineial or state environmental laws. These laws
require responsible parties to pay for remediating contamination resulting (rom hazardous substances that were discharged into the environment by them, by priot
owners ar occupants of their property, or by others to whom they sent such substances for treatment or other dispesition. The Company has been notified by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, other national environmental agencies, and various provincial and state agencies that it may be a potentially
responsible party ("PRP™) uader such laws for the cost of remediating hazardous substances pursuant to CERCLA and other national and state or provincial
environmental laws. PRP designation typically requires the funding of site investigalions and subsequent remedial activities.
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Many of the sites that are likely to be the costhiest to remediate are often current or former commercial waste disposal Facilities to which numerous companies
sent wastes. Despite the joint and several liability which might be imposed on the Company under CERCLA and some of the other laws pertaining to these sites,
the Company s share of the total wiste sent 1o these sites has generally been small. The other companies that sent wastes to these sites. often numbering in the
hundreds or more. generally include large. solvent publicly-owned companies and in most such situations the government agencies and courts have imposed
ltability in seme reasonable celationship to contribution of waste, Thus, the Company believes its exposure for tiability at these sites is limited.

The Company has also identified certain other present and former properties at which it may be responsible for cleaning up or addressing environmental
contamination, in some cases as a result of contractual commitments. The Company is actively secking to resolve these actual and potential statutory, regulatory,
and contractual obligations. Although difficult to quantity based on the complexity of the issues, the Company has accrued amounts corresponding (o its best
estimate of the costs associated with such regulatory and contractual obligations on the basis of availuble information from site investigations and best
professional judgment of consultants.

‘Total environmental reserves were $26 million and $30 miltion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, Management believes that such accruals will be
adequate to cover the Company’s estimated lizbility for its exposure in respect to such matters. On the Eifective Date, $26 million in environmental reserves
subject to compromise were settled in accordance with the Plan. In the event that such liabilities were 10 significantly exceed the amounts recorded by the
Company, the Company’s results of operations and financial condition could be materially affected. At December 31, 2008, management estimates that
reasonably possible material additional losses above and beyond management’s best estimate of required remediation costs, as recorded, approximate $69
million.

Other Matters

The Company is involved in vther lega! actions and claims, directly and through its subsidiaries. Management does not believe that the outcomes of these other
aclions or claims are likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, operating results, or cash flows.

ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TOA VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008,
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SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM—EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Jusé Maria Alapont
Age 58

William §. Bowers
Age 56

David A. Bozynski
Age 54

Jusé Maria Alapont has heen president. chief executive officer. and a director of the Company since March 2005, Mr. Alapont
served as chairman of the board-of directors of the Company from June 2005 to December 2007, Mr. Alapont has more than 33
vears of global leadership experience in both vehicle manufacwrers and suppliers, with business and operations responsibilitics in
the Americas, Furope, Middte East & Africa, and Asia Pacific regions. From 2003 1o 2003, Mr. Alapont was the chiet execulive
officer and 3 member of the buard of directors of IVECQ. the commercial vehicle company of the Fiat Group. From 1997 to 2003,
Mr. Alapont served in various key executive positions at Delphi Cerporation, a global autometive supplier. He began at Delphi as
executive director of international operations for Delphi energy and engine management systems. In 1998, he became responsible
for Delphi encrgy and chassis systems intemational operations. In 1999, Mr. Alapont was named a vice president of Delphi
Corporation and president of Delphi Europe, Middle East and Africa, and became a member of the Delphi Strategy Board, the
company’s top policy-making group. In 2003, Mr. Alapont was promoted to president of Delphi’s international operations, nd
vice president of sales and marketing. From 1990 to 1997, Mr. Alapont served in several executive roles and was a member of the
Strategy Board at Valeo, a global automotive supplier. He started at Valeo as managing director of engine cooling systems, Spain.
In 1991, Mr. Alapont was named executive director of Valeo's worldwide heavy-duty engine cooling operations. In 1992, he was
promoted to group vice president of Valeo’s worldwide clutch and transmission components division. He was named group vice
president of the company’s worldwide lighting systems division in 1996. Mr. Alapont began and developed his automotive carcer
from 1974 to 1989 @ Ford Motor Company and, over the course of 15 years. worked in different management and executive
positions wt Ford of Europe. He started in 1974 as an engineer at Ford of Spain, becoming engine laboratory supervisor and later
became engine plant production manager. In 1984, he was appointed manager of powertrain quality at Ford of Furope. He later
became manager of powertrain supplier quulity ussurance in 1987 at Ford of Europe. Mr. Alapont earned degrees in industrial
engineering from the Technical School of Valencia in Spain and in philology from the University of Valencia in Spain.

Mr. Bowers has served as senior vice president, sales and marketing, and a member of the Sirategy Board of the Company since
2006. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Bowers spent nearly 30 years at General Motors Corporation and Delphi Corporation,
most recently as executive director of sales, marketing and planning for the energy and chassis division from 2002-2006,
Previously, he was based in Tokyo, Japan, as the Asia-Pacific regional director for Delphi's energy and chassis systems from
1998-2002. Mr. Bowers worked as commercial and technical director for Delphi Automotive Systems, Singapore, from
1995-1998; and as chief engineer from 1992-1995. Previously he was engineering group manager, divisional program manager,
powertrain systems development engineer, and control systems engineer at General Motors Corporation.

Mr. Bozynski has served as vice president and treasurer of the Company since 1996, Prior to joining the Company in 1996, Mr.
Bozynski had a 21-year carcer with Unisys, where his last appeintment was vice president and assistant treasurer. Previously, he
served as vice president, line of business finance, responsible for the finance function of Unisys’ four commercial lines of
business. Mr. Bozynski also served as vice president, corporate business analysis.
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Jeon Brunal
Age 56

James {Jay) Burkhart
Age St

Gérard Chochoy
Age 55

René L. F. Dalleur
Age 55

Steven K, Gaut
Age 47

Mr. Brunol has served as senior vice president. business and operations strategy, and a member of the Strategy Board of the
Company since 2005. Prior to joining the Company. from January 2004 to April 2005, Mr. Brunol was senior vice president,
product and business strategy, interational operations at IVECQ, the commercial vehicle company of the Fiat Group. Previously,
Mr. Brunol was business partner and executive advisor for private equity funds and independent companies. He also served as
president of wbe operations at Thomson trom 2000-2002, and was chiel executive officer of SAFT ALCATEL Battery & Power
Systems Company from 997 to 2000. Mr. Brunol was produgt director, transmissions: and executive vice president, electronics,
at Valeo between 1992 and 1997. He began his career at Thomson, where he served in several leadership positions from 1981 to
1992. Mr. Brunol afso served at the French National Council for Scientific Research (CNRS) from 1976 to 1931,

Mr. Burkhart has served as senior vice president, Global Aftermarket, and a member of the Strategy Board of the Company since
2007, Previously, he served as vice president of global marketing, Aftermarket Products and Services since 2004. Mr. Burkbart
joined the Company in 1998 with the acquisition of Cooper Automotive and was most recently vice president of global marketing
tor Aftermarket Products & Services. Prior to joining Cooper, fie was vice president of marketing, worldwide, tor Tenneco
Automotive.

Mr. Chochoy has served as sentor vice president, Powertrain Sealing and Bearings and a member of the Strategy Board of the
Company since 2007. He joined the Company as senior vice president, global development in March 2007. Previously, from 2003
to 2007, Mr. Chochoy was executive vice president of the antomotive seating group at Faurecia, based in Paris. From November
2000 to July 2003, he was executive vice president of operations at NEC Computer [nternational, and general manager of the
Packard Bell brand. Mr. Chochoy served 12 years at Valeo, most recently group vice president of wiper systems from February
1995 to October 2000.

Mr. Dalleur has served as senior vice president, Vehicle Safety and Protection of the Company since April 2007. Previously, he
was senior vice president, Vehicle Satety and Performance, from May 2005. He has been a member of the Strategy Board since
May 2005. He served as senior vice president, global friction products, since 2001, and was named vice president of sealing
systetns, ignition and wipers, Europe in 2000. Prior to joining the Company in 1998 with the acquisition of Cooper Industries, Mr.
Dalleur held various positions in engineering, purchasing, and plant and general management in the automotive and acrospace
industries,

Mr. Gaut has served as vice president, corporate communications and government relations, and a member of the Strategy Board
of the Company since April 2008, Prior to joining the Company in April 2008, he was director of communications and marketing
services for the Europe, Middle East and Africa region and global powertrain division for Delphi Corporation, based in Paris,
France. From 2003 to 2008, Mr. Gaut served in roles of increasing responsibility in communications, sales, marketing and
ptanning at Delphi Corporation while based in Europe. Prior to relocating to Europe, he served as corporate director of media
relutions tor Delphi Corporation. Prior to joining Delphi Corporation in 1995, Mr. Gaut served in various communications and
human resources roles at General Motors Corporation,
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Alston German
Age H

Pascal Goachet
Age 58

Alan Haughie
Age 45

Ramzi Hermiz

Age 43

Rainer Jueckstock
Age 49

Mr. German has served as Vice President and Chiet Informatton Officer, and a member of the Strategy Board of the Company
since December 2008, Previously, he was 1S director, global SAP. Mr. German joined the Company in 1994 and has served as
senior information systems consultant, valve train and transmission IS director, business unit 18 director and corporate I8 director,
Asia Pacilic Region. Prior te joining the Company, Mr. German progressed through various positions, including information
technology manager, powertrain division, with a Umted Kingdom-based automotive supplier.

Mr Goachet has served as senior vice president, human resources and organization, and a member of the Strategy Bouard of the
Company since July 2006. Previously, he was named director of human resources, EMEA and Asia-Pacifte in May 2003. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Goachet was 2 staff member of the French Ministry of Labor in 2005, He served as vice president of
corporate human resources, NEC Computers International, a subsuliary of NEC Jupan from 2000 to 2005; and divisional director,
human resources, Group Lafarge, Special Materials Division trom July 1996 to December 2000. In additien, Mr. Geachet has held
various human resources leadership positions at Air France Group in 1996; at Valeo Group from 1990 1o 1995: and at the Matra
Group from 1980 to 1990. Previously. he was a cabinet member of the French Ministry of Justice. In December 2007, the
Government of France appointed Mr. Goachet as a Foreign Trade Advisor of the Republic of France.

Mr. Tiaughie has served as vice president, controller and chief sccounting officer of the Company since 2005. Previously, he
served as director, corporate finance since 2000, and prior to that. worked as controfler in the Company’s aftermarket business
located in Manchester, United Kingdom, from 1999 to 2000. Prior to joining the Company in 1994, Haughie worked for Emnst &
Young in the UK. in various audit roles.

Mr Hermiz has served as senior vice president. Aftermarket Products and Services since April 2007, and 2 member ot the Strategy
Board of the Company since April 2005. Previously, he was senior vice president of sealing systems from 2003 to 2007. Mr.
Hermiz has served as director of purchasing: director, pull systems and inventory; vice president, global supply-chain
management; and vice president of the Company’s European Aftermarket operation. He joined the Company in 1998 with the
acquisition of Fel-Pro, Inc. Prior to joining Fel-Pra in 1990, Mr. Hermiz was manager, purchasing and quality assurance for
Triangle Home Products, a manufacturer of residential lighting and other products. He began his career as a design and product
engineer for Keldu Technologies, a consulting firm serving the heavy-duty construction industry.

Mr. Jueckstock has served as senior vice president, Powertrain Energy, and @ member of the Strategy Board of the Company since
April 2007. Previously, he was senior vice president. global Powertrain operations from 2005 to 2007. Mr. Jueckstock joined the
Company in 1990, and has served as senior vice president, pistons, rings and liners; vice president, rings and liners: operations
director, piston rings, Europe; and mariaging director of the Friedberg, Germany, operation. He also was sales director for rings
and liners, Europe: finance controller in Burscheid, Germany, and finance manager in Dresden. Germany.
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Jetf Kaminski
Ape 47

Robert L., Katz
Age 46

Erte McAlexander
Age 52

Markus Wermers
Age 44

Mr. Kaminski has served as senior vice prestdent and chief financial ofticer since 2008, and a member of the Strategy Board of the
Company since 2005. Previously. he was senior vice president, global purchasing. Prior to that, he was vice president of global
supply-chain management. Mr. Kaminski also was vice president, finance, global powertrain: and served in several finance and
operations pasitions, including finance director, sealing systems; general manager of the Company's Aftermarket subsidiary based
in Austratia; and international controller for the ARermarket group based in Southtield, Michigan. During 2001, he served briefly
as vice president. finance, GDX Automotive. Prior to joining the Company in 1989, Mr. Kaminski was manager of financial
reporting at R.P. Scherer Corporation. He began his career in public accounting at Deloitte and Touche LLP,

Mr. Katz has served as senior vice president and general counsel since May 2007. He was appointed Secretary of the Company in
December 2007, Mr. Katz joined the Company as vice president and general counsel in January 2007 and hecame a member of the
Strategy Board of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Katz was general counsel-EMEA and EMEA regional
compliance officer for Delphi Corporation’s Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) operations, headquartered in Paris, France
since January 1999. From 1996 to 1998, Mr. Katz served as assistant general counsel for General Motors {Europe) AG. at its
European headquarters in Zurich, Switzerland. Mr. Katz was previously an associate at Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy, an
international faw firm, from 1986 to 1993, where he worked in the M&A and General Corporate Group. in both New York, New
York and London, England.

Mr. McAlexander has served as senior vice president, Customer Satisfaction and Global Manufacturing since June 2007, Ile has
been a member of the Strategy Board of the Company since January 2006. Previously. he served as senior vice president, global
manutacturing since January 2006. From 2001 ro 2006, he was vice president, manufacturing global friction products. Mr.
McAlexander joined the Company in October 1998 with the acquisition of Cooper Automotive, at which time he was vice
president of operations, brake and friction, Americas until 2001.

Mr. Wermers has served as senior vice president, global purchasing and a member of the Strategy Board of the Company since
April 2008. From November 2004 to March 2008, Mr. Wermers was vice president, sales and marketing, Europe, Middle East and
Affica region, after having served as vice president, sales and marketing, for the Company’s powertrain business unit. Mr.
Wermers jéined Federal-Mogul in 1991, where he held various positions ef increasing responsibility, including sales director,
Sealing Systems; sales director, pistons, rings and liners; sales director, Ford; and applications engineer and key account manager
in Germany.
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PART N

ITEMS, MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

‘The Predecessor Company s common stock traded on the over-the-counter bulletin board {*OTC™) under the ticker symbol “FDMLQ.0B™ trom April 24, 2002

through December 27, 2007 On December 27, 2007, the effective date of the Plan, ail of the Predecessor Company's previously existing common stock was

caneelled in accordance with the Plan.

Pursuant to the Plan, the Company issued 49.9 mitlion shares of Class A Common Stock (the "New Commen Class A’} to the holders of the Predecessor
Company s pre-bankruptey notes and certain unsecured claims. In addition, 30.1 mitlion shares of Class B Common Stock were issued to the Federal-Mogul U.S.
Ashestos Personal Injury Trust (the “Trust™), The shares of Class B Common Stock were subject to a conversion provision in the Company s restated certiticate
of incorporation. On February 25, 2008, Thornwood Associates Limited Partnership, a limited partnership beneficially owned inditectly by Mr. Cart lcahn,
exercised the two options held by it to purchase all of the shares of Class B Common Stock from the Trust for aggregate consideration of $300 milkion, and the
shares of Class B Common Stock autematically converted into shares of Class A Common Stock. As a result, no shares of Class B Common Stock are currently
outstanding.

Effective July 28, 2008, the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company was amended to eliminate all reference to the Class B Commeon Stock and 1o reclassify
the Class A Common Stock as the sole class of common stock (the “Common Stock™). The Common Steck was listed on the NASDAQ Global Market
(“NASDAQ™) on April 23, 2008 under the ticker symhol "FDML". Prior to the listing of the Common Stock and following the Effective Date of the Plan, the
Class A Common Stock was not listed on 2 national exchange and was traded on the pink sheets under the symbol FEMO-PK.

The table below sets forth, on a per share basis for the periods indicated, the intra-day high and low sales prices for the Predecessor Company s common stock as
reported by the OTC market provided that the fourth quarter 2007 high price reflects the OTC market high bid price through the Effective Date of the Plan on
December 27, 2007, and the fourth quarter 2007 Jow price reflects the cancellation of all interests in the Predecessor Company’s common stock effective on that
date. The OTC bid/ask prices represent prices between dealers and do not include retail markup, markdown or commission, and may not necessarily represent
actual transactions, The data for the period December 27, 2007 through April 23, 2008 is based on the intra-day price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock
while it traded in the pink sheets under the symbol FEMO-PK, The data for the Company’s Commen Stock is as reported by NASDAQ for the period beginning
April 23, 2008.

Successor Predecessor
2008 2007
Quarter Hligh Louw High Low
First $2700 $1800 $08 $045
Second $2120 %1491 5139 $077
Third $17.29 $1194 $LI0 $0350
Fourth $ 1280 $ 312 $094 $000

There were approximately 90 stockholders of record of Common $tock as of February 18, 2009 including multiple beneficial holders at depositories, banks and
brokers listed as a single holder of record in the street name of each respective depository, bank or broker.

For additional information with respect to the Common Stock, refer to Note 19 to Conselidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8 of this report.

The Predecessor Company was prohibited in 2007 and 2006 from paying dividends on its common stock and therefore did not declare any such dividends. The
Company has certain restrictions under its Exit Facilities from paying dividends in the future.

‘The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return during the period from Aprit 23, 2008 to December 31, 2008 of the Company’s Common
Stock to the S&P 500 Stock Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on April 23, 2008, in each of the Company’s Common Stock, the stocks
comprising the 8&P 500
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Index and the stocks comprising the peer group. The peer group is comprised on the following companies: ArvinMeritor: BorgWamer. Dana: Lear, Magna;
Tenneco and TRW. This performance graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Form
L0-K into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates this information by reference,
and shall not otherwise be deemed soliciting material or filed under such Acts.

E

F-M Stock Performancea Chart
$140,00
$120.00
$100.00
$80.00
$60.00
$40.00
$2000
£0.00 S . . ; ..
g 8 8 8 8 8 8 38 38 8 8 8 8 8 8 3 8 B8 g
REEREREEEREEREERERR R
¢ s s ~ F R 8 8§ 583 8 2 8 & ¢ 38
i PR GEOUP e F 0380 B MO e SEP 500
R . C e e e . 4

The Company has not presented data for the periods prior to April 23, 2008 because the Company was under voluntary bankruptey reorganization under Chapter
11 of the Bankruptcy Code prior to the Etfective Date and the Common Stock was not listed on a national exchange from that date until April 23, 2008, The
Company believes the stock pertormance graph for those periods, which would reflect the performance of the Predecessor Company's cancelled common stock,
is not meaningful to the Company’s investors and shareholders.

32

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP. 10-K, February 24, 2009




Jable of Contonts

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The folowing table presemts information from the Consolidated Financial Statements as of or for the five vears ended December 31, 2008, This information
should be read in conjunction with “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ot Operations”™ and “Financial Statements and

Supptemental Data.™

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

Net sales

Costs und expenses

Restructuring charges. net

Adjustment of assets to fair value

Amortization expense

Chapter 11 and U.K. Administration related reorganization expenses, net
Settlement of UK. pension plans

Guin on settlement of Liabilities subject to compromise
Fresh-start reporting adjustments

Giain on involunlary conversion

Other income, net

Income tax (expense) benetit, net

{Loss) income from confinuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net (loss) income

Common Share Summary (Diluted)
Weighted average shares and cquivalents outstanding {in thousands}
{Loss) income per share:
From continuing operations, net of income taxes
From discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net (loss) income per share

Dividends declared per common share

Other Financial Information

Net cash provided from {used by) operating activities
Expenditures for propetty, plant, equipment
Depreciation and amortization expense

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Toral assets

Shon-term debt

Long-term debt

Liabifities subject to compromise
Shareholders’ equity (deficit)

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP. 10-K, February 24, 2009

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006 2008 2004
{Millions of Dallary, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)
s 6,865.6 $ 6,913.9 $ 63264 $ 6,286.0 36,1740
16.672.5) {6,713.7) (6,242.4) (6,222.7) {6,012.00
(132.n (48 1} (66.4) (302} {17.5)
(431.3) (61.3) {45.9) (12L.5) {276.4)
{75.7) {(18.9) {177 (175 {17.2)
(17.1) (80.7) (95.1) (138.2) (99.7)
— — (500.4) -— —_
—_ 760.7 — — —
— 956.3 —_ _ —
12.2 —_ —_ — 46,1
217 409 2719 414 13.2
(18D {331.8) 64.0 (131.5) {136.1)
(467.9) 14123 (549.6) (334.2) (325.5)
— — e — {8.5)
s (467.9) § 14123 5 (549.6) § (3342 § (334.0)
99 665 91,344 89413 89,058 37318
(4.69) 15.46 (6.15}) (3.75) (3.73}
— — — — (0. 10}
$ (469 § 1546 3 (615 $ 3789 8 (383
$ — L) — $ — by — $ —
3 6274 8 M5 $ (4217 % 3184 $ 4655
3198 309.5 2374 190.3 267.5
3495 3537 3289 344.2 335.7
Successor Predecessor
As of December 31
1008 1007 1006 2005 2004
$72356 $78663 $ 71791 $ 7.735.1 $ 82652
1017 117.8 482.1 606.7 309.6
2,768.0 2,517.6 26.7 8.1 10.1
—_ — 58134 59888 6,018.5
951.1 2,123.7 (1.747.9) (2.433.0) (1.925.7)
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCLSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Federal-Mogul Corporation is a leading global supplier of a broad range of components, accessories and systems to the automotive, small engine, heavy-duty,
marine, railroad, agricultural, off-road, acrospace and indusirial, energy and transport markets, including customers in both the eriginal equipment manufcturers
("OEM") market and the replacement market (“ufiermarket™). The Company's customers include the world’s largest automotive OEMs and major distributors
and retailers in the independent aftermarket. During 2008, the Company derived 62% of its sales from the OE market and 38% from the aftermarket.
Geographically, the Company derived 38% of its 2008 sales in the United States and 62% internationally, The Company has operations in established markets
including Canada, France, Germany, {taly, Japan, Spain, the Umted Kingdom and the United States, and emerging markets including Brazil, China, Czech
Republic, Hungary, India, Korea, Mexico, Poland, Russia, Thalund and Furkey. The attendant risks of the Company’s international operations are primarily
related to currency (luctuations, changes in local ecenomic and politicat conditions, and changes in laws and regulations.

The predecessor 1o Federal-Mogul Corporation, {the “Predecessor Company™ or the “Predecessor™) and all of its then-existing wholly-owned United States
subsidiaries (“U.S. Subsidiaries™} liled voluntary petitions on Octeber 1, 2001 for reorganization under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the
“Bankruptcy Code™) with the United Siates Bankruptey Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court™). On October I. 2001, cerain of the
Predecessor Company's United Kingdom subsidiaries (together with the U S, Subsidiaries. the “Debtors™) filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under the
Bankruptey Code with the Bankruptey Court. On November 8, 2007, the Bankruptey Court entered an Order (the “Contirmation Order”) confirming the Fourth
Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization for Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession {as Modifted) {(the “Plan™) and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
regarding the Plan (the “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law™), On November 14, 2007, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware entered
an order affirming the Confirmation Order and adopting the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. On December 27, 2007, the Plan became etfective in
accordance with its terms (the “Effective Date™). On the Elfective Date, the Predecessor Company merged with and into New Federal-Mogul Corporation
whereupon (i) the separate corporate existence of the Predecessor Company ceased, (i1) New Federal-Mogul Corporation became the surviving corporation and
continues to he governed by the laws of the State of Delaware and (iii) New Federal-Mogul Corporation was renamed “Federal-Mogul Corporation™ (also
referred to as “Federal-Mogul™, the “Company”, the “Successor Company™, or the “Successor™).

The Company operates in an extremely competitive industry, driven by global vehicle production volumes and port replacement trends. Business is typically
awarded to the supplier oftering the most favorable combination of cost, quality, technology and service. Customers continue to require periodic cost reductions
that require the Company to continually assess, redefine, and improve its operations, products, and manufacturing capabilitics to maintain and improve
profitability. Management continues to develop and execute initiatives to meet the challenges of the industry and to achieve its strategy for sustainable global
profitable growth, including the following ongoing initiatives:

« Global Organization — Recognizing the ever-increasing globalization of the automotive industry, the Company organized its primary business units on a
global basis — Powertrain Encrgy, Powertrain Sealing and Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Protection, Automotive Products, and Global ARermarket. This
allows each business to take advantage of best practices in product development, technology and innovation, manufacturing capability and capacity.
Furthermore, the Company continues to develop and implement standardized processes and consolidated systems 1o further the direction and performance of
the business.

* Lean Manufacturing and Productivity — Management implemented a series of initiatives targeted at [everaging the Company’s global scale and reducing total
enterprise costs. These initiatives included implementation of standard manufacturing methods across business segments to achieve operational efficiencies
and decrease production costs; implementation of a global purchasing function focused on the reduction of global material costs; headeount reduction
programs to reduce selling, general and administrative costs; and optimized capital expenditure processes to ensure capital funds are directed at the most
strategically appropriate investments with the highest rates of return.
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< Best-Cost Production — The Company has estublished and expanded manufacluring operations in best-cost countries in an effort 10 meet the cost pressures
inherent in the industry and merease profitability, The Company has manufactunng vperations or joint venture alliances in Brazil. China, Czech Republic,
Hungary, India, Korea, Mexico, Poland, Russiz, "Thailand and Turkey.

«  Globyl Disteibution Optimizatjen — The Company continued its ¢fforts to optimize its aftermarket distribution network in order to improve both the efficiency
af uperations and customer order fulfillment and delivery performance. including irutiatives to steeamiine its Amwerican and Luropean aftermarket operations,
and expand its aftermarket vperations in Asia.

« Ciobal Deliverv Performancg — In addition to the distribution network consolidation efforts, the Company upgraded many of its remaining distributton centers
with state-of-the-art warchouse management systems. Furthermore, the Company has rengwed its focus on internal Yogistivs and execution of inventory “pull”™
systems throughout its manufacturing operations and suppliers to ensure prompt and accurate replenishment of its distribution network.

«  Expand Asia Pacific Presence — The Company has invested in manufacturing operations, both wholly-owned and joint venture relationships, in the Asia
Pacific region and maintains two technical centers, one in Yokohuma, Japan and one in Bangalore, [ndia. to suppert the Company’s eiforts in this region, The
Company is currently expanding its Asia presence into a third technical center based in Shanghai, China. The Company intends 1o us¢ these operations and
technical centers 1o strengthen its current. as well as to develop new, customer relationships in this important regien,

+ Custo alug wnology — The Company has significant engineering and tcchnical resources throughout its businesses focused on creating value for
customers with innovative solutions for both product applications and manufacturing processes.

Critical Accounting Policies

The accompanying Consoliduted Financial Statements, included in Item 8 of this report, have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP and, accordingly, the
Company’s accounting policies have been disclosed in Note | 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company considers accounting estimates to be
critical accounting policies when:

+ the estimates involve matters that are highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimate is made; and

« different estimates or changes to estimates could have a material impact on the reported financiai position, changes in financial position, or results of
operalions.

When more than one accounting principle, or the method of its application, is generally accepted, management selects the principle or method that it considers to
be the most appropriate given the specific circumstances. Application of these accounting principles requires the Company’s management to make estimates
about the future resolution of existing uncertainties, Estimates are typically based upon historical experience, current trends, contractual documentation, and other
information, as appropriate, Dug to the inherent uncertainty involving estimates, actual results reported in the tuture may differ from those estimates. [n preparing
these financial statements. management has made its best estimates and judgments of the amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements, giving due
regard to materiality. The following summarizes the Company's critical accounting policies.

Accounting and Reporting During Reorganization

‘The Debtors operated as debtors-in-possession from October !, 2001 to the Effective Date and adopted the provisions of AICPA Statement of Position 90-7
(“SOP 90-7"), Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankrupicy Code, upan commencement of the bankruptey proceedings. The
Predecessuor Company's
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T
Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods from October 1, 2001 through December 31, 2007 have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of
SOP 90-7. Accordingly, all pre-petition liabilities subject to compromise were segregated in the consolidated balance sheet and classified as liabilities subject to
compromise at the estimated amount of allowable claims. Liabilities not subject to compromise were separately classified as current and non-current. Interest was
not aecrued on debt subicet to compromise subseguent to the Petition Date. Reorganization items include the expenses, realized gains and losses, and provisions
for losses resulting from the reorganization under the Bankruptey Code, and such items are reported separately as reorganization items in the Company’s
consolidated stztements of operations.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP. the Company was required to adopt fresh-stant reporting effective upon emergence from bankruptcy on December 27, 2007. The
Company evaluated the 2ctivity between December 27, 2007 and December 31, 2007 and. besed upon the immateriality of such activity, concluded that the use
of an accounting convenience date of December 31, 2007 was appropriate. As such, fresh-stan reporting has been applied as of that date. As a result of fresh-start
reporting, tinancial statements of the Successor Company are not comparable to the financial statements of the Predecessor Company. For further information on
fresh-start reporting, see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in [tem & of this report.

‘The Compuny adopted fresh-start reporting uader the provisions of SOP 90-7 as of December 31, 2007. Accordingly, the Company s reorganization value was
allocated to exisling assets using Lhe measurement guidance provided in SFAS 141, Business Combinations (“SFAS 1417). In addition, Labilities were recorded
at the present value of amounts ¢stimated 1o be paid. Finally, the Predecessor Company s accumulated deficit was eliminated, and the Company 's new debt and
equity were recorded in accordance with the Plan.

Estimates used in determining fair value measurements include, but are not limited to, expected future cash flow assumptions, market rate assumptions for
contractual obligations, actuarial assumptions for benefit plans, settlement plans for litigation and contingencies, and appropriate discount rates, The Company’s
estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but that are inherently uncertain, In addition, estimated liabilities are subject 1o
change as the Company completes the implementation of the Plan.

The adoption of fresh-start reporting has had a material effect on the financial statements. As a result, the consolidated balance sheets at both December 31, 2008
and 2007 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the consulidated financial statements published for perieds following December 31, 2007 are not
comparable with those published before such date. See Notes 2 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item § of this report, for further
discussion of the provisions of SOP 90-7.

Pension Plans and Other Postemployment Benefit Plans

Using appropriate actuarial methods and assumptions, the Company’s defined benefit pension plans are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, and SFAS No. 158, Employers' Acconnting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretivenient Plans. Non-pension postemployment henefits are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 106, Emplovers’ Accounting for
Postretivement Benefits Other Than Pensions; and disability, early retirement and other postemployment benefits are accounted for in accordance with SFAS
No. 112, Employer Accounting for Postemployment Benefits.

Actual results that differ from assumptions used are accumulated and amortized over future periods and, accordingly, generally affect recognized expense and the
recorded obligation in future periods. Theretore, assumptions used to calculate benefit ebligations as of the end ot a fiscal year directly impact the expense o be
recognized in future periods. The primary assumptions aftecting the Company’s accounting for employee benefits under SFAS Nos. 87, 106, 112 and 158 as of
December 31, 2008 are as follows: ’

» long-term rate of return on plan assets: The required use of the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may result in recognized returns that are
greater or less than the actual returns on those plan assets in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-term rate of returm on plan assets is
designed to approximate actual earned tong-term returns, The Company uses long-term historical actual return information, the mix of investments that
comprise plan assets, and future estimates of long-term investment returns by reference to external sources to develop an assumption of the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets, The expected long-term rate of return is used to calculate net periodic pension cost. In determining its pension
obligations, the Company used long-term rates of return on plan assets ranging from 4.0% to 10.0%.
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+  Discount rate: The discount rale is used to calculate future pension and postemployment obligations. Discount rate assumptions used to account for pension
and non-pension pestemployment benefit plans reflect the rates avarlable on high-quality, fixed-incume debt instruments on December 31 of each year. In
determining its pension and other benefit obligations, the Company used discount rates ranging from 5.25% to 8.25%.

+  Health care cost tremd: For postretirement health care plan uccounting, the Compuny reviews external data and Company specific historical trends
for health care costs to Jetermine the health care cost rend rate. The assumed health care cost trend rate used to measure next year's
postemployment health care benefits is 7.5% declining 1o an ulimate trend rate of 5.0% in 2014, The assumed drug cost trend rate used 10
measure next year's postemployment health care benefits is 9.2% declining to un ultimate trend rate of 3.0% in 2014,

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a change in certain assumptions tor projected benefit obligations ("PBO™), associated expense and other
comprehensive luss (“OCL™). The changes in these assumptions have no impact on the Company’s 2009 funding requirements.

Pension Benefits

Lnited States Plons _nternational Plany Qther Benefits
Change Change Change Change
in 2009 Change in in 2009 Change in Change Change
peasion in sccumaulated pension in accumulated in 2009 in
ripense PBO QL crpense PBO OCL expense PBO
{Millions of Dollars)
25 bp decrease in discount rate $ (1.8 $ 207 § (20 3 0.1y $ 81 3 (81 $ (04 & 100
25 bp increase in discount rate L7 (20.7) 20.7 0.1 {1.8) 7.8 0.4 9.5)
25 bp degrease in rate of return on nssets 1.3 — — 0.1 — — — —
25 bp increase in rate of return on assets {1.3) —_— — (0.0 — — - —_

The assumed health care trend rate has a significant impact on the amounts reported for non-pension plans. The following table illustrates the sensitivity 1o a
change in the assumed health care trend rate:

Total Service and

Interest Cost APBO
(Millions of Dollars}
100 bp increase in health care trend rate ] 1.5 § 255
(1.4) (23.9)

100 bp decrease in health care trend rate

Environmental Matters

The Company is a defendant in lawsuits filed, or the recipient of administrative orders issued, in various jurisdictions pursuant to the Federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (*CERCLA™) or other similar national, provincial or state environmental laws. These laws
require responsible parties to pay for remediating contamination resulting from hazardous substances that were discharged into the environment by them, by prior
owners or occupants of their property, or by others to whom they sent such substances for treatment or other disposition, The Company has been notified by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, other national environmental agencies, and various provincial and state agencies that it may be a potentially
responsible party ("PRP™) under such laws for the cost of remediating hazardous substances pursuant to CERCLA and other national and state or provincial
environmental laws. PRP designation typically requires the funding of site investigations and subsequent remedial activities.

The Company has also identified certain other present and former properties at which it may be responsible for cleaning vp or addressing environmental
conlamination, in some cases as a result of contractual commitments, The Company is actively seeking to resolve these actual and potential statutory, regulatory
and contractual abligations. Although difficult to quantify based on the complexity of the issues, the Company has accrued amounts corresponding to its best
estimate of the costs associated with such regulatory and contractual obligations on the basis of available infermation from site investigations and best

professional judgment of consultants.
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On the Eifective Date. $26 million in environmental reserves subject to compromise were setiled in accordance with the Plan. Recorded environmental reserves
were $26 million and $30 million &t December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These accruals are based upon maragement’s best estimates, which requires
management to make assumptions regarding the costs for remediation activities, the extent to which costs may be borne by other lable purties, the financial
viability of such parties, the time periods over which remediation activities will be completed, and other factors. Although management believes its aceruals will
be adequate to cover the Company’s estimated liability for its exposure in respect to such environmental matters, any changes in the underlying assumptions
could materially impact the Company’s future results of operations and financial condition. At December 31, 2008, management estimates that reasonably
possible material additional Josses above and beyond management’s best estimate of required remediation costs as recorded approximates $69 million,

Conditional Asser Retirement Obligations

The Company has acerued conditional asset retirement ebligations ("CARO™) of $27 million as of beth December 31, 2008 and 2007 in accordance with FASB
Financial Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirememt Gbligations — an interpresation of FASB Statement No. 143 (“FIN 477). These
liabilities result primarily trem the obligation to remove hazardous building materials from facilities which the Company expects to close or sell in connection
with its ongoing restructuring ctfors.

In determining whether the estimated fair vatue of CARO can reasonably be estimated in accordance with FIN 47, the Company must determine if the obligation
can be assessed in relation to the acquisitton price of the related asset or if an active market exists to transfer the obligation. [f the obligation cannut be assessed
in connection with an acquisition price and if no market exists for the transter of the obligation, the Company must Jetermine if it has sufficient information upon
which to estimate the obligation using expected present value technigues. This determination requires the Company to estimate the range of setttement dates and
the potential methods of settlement, and then to assign the probabilities to the various potential settternent dates and methods.

In cases other than those included in the $27 million. where probability assessments could not reasonably be made, the Company cannot record and has not
recorded a liability Tor the affected CARO. If new intormation were to become available whereby the Company could make reasonable probability assessments
for these CARO, the amount accrued for CARO could change significantly, which could materially impact the Company’s statement of operations and/or
financial position, Settlements of CARQ in the near-future at amounts other than the Company’s best estimates as of December 31, 2008 also could materially
impact the Company s future results of operations and financial conditton,

Long-Lived Assets

As a result of fresh-start reporting, long-lived assets such as property, plamt and equipment have been stated at estimated replacement cost as of December 31,
2007, unless the expected future use of the assets indicated a lower value was appropriate, Long-lived assets such as definite-lived intangible assets have been
slated at estimated fair value as of December 31, 2007. Depreciation and smortization is computed principally by the stralghl -line methed for financial reporting
purposes and by accelerated methods for income tax purposes. Detinite-lived assets are periodically reviewed for impaiment indicators. [ impairment indicators
cxist, the Company performs the required analysis and records an impairment charge. as required. in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as goodwill and trademarks, have been stated at estimated fair value as of December 31, 2007 as a result of fresh-start
reporting. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually as of October |, or more frequently if impairment indicaters exist. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, dccounting for Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the impairment analysis compares the estimated fair value of these assets
to the related carrying value, and an impairment charge is recorded for any excess of carrying value over estimated fair value. The estimated fair value is based
upon considerution of various valuation methodologies, including guideline transaction multiples, multiples of current eamings, and projected future cash flows
discounted at rates commensurate with the risk involved.
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The Company periodically reviews the carrying value of its long-lived and indefinite-lived assets, whether held tor use or disposal, including other intangible
assets. when events and circumstances warrant such a review. Estimating fair value for both long-lived and indefinite-lived assets requires management to make
assumptions regarding future sales volumes and pricing, capital expenditures, useful lives and salvage values of related property, plant and equipment, the
Company’s abihty to develop and implement productivity improvements, discount rates, etfective fax rates, market multiples, and other items. Any ditferences in
actual results from management's estimates could result in fair values ditferent from estimated {air values, which could materially impact the Company's future
results of operations and financial condition. Management believes that the estimates of fusure cash lows and fair value assumptions are reasonable, however,
changes in assumptions underlying these estimates could affect the evaluations. Signiticant judgments and estimates used by management when evaluating assels
for unpairment include: (i) an assessment as to whether an adverse event or circumstance has iriggered the need for an impairment review; and (i) discounted or
undiscounted future cash flows generated by the asset. The Company recorded total impairment charges of $451.3 million, $61.3 million and $45.9 mitlion for
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Stack-Bused Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in sccordance with SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Pavment (“SFAS No. 123(R)7), which requires
companics 10 expense the estimated fair value of employee stock options and other furms of stock-based compensation, Estimating fair value for shared-based
payments in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) requires management to make assumptions regarding expected volatility of the underlying shares, the risk-free
rate over the lile of the share-based payment, and the date on which share-based payments will be settled. Any differences in actual results from management’s
estimates could result in fair values ditferent from estimated fair values, which could materially impact the Company's future results of operations und tinancial
condition. Additivnal financial information related to the Campany’s share-based payments is presented in Note 20 to the Cunsolidated Financial Statements,
included in ftem 8 ot this report.

Income Tuxes

‘The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes ("SFAS No. 109). The determination of the
Company's tax provision is complex due to operations in many tax jurisdictions outside the United States. Deferred tax assets and ligbilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and operating loss and other tax loss and credit carryforwards. The realization of deferred 1ax assets is dependant upen the Company's ability to genciate
future taxable income. The Company records a valuation alfowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that it believes is more likety than not ta be
realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply 1o taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company records a valuation allowance that primarily sepresents eperating and other loss carryforwards
for which utitization is uncertain. Management judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities
and the valuation allowance recorded against the Company's net deferred tax assets.

The Company did not record taxes on a portion of its undistributed carnings of $652.3 millien at December 31, 2008, since these earnings are considered by the
Company 1o be permanently reinvested. If at some future date, these earnings cease to be permanently reinvested, the Company may be subject to United States
income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on such amounts. Determining the unrecognized deferred tax liability on the potential distribution of these eamings is
not practicable as such liability, if any, is dependent on circumstances existing when remittance occurs.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had 2 deferred tax asset of $312.8 million, net of a valuation allowance of $786.5 miltion, and deferred tax liabilities of
$794.4 million. At December 31, 2007, the Company had a deferred tax asset of £396.7 million, net of a valuation allowance of $483.9 million, and deferred tax
Habilities of $567.1 million.

The Predecessor Company adopted Financial Interpretation No. 48, dccounting Jor Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109
(“FIN 48") as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recogrized in companies' financial statements in accordunce
with SFAS No. 109. Asa
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result, the Company applics a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold for all tax uncertainties, FIN 48 only allows the recognition of those tax benefits that
have a greater than 50%% Iikelihood of being sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. Management judgment is required in determining when the
Cumpany’s deferred tax assets and liabifities have met the more likely than not threshold. As a result of implementing FIN 48, the Predecessor Company
recognized @ $13.8 million decrease in the reserve for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 total
sharcholders” deficit.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the Company’s results of operations should be read in connection with ltems | and 7A of this Form 10-K. as well as
“Forward-Looking Statements™ and lem 1.A. “Risk Factors.” These items provide additional relevant information regarding the business of the Company. its
strategy. and the various industry dynamics in the OEM market and the aftermarket which have 2 direct and signiticant impact on the Company’s results of
operattons, as well as the risks associated with the Company's business.

Consolidated Results
Sales by reporting segment were:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 3006
{Millions of Dollars)
Powertrain Energy $ 2085 $ 2,054 $ 1,803
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings 1,048 1,054 956
Vehicle Safety and Protection 77 793 724
Automotive Products 379 334 288
Global A ftermarket 2637 2679 2,553

$_6.866 $6014 $ 6326
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Net sales by group and region are bisted below. “PTE". “PTSB", “VSP", "AP", and “GA™ represent Powertrain Energy. Powertrain Scaling and Bearings,
Vehicle Safety and Protection, Automotive Preducts, and Global Adftermarket, respectively.

PTE  FISB  VSP AP GA  Towl

Successor — 2008
United States and Canada 18% 3% 2% 46% 6% e
Europe 69% 5%  67% 27% 2% 46%
Rest of World 13% 12% 1% 27% 14% 14%
Erodecessor — 2007
United States and Canada 19% 319%  28% 47% 65% 42%
Europe 69% 0%  63% 25% 23% 46%
Rest of World 12% 11% 9% 28%  12% 12%
Eredecessor - 2006
United States and Canada 25% 43% 3% 2% 67% 7%
Furope 66% 47% 60% 23% 2% 42%
Rest of World Yo 10%% % 23% 12% 11%
Gross margin by reporting segment was:
Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
1008 2007 2006
{Mitlions of Dollars)

Powertrain Energy $ 269 $ 258 $ 267

Powenrain Sealing and Bearings 63 53 79

Vehicle Safety and Protection 172 193 170

Automotive Products 81 73 51

Global Aftermarket 530 611 610

Corporate ) _ (D (72)

§ 1124 $1LI8S $ 1103

During the first half of 2008, the Company experienced significant sales growth in all regions and business units. Starting during the third quarter of 2008, North
American light vehicle OF production began to lose pace, with significant production declines in bath North American and European light vehicle OE production
during the fourth quarter. [n total, the number of light vehicles produced during 2008 was 6.4 million in the Americas, 22.4 million in Europe, the Middle East
and Africa (“"EMEA™), and 27.2 million in Asia, compared to 2007 light vehicle production of 18.5 miilion, 24.0 millien and 27.2 million in the Americas,
EMEA, and Asia, respectively. The Company expects continued downward pressure on 2009 production volumes when compared to the volumes experienced

during 2008.

Consolidated net sales decreased by $48 million, or 1%, to $6,866 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Approximately §0% of the Company's 2008
sales originated outside the United States; therefore the weakening of the U.S. dollar. primarily against the euro, resulted in increased reported sales from
non-U.S. operations of $197 million. Decreased OE production in North America and Europe as well as decreased demand in aftermarket resulted in volume
declines, net of market share gain, of $319 million. This decline was partially offset by customer pricing increases and acquisitions by $42 million and $32

million. respectively.

Gross margin decreased by $61 million, to $1,124 million, or £6,4% of sales, for the year ended December 31, 2008 trom $1,185 million, or 17.1% of sales. in
2007, In connection with fresh-start reponting, inventory balances as of December 31, 2007 were increased by $68 million in accordance with SFAS No. 141,
During 2008, the Company recognized $68 mitlion in additional cost of goods sold, which reduced gross margin by the same. Before considering the impact of
the one-time inventory charge of $68 million, gress margin would have been 17.4% of sales, Improved productivity, net of labor and benefits inflation, of $129
million, lower depreciation of tixed assets, revalued in conjunction with fresh-start reporting, of $64 million and customer price increases of $42 million were
mostly offset by decreased sales volumes and increased cost of materials and services, which reduced gross margin by $203 million and $31 million,

respectively.
41

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2008




Reporting Segnient Results 2008 versus 2007
The following table provides changes in sales and gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared with the year ended December 31, 2007 for
cach of the Company s reporting segments.

PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Corporate Total
(Millions of Dollars)
2007 Sales, Predecessor $2054 S 1,054 S 793 S334 824679 0§ — s 6914
Sules volumes and new business (48) (30) (104) 32 (119} — 319)
Customer pricing 122) 27 (4} | 40 -— 42
Acquisition / divestiture 0 12 —_ — — — 32
Foreign currency 81 s 32 _12 37 = 197
2008 Sales, Successor S2085 S 1,048 S 717 $319 S§2637 S — S 6,866
PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Carporate ‘Total
(Millioas of Dallars}
2007 Gross Margin, Predecessor § 288 § 53 $193 573 S5 611l S {3) § 1185%
Sales volumes / mix (28) (39 47 (1» (79) — (203)
Customer pricing (22) 27 (4} I 40 — 42
Productivity, net of inflation 43 8 41 26 (B2 14 129
Materials and services sourcing (1) 2) 2D (13 7 () 30
Depreciation 31 19 10 4 —_ _ 64
Increase to inventory values as a result of fresh-start reporting {10y th (4} (2) (45) —_ {68)
Foreign currency {2) 4 4 __2 (1) ) 6
2008 Gross Margin, Successor § 269 S__63 S t72 S8 § 530 S 9 5 L1224

Powertrain Energy

Sales increased by $31 million, or 2%, to $2.085 million in 2008 from $2.054 million in 2007. PTE generates over 80% of its revenue outside the United States
and, as a result, the weakening of the U.S, doltar, primarily against the euro, increased reported sales by $81 million. Sales volumes decreased by $48 million due
o OE production volume decreases in Europe and North America. The November 2007 acquisition of a controlling interest in a jeint venture in China
contributed additional safes of $20 million. Continued customer pricing pressure reduced sales by $22 million.

Gross margin was $26% miltion, or 12.9% of sales, in 2008 compared to $258 million, or 12.6% of sales, in 2007. Before considering the impact of the one-time
inventory charge of $1¢ million, gross margin would have been 13.4% of sales. The unfavorable impacts of volume contributed to a $28 million decrease of
margin. Improved productivity in excess of labor and benefits inflation of $43 million more than offset customer price reductions of $22 million. The remainder
of the margin improvement was primarily due to lower depreciation of fixed assets. revalued in conjunction with fresh-siart reporting, of $31 million.

Puwertrain Sealing and Bearings

Sales decreased by $6 million, or less than 1%, to $1,048 mitlion in 2008 from $1,054 million in 2007. Approximately 65% of PTSB’s reventes are generated
outside the United States and the resulting foreign currency movements increased sales by $35 million. Reduced light vehicle OE production in North America
and Europe outweighed increases in market share and OE production volume in Asia, resulting in a net volume decline of $80 million. Customer prices were
increased by a net $27 miltion. The March 2008 acquisition of FMBIL increased sales by $12 million,

Gross margin was $63 million, or 6.0% of sales, in 2008 compared to $53 million, or 5.0% of sales, in 2007. Before considering the impact of the one-time
inventory charge of $7 million, gross margin would have been 6.7% of sales. The increase was due largely to increased customer pricing of $27 million,
improved productivity in excess of labor
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and henefits infiation of $8 million. and lower depreciation of fixed assets, revalued in conjunction with fresh-start reporting, ot $19 million, These favorable
impacts were partially oftset by the gross margin impact of $39 million due to lower sales volumes.

Tehicte Safety and Protection

Sales decreased by $76 million. or 10%, 10 $717 million in 2008 trom $793 million in 2007. Approximately 80% of VSP's sales are generated outside the United
States where foreign currency movements. primarily the weakening of the U.S. doliar against the euro, increased sales by $32 million. Sules volumes feil by $104
million as significant market share gains in Asia were more than oflset by the decline in light vehicle and OE production in North America and Ewrope. Customer
price reductions were $4 million.

Gross margin was $172 million, or 24.0% of sales, in 2008 compared to $193 million, or 24.3% of sales, in 2007. Before considering the impact of the one-time
inventory charge of $4 million, gross margin would have been 24.5% of sales. The Vehicle Satety and Protection group experienced improved productivity net of
labor and benefits inflation of $41 million, lower depreciation of fixed assets, primarily due o the fresh-start reponting tixed assets revaluation, of $10 million
and favorable exchange movement of $4 million. These favorable margin impacts were partially offset by decreased sales volumes. which reduced gross margin
by $47 million, increased cost of materials and services of $21 million and customer price reductions of $4 millton.

Auwtomative Products

Sales increased by $45 million. or t3%. to $379 million in 2008 from $334 million in 2007. The Automotive Products group generates about 55% of its revenue
outside the United States and the corresponding impact of exchange movements increased sales by $12 million. New business in ali regions, including the North
American market, accounted for increased sales of $32 million.

Gross margin was $81 million, or 21.4% of sales, in 2008 compared to $73 miltion, or 21.9% of sales. in 2007. Before considering the impact of the one-time
inventory charge of $2 million, gross margin would have been 21.9% of sales. The impact of internal price reductions and lower volumes of inter-company
supply to the Global Aftermarket segment reduced gross margins by $19 million, or 5% of sales, partially offset by $9 million of additional margin due to
increased sates volumes to OEMs. The margin improvement is also attributable to improved productivity in excess of (ubor and benefits inflation of $26 million,
partially oftset by increased cost of materials and services ot $13 million.

Global Aftermarket
Sales decreased by $42 million, or 2%, to $2,637 million in 2008 from $2,679 million in 2007. This change was due to sales volume decreases of $119 million,
partially oifset by favorable foreign currency of $37 million and custamer price increases of $£40 million,

Gross margin was $530 million, or 20.1% of sales, in 2008 compared to $611 million, or 22.8% of sales, in 2007. Before considering the impact of the one-time
inventory charge of $45 millien, gross margin would have been 21.8% of'sales, The impact of the velume decrease was compounded by unfavoruble movements
in the mix of products and markets into which the aftermarket products were distributed. lowering margin by $79 million, This margin eroston was partially
offset by increased custonter pricing of $40 million. .

Corporate

Corporate expenses fell by $12 millien in 2008, principally due to reduced pension expense, included within productivity in excess of labor and benefits
inflation.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense

SG&A expenses were $774 million. or [19% of net sales, in 2008 as compared to $828 million, or 12%% of net sales, in 2007. The unfaverable impact of exchange
movements increased SGE&A by $18 million, which was more than offset by o constant-dollur reduction of $72 million, primarily due to reduced pension costs of
$£31 muhon and other productivity improvements, net of labor and benetits inflawion.

Included in SG&A expense above were rescarch and development (*R&D™) costs, including product engineering and validation costs, of $173 million in 2008
compared to $178 million in 2007. As a percentage of OEM sales, research and Jevelopment was 4% in both 2008 and 2007.

Interest Expense

Net interest expense was $180 million in 2008 compared to $199 million in 2007. The decrease is due to lower average interest rates on higher debt and an
incrense in inlerest income of $10 million, partially offset by amertization of $22 million us a result of marking to market the exit financing arcangements as part
of fresh-start reporting.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net was $34 million in 2008, compared with other income, net of $41 miilton in 2007. The Company is a party to two lawsuits in Ohio and
Michigan relating to indemniftcation for costs arising from environmental releases from industrial operations of the Predecessor Company prior to 1986. These
two lawsuits had been stayed temporarily to allow the parties to engage in settiement negotiations and are both now proceeding 1o trial. During 2008, the
Company reached setttements with certain parties, which resulted in net recoveries to the Company of $16.9 millien. The Company continues to engage in
settlement discussions with the remaining parties, although no assurances can be given regarding the outcome of such discussions. In addition, the Company had
a fire at a plant in Europe for which it recognized a $12.2 million gain associated with the involuntary conversion.

Reporting Segment Results 2007 versus 2006

The following tzble provides changes in sales and gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared with the year ended December 31, 2006 for
each of the Company 's reporting segmerits.

Predecessor
PTE PIsB VSP AP GA Carparate Total
{Milligns of Dollars)
2006 Sales $1805 § 95 $724 S$288 S$2553 § 5 6326
Sales volumes and new business 89 53 43 7 84 — 306
Customer pricing (24) — {I4 3) (15) -— {56)
Commodity price escalators 14 — — — — — 14
Acquisitions / divestitures ) 47 2 — _— = — 49
Foreign currency 123 43 40 __12 57 — 275
2007 Sales $2054 S 1054 5793 3 82679 S — 5 6914
PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Corporate Total
(Miilions of Dollars)
2006 Gross Margin $ 267 5. 79 S$170 S$51 S 610 § (72) $ 1,108
Sales volumes / mix 2 14 25 9 %3] —_ 42
Customer pricing (24) — (14) [€)] (15) —_ (36)
Sourcing / raw materials, net of escalators ) 3 30 (2) (3) 20 —_ (18)
Productivity, net of inflation 5 [} 4 15 % {4) 4
Pension charges —_ — —_— 3 — 73 76
Foreign currency 11 3 o __1 7 — 32
2007 Gross Margin $§ 258 § 53 §£193 §73 § 611 § (3) S 1,185

Powerirain Energy

Almost 80% of PTE's sales ariginate outside North America. The weakening of the U.S. dollar during 2007, primarily against the euro increased sales by $123
million. The impacts of increased light and commercial vehicle

44

Source: FEDERAL MOGUE CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009




production in EMEA maore than offset the impacts of declines in light vehicle and heavy duty production in North America resulting in $63 million of increased
sales due 10 increases in global OEM production, The impact of new program taunches in EMEA and Asia, net of program roll-otTs in North Anterica, mereased
sales globally by o further $26 million.

Reductions in custemer pricing of $24 milhon were more than oflset by $14 million of commodity price escalators and $47 million related to net acquisition
activity, primarily the acquisition of a controlling interest in Federal-Mogul Goetze (India} Limited in May 2006.

Gross margin decreased by $9 million, to $258 million, or 12.6%, in 2007 trom $267 million, er 14.8%, in 2006. The primary rcasons for the decrease are
customer price reductions of $24 million, partially offset by favorable foreign currency of $11 million, and productivity in excess of labor and bencfits inflation
of $5 million. Due 10 adverse changes in the mix of products. in particular a shift towards compenents with a higher material content, the increased sales volumes
provided $2 million of additivnal margin which was more than offset by increased raw material cost ot $3 miition,

Powerirain Sealing and Bearings

Qver 55% of PTSB's sales originate oulside North America. The weakening of the U.S. dollar during 2007, primarily against the eure increased sales by 343
million. The impacts of increased light and commercial vehicle production in EMEA and Asia more than offset the impacts of declines in light vehicle and heavy
Juty production in North America resulting in $20 million of increased sales due to increases in global OEM production, The impact of new progeam launches in
North America, EMEA and Asia increased sales globally by a further $33 million.

Gross margin decreased by $26 million, to $53 million, or 5.0%. in 2007 from $79 million. or 8.3%, inn 2006. The increase in sales volumes added $14 million of
gross margin and favorable foreign currency a further $3 million. These favoruble impacts were more than offset by a $30 million increase in the cost ol rw
malerials, primarily copper. Furthermare, during 2007, PTSB undertook a major restructuring of its North American bearings uperations which resulted in certain
one-oft costs related to ensuring continuous customer supply while manufacturing activities were transitioned between locations. Although improvements in
ather areas of manufacturing efficiency were achieved, they were more than offset by these transition costs and by inilation in underlying labor and benetits,
resulting in an adverse net productivity for the year of $13 million.

tehicle Safety and Protection

Over 70% of VSP's sales originate outside North America. The weakening of the U.S. dollar during 2007, primarily against the euro, increased sales by $40
million. The impacts of increased light and commercial vehicle production in EMEA mare than offset the impacts of declines in light vehicle and heavy duty
production in North America resulting in $8 million of increased sales due to increases in global OEM production. The impact of new program [aunches in North
America, EMEA and Asia increased sales globally by a further $35 million. Customer prices fell by $14 milkion compared to the prior year.

Gross margin increased by $23 million, to $193 million, or 24.3%, in 2007 from $170 million, or 23.4%, in 2006. The sources of the increased margin are
primarily $25 million as a result of increased sales volumes and $10 mullion due to favorable foreign currency impacts. These favorable impacts were partially
offset by $14 million in customer price reductions. Productivity, net of jabor and benefits inflation. of $4 million was partially offset by the impact of raw
materig! price increases of $2 million.

Automotive Products

Roughly 30% of AP's sales originate outside North America. The weakening of the U.S. dollar during 2007, primarily against the euro, increased sales by $12
million, The impacts of increased light and commercial vehicle production in EMEA and Asia offset the impacts of declines in light vehicle and heavy duty
production in North America leaving AP largely neutral to the changes in global OEM production. However, the impact of new program launches in North
America. EMEA and Asia increased sales globally by $37 million. Customer prices fell by $3 million compared to the prior year.

45

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009




Tabig of Contents

Grross margin increased by $22 million, to $73 mitlion. or 21.9%. in 2007 from $51 million, or 17.7%. in 2006. The impact of higher sales volumes contributed
$9 million and productivity, in excess of kabor and benefits inflation was $15 milltion. These favorabte impacts were partially offset by reductions in customer
pricing of $3 mitlion.

Global Afrermarket

Approximately 35% of GA’s sales are outside of North America, The weakening of the U.S. dollar during the year, primarily against the euro, increased sales by
$57 milkion. increases in global market share of $101 million were more than suflicient to offset reduced global market demand of $17 million and lower net
custamer pricing of $135 million Geographically, sales volumes to aftermarket customers, combining market share gains and changes in underlying market
demand, resulted in the following increases:

+ %63 million increase in the Americas — representing growth of 3%;
+  $16 million increase in EMEA — representing growth of 3%,

+  $5 million increase in Asia — representing growth ot 13%.

Gross margin tncreased by $1 million to $611 million, or 22.8%, in 2007 from $610 miltion, or 23,8%, in 2006, The impact of reduced purchase prices on
sourced parts increased gross margin by $20 million, and favorable foreign currency increased gross margin by $7 million. Despite increased sales volumes, the
overali mix of product resulted in higher demand for tower margin parts compared 1o the previous year resulting in a net 38 million reduction in gross margin due
to changes in sales volumes. Additional treight and logistics costs of $3 million were incurred in support of the additional volume and net customer prices fell by
$15 million.

Corporate

Corporate expenses fell by $69 miltion principally due to the cessation of the UK. pension charge following settlement in October 2006 of the UK. pension
Habilities. For the first nine months of 2006, the Predecessor Company was incurring approximately $8 mitlion per month in pension expense for the related
employees.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense was $828 million in 2007 compared to $848 million in 2006; a reduction of $20 millioa. A reduction in
U.8 pension costs combined with efticiencies in selling, marketing, administration and purchasing activities, net of tabor and benefits inflation reduced SG&A
expense by $29 million. The settlement of the U.K. pension in the fourth quarter of 2006 reduced SG&A expense an additional $24 million.

These reductions in SG&A expense were partially offset by adverse foreign currency impacts of $31 million and the impact of the FMG acquisition of $2
million. Included in SG&A expense above were research and development (“R&D™) costs, including product engineering and validation costs, of $178 million in
2007 compared to $162 million in 2006. As a percentage of OEM sales, research and development was 4% in both 2007 and 2006

Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased to $199 million in 2007 compared with 3206 million in 2006. In accordance with SOP %0-7, pending the confirmation of the Plan
and subsequent emergence from Chapter L1, the Predecessor Company did not accrue the contractual interest of $162 million on certain of its pre-petition debt.

Gain on Settlement of Liabilities Subject to Compromise

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes a gain of $761 miltion related to the Predecessor
Company’s emergence from bankruptcy. This gain resulted from the discharge of liabilities subject to compromise at amounts less than the previously recorded
liabilities,
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Fresh-Start Reporting Adjustments

Included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 is a gain of $956 million resulting from the adoption of fresh-start
reporting, This amount is the result of the aggregate of changes to the net carrying value of pre-emergence assets and liabilities to reflect the estimated fair values
under fresh-start reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7 and the impact of accounting principles adopted by the Successor Company.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net was $41 million in 2007, compared with other income, net of $28 million in 2006. The primary sources of the year-over-year improvement
were higher gains on the divestiture of assets and businesses of approximately $7 million, and higher gains on settlements of foreign currency transactions of
approximately $4 million.

Adjustment of Assets to Estimated Fair Value

The Company and its Predecessor recorded total impairment charges of $451.3 million, $61.3 million and $45.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
(Millions of Dollars}

Long-lived tangible assets ) $ 18.8 $ 36.1 $459
Goodwill 2387 252 —
Other indefinite-lived intangible assets B 130.0 — e
Investments in unconsolidated affiltates 638 — —

$ 4503 $61.3 $ 45.9

Goodwilf and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Given the complexity of the calculation and the significance of fourth quarter economic activity, the Company has not yet completed its annual impairment
assessment. Based upon the draft valuations and preliminary assessment, the Company recorded estimated impairment charges of $238.7 million and $130.0
million for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2008, To the extent that the finalization of the
Company’s assessment of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible requires adjustment to the preliminary impairment charge, such adjustment would be
recorded in the first quarter of 2009. These charges were required to adjust the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets to estimated
Fair value, The estimated fair values were determined based upon consideration of various valuation methodologies. including guideline transaction multiples,
multiples of current earnings, and projected future cash flows discounted at rates comimensurate with the risk involved. Although the annual assessment was
conducted as of October |, 2008, the Company incorporated general economic and Company specific factors subsequent to this date into its assessment,
including updated discount rates, costs of capital, market capitalization of the Company, and financial projections, all in order to give appropriate cansideration
to the unprecedented economic downtum in the autometive industry that continued throughout the fourth quarter of 2008.

The 2008 impairment charge is primarily attributable to significant decreases in forecasted future cash flows as the Company adjusts to known and anticipated
changes in industry production volumes.

The Company evaluates its recorded goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of October 1 and in accordance with SFAS
No. 142, Accounting for Goodwill und Other Imangible Assets. As a result of its annual assessment, the Predecessor Company recorded an impairment charge in
the Global Pistons operating unit of the Powertrain Energy Reporting Segment of $25.2 million to actjust the carrying value of goodwill to estimated fair value
for the period ended December 31, 2007. The estimated fair value of the operating unit was determined based upon consideration of various valuation
methodologies, including guideiine transaction multiples,
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c
multiples ot current carrings. and projected future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risk involved, The 2007 impainment charge is primarily
attributable 1o significant increases in forecasted future capital expenditures to keep pace with cument technological product requirements, without a
corresponding increase in product protitability. There was no impairment charge required for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Ivestrtents in Unconsalidated Affiliaies

As of December 31, 2608, the Company evaluated the recorded value of its investments in non-consolidated affiliates for potential impairment. Given the
cconomic downturn in the global automotive industry and the related declines in anticipated production volumes, the Company concluded that its investments in
non-consolidated aftiliates were impaired, and an impairment charge of $63.8 miltion was recorded as of December 31, 2008,

Definite-Lived Long-Lived Assers
‘The Compuny recorded impairment charges ot $18.8 million, $36.1 million, and $45.9 miltion for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, to adjust definite-lived long-lived assets to their estimated {air values in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
af Long-Lived Assets, The charges by reporting segment are as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
1008 2007 1006
{Miltions of Dotlars)

Powertrain Energy $§ 99 $ 04 $10.7
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings 4.0 ney - 274
Vehicle Safety and Protection 0.7 278 9.9
Automotive Products 40 4.6 N
(Hobal Attermarket — 16 —_—
Corporate 02 23 _—
Other s — (3.2

§ 188 $ 36.1 $45.9

2008 Impairments

Powertrain Energy:

* The Company recorded impairment charges of $4.9 million related to the identification of a Powertrain Energy facility where the Company’s assessment of
estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property. plant and equipment, indicated impairment was necessary. In addition,
the Compony recorded impairment charges of $5.0 million related o Powertrain Energy operating facilities for which the Company will announce the
closures in 2009 as part of its ongoing Restructuring 2009 program. The impairment amount was delermined by assessing the book values associated with
building and production equipment in relation to their estimated net realizable values.

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

+ The impairment charge of $4.0 million primarity relates to the identification of a Powertrain Sealing and Bearings facility where the Company s assessment
of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property, plant and equipment, indicated an impairment was necessary.

Automotive Products:

* The Company recorded impairment charges of $2.6 millien related to the identification of an Automotive Products facility where the Company’s assessment
of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property, plant and equipment, indicated impairment was necessary. The
remaining impairment charge of $1.4 million primarily relates to Automotive Products operating facilities for which the
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Company will announce the closures in 2009 as part of its ongoing Restructuring 2009 program. The impairment amounts were determined by assessing the
book values associated with building and production equipment in relation 1o their estimated net realizable values.

2007 Impairments

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

« The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.3 million related to the identification of certain Powertrain Sealing and Bearings facikities
where the Predecessor Company’s assessment of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property, plant and equipment,
indicated an impairment was necessary. In addition, the Predecessor Company’s ability to remediate a CARO ot a cost below the original estimate resulted in
the reversal of the excess reserve through impairment where such reserves were originally recorded.

Vehicle Safety and Protection:

« The Predecessor Comparny recorded impairment charges ot $24.8 million related to one U.S. Friction location as an anncunced reduction in OEM purchase
volumes by one of the Predecessor Company's customers resulted in a re-evaluation of the expected tuture cash flows of this operation as compared to the
current carrying vatue of property, plant and equipment.

Automotive Products:

+ The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.2 million related to certain Autometive Products operating locations primarily as a result of
reduced volumes resulting in a revaluation of expected future cash flows of these operations as compared to the current carrying value of the plant, machinery
and equipment.

2006 fmpoirments
Powertrain Energy:

+  During 2006, the Predecessor Company announced the closure of its Malden, Missouri manufacturing facility, As a result of this closure, the book values
associated with building and production equipment were assessed in relation to their estimated net realizable values, and impairment charges of $7.1 million
were recorded.

+ The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.1 million related to other Powertrain Energy operating locations, primarily as a result of
reduced volumes resulting in a revaluation of the expected future cush flows of these operations as compared to the current carrying value of property, plant
and equipment.

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

+ During 2006, the Predecessor Company announced the closure of its St. Johns, Michigan manufacturing facility. As a result of this closure, the book values
associated with building and production equipment were assessed in relation to their estimated net realizable values, and impairment charges of $3.4 million
were recorded.

+ The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $7.9 million related to the identification of an operating facility that the Predecessor
Company closed as part of the its ongoing restructuring efforts, In addition, the Predecessor Company recorded $16.1 million of impairment charges
related to assets at certain Sealing System operating facilities where the Predecessor Company’s assessment of estimated future cash flows, when
compared to the current carrying value of property. plant and equipment, indicated an impairment was necessary.

Vehicle Safety and Protection:

» The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $9.1 million refated to three of its Friction locations. Buildings and production equipment at these
locations had previously been impaired in connection with the closure and anticipated sale of the facilities. After a revaluation of the estimated fair values at
these |ocations, additional impairment charges were deemed appropriate as of December 31, 2006.
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« The Predecessor Company recorded other impairment charges of $0.8 million related to certain Friction operating locations, primarily as a result of reduced
volumes resulting in a revaluation of the expected future cash (tows of these operations as compared to the current carrying value of property, plant and
equipment.

Chapter 11 und U.K. Administration Related Reorganization Expease

Chapter 11 and UK. Administration related reorganization expenses in the consolidated statements of operations censist of legal, financial and advisory fees,
including fees of the U.K. Administrators. critical employee retention costs. and other directly related internal costs as summarized below. These expenses have
decreased in 2008 when compared to 2007 and 2006 as a result of the Company s emergence from bankruptcy on December 27, 2007,

Surcessor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 1007 2006
{Millions of Dollars)
Professional fees directly related to the filing LI YA $728 $ 688
Critical employee retention costs _ 7.9 12.3
Discharge of U.K, Administration fees & other costs —_ — . 294
Interest income earned on restricted cash — — {154

s 171 $ 80.7 $ 95.1

Restructuring Activities

The Company, as part of the sustainable global profitable growth strategy, has undertaken varicus restructuring activities as necessary to execute management’s
strategy and streamline operations, consolidate and take advantage of availzble capacity and resources, and ultimately achieve net cost reductions. Restructuring
activities include efforts to integrate and rattonalize the Company’s businesses and 1o retocate manufacturing operations to lower cost markets. These activities
generally fall into one of the following categories:

|3 Closure of tacilities and relocation of production — in connection with the Company s strategy, certain operations have been closed and related production
relocated to best-cost countries or to other locations with available capacity.

(%]

Conselidation of administrative functions and standardization of manufacturing processes — as part of its productivity sirategy, the Company has acted to
consolidate its administrative functions and change its manufacturing processes to reduce selling, general and administrative costs and improve operating
efficiencies through standardization of precesses.
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“Ihe following is a summary of the Company's consvlidated restructuring reserves and related activity for 2008, 2007 and 2006, “PTE", "PTSB”, "VSP", "AP”

and “GA™ represent Powertrain Energy. Powenrain Sealing and Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Prote

respectively.

Balance a1 January 1, 2006,
Predecessor

Provisions

Reversals

Payments

Foreign cwrrency
Balance at December 31, 2006,
Predecessor

Provisions

Reversals

Payments

Reclassitication to postemployment benefits

Foreign currency
Halance at December 31, 2007,
Successor

Provisions

Reversals

Payments

Foreign currency

Ralance at December 31, 2008,
Successor

Activities under Global “Restructuring 2009 Pragram

ction, Automotive Products and Global Aftermarket,

PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Corporate Total
{Millions of Dollars)

$ 98 $ 1.7 $09 §105 §$28 § 06 $ 263
15.3 347 35 9.7 6.3 21 71.6
(L.8) {2.0) (0.6) (0.6) 0.2) —_ 52}
(8.7 (9.0 (3.5 (500 (6D (2.6) (35.)

1.0 1.1 0.1 04 0.1 0. 2
15.6 16.5 04 5.0 2.6 — 40.1
14.9 20 39 40 7.1 30 549
(2.2) (1.2) (0.3) [EN)] — —_ (6.8}
(19.3) (33.5) @amn {5.6) 5.0 (0.5 (66.7)
1) — — 03 — — (44)
i.2 05 0.1 — 0.1 0.1 2.0

6.1 4.3 1.4 —_— 4.7 26 to.1
433 420 256 11.1 75 5.4 134.9
(9 (0.2) (0.1 (0.2) {0.5) {0.9) 2.8)
(1.0} 6.9) (8.3} 52y (7.0 {2.0) (H0.4)
0.6 1.6 0.3 (0.1) 01 __ {01 24
§$38) $ 408 $189 § 56 $48 S S0 $ 1132

An unprecedented downturn in the global automotive industry and global financial markets led the Company to announce, in September 2008 and December
2008, certain restructuring actions, herein referred 10 as “Restructuring 20097, designed to improve operating performance and respond to increasingly
challenging conditions in the globa! automotive market. This plan. when combined with other workforce adjustments, is expected to reduce the Company’s
global warkforce by approximately 8,600 positions. The Company continues to solidify certain components of this plan, and will announce those components as
plans are finalized, During 2008, the Company has recorded $126.8 million in restructuring charges associated with Restructuring 2009, and expects to incur
additional restructuring charges up to $37 million through 2010. As the majority of the costs expected to be incurred in relation to Restructuring 2009 are related
to severance, such activities are expected to yield future annual savings ot least equal to the costs incurred.

Significant components of charges related to Restructuring 2009 are as follows:

Powertrain Energy

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings
Vchicle Satety and Protection
Automotive Products

Global Aftermarket

Corporate

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORF, 10-K, February 24, 2009

Total Incurred Estimated
Expected During Additional
Costs 248 Charges
(Millions of Dallars)
$ 484 $ 396 L3 838

45.0 41.0 4.0
398 255 14.3
16.2 9.6 6.6
10.1 T1 30
4.5 4.0 0.5
$ 1640 $ 1268 $ 372
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Activities under Global “Restructuring 2006" Program

In January 2006, the Predecessor Company announced a glabal restructuring plan (“Restructuring 2006™) as part of its sustainable global profitable growth
strategy. From the inception of this program through December 31, 2007, the Predecessor Company incurred expenses of $119.9 million under this program
associated with the closures of its facilittes located in Alpignano, Itaty; Upton, United Kingdom; Malden, Missouri; Pontoise, France, Rochdate, United
Kingdom; Slough, United Kingdom; St. Johns, Michigan; St. Louts, Missouri; and Bretten, Gemmany. The Predecessor Company also transferred production with
high labor content from its faciliues in Nuremberg, Germany, Wiesbaden, Germany: and Orleans, France to existing fucilities in best cost countries. During 2008,
the Successor Company incurred expenses of $5.5 million for Reswructuring 2006. Payments associated with this program are expected to continve into 2010,
This program was completed during 2008.

Other Restructuring Activity and Programs
There were no significant restructuring activities during the year ended Decernber 31, 2008 other than the Restructuring 2009 program.

During 2007, the Predecessor Company reclassified certain restructuring reserves related to long-term pension arrangements from restructuring reserves to
pustemployment benefits. This reclussification was made as a result of the Predecessor Company’s continuous evaluation of its restructuring activities. The
Predecessor Company s evaluation determined that these amounts would be more appropriately classified as postemployment benefits.

In addition to the Restructuring 2006 program above, the Predecessor Company iniliated several individual location restructuring programs. The details of
activity during 2007 associated with these individual location programs are as follows:

Vehicle Safety and Protection

. During 2007, the Predecessor Company announced the closure and relocation of its system protection facility in Exton, Pennsylvania 1o other facilities
with avaitable capacity, The Predecessor Company recorded npproximately $2.4 million of severance charges during the year and as of December 31,
2007. This project was substantially completed as of December 31, 2008, Expected future cost savings asseciated with this activity are estimated to be
approximately $4.1 miltion per year.

Global Aftermarket

. The Predecessor Company commenced a restructuring of its Global Aftermarket sales and marketing functions designed to drive business growth and to
improve customer focus. Through realignment of the sales force on a regional basis, the Company intends to strengthen customer relations particularly in
emerging markets. Accordingly, a charge of approximately $3 million related to these activities was recorded during 2007. Expected savings associated
with the project are estimated to be approximately $4.3 million per year. This program was completed during 2008,

There were no significant restructuring activities during the year ended December 31, 2006 other than the Restructuring 2006 program.
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Income Taxes

For 2008, the Company revorded income tax expense of $18.7 million an loss before income taxes of $449.2 million, compared 1o income tax expense of $331.8
million on income before income taxes of $t.744,1 million in 2007. In 2008, the primary difference between the Company s income tax expense at its statutory
rate and actual tax expense recorded was the result of goodwill impairment. In 2007, the primary difference between the Company’s income tax expense at its
statutory rate and actual tas expense recorded was the result of fresh stant reporting adjustments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cush Flow Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $627 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared to net cash provided by operating activities of
$35 mitlion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The meost significant factors contributing to operating autivity cush flows in 2008 and 2007 are those in
relation to emergence from Chapter 11. Cash from operations, excluding the impacts of the Plan, is shown below:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
1003 2007
{Millions of Dollars)
Net cash provided from operating activitics: $ 627 $ 35
Add back:
Payment (from) to U.S. Asbestos Trust (225) 140
Payment of interest on pre-petition debt and notes — 132
Payments 1o settle non-debt lisbilities subject to compromise 23 44
Cash from operations, excluding the impacts of the Plan $ 435 $ 351
Worki .

In 2008, the cash inflow from changes in working cagital was $82 mitlion {excluding $68 million fresh-start adjustment to inventory), compared with $92 million
in 2007; a decrease of $10 million.

The cash inflow due to changes in accounts receivable in 2008 of $90 million is primarily due lo a reduction in sales volume. Excluding the impact of toreign
exchange, sales revenue in the last two months of 2008 was approximately $311 million lower than the equivalent period of 2007,

The cash outflow due to changes in accounts receivable in 2007 of $47 miltion is primarily due to an increase in sales volume, partially offset by payments
received in 2007 for property sold in 2006. Excluding the impact of foreign exchange, sales revenue in the last two months of 2007 was approximatecly $67
million higher than the equivalent period of 2006. During 2007, $20 million was received related io property sales made in 2006,

The cash inflow due to changes in inventory in 2008 of $53 millien, excluding $68 million fresh-start adjustment to inventory, and the cash outflow due to
changes in accounts payable in 2008 of $61 million are both the result of decreased production volumes in the fourth quarter of 2008.

Through mare efficient intemal logistics and supply chain management, the Predecessor Company reduced inventories by 515 million during 2007, compared to
an increase of $22 million during 2006. Expressed as a percentage of net sates, inventory efficiency improved from 14% in 2006 ta 13% in 2007.
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Excluding the impact of foreign exchange, the significant improvement in payments ienms created a cash inflow of $124 milkion for purchased goods and
services compared with $38 million in 2006,

Cash Flow Used by investing /Activities

Cash flow used by investing activities was $306 million in 2008 compared to $263 milton in 2007. Expenditures for property, plant and equipment of $320
million in 2008 were $10 million higher than 2007, primarily Jue to:

= capacity increases in support of new program launches,
= investment in lead-free bearing techrology: and

+  significant relocation of production capacity to best cost country manufacturing locations.

Praceeds trom the sales of property, plant and equipment of $13 million was $13 million lower than in 2007, largely due to the sale of real estate following the
¢losure of a manuetacturing facility in Upton, England during 2007. Also during 2007, the Predecessor Company realized praceeds of $14 miilion each for the
sale of a 12.2% ownership interest in an industrial brake manufacturer and the sale of a 30% ownership interest in a piston venture in India.

‘The Company maintains investrients in 14 non-consolidated affiliates, which are located in Italy, Germany, the United Kingdom, Turkey, China, Korea, India,
Japan, and the United States. The Company’s direct ewnership in such affiliates ranges from approximately 1% to 50%. The aggregate investment in these
affiliates approximates $221 million and $324 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Upon the adoption of {resh-start reporting, the
Company’s investments in non-consolidated aifiliates were adjusted 1o estimated fair value.

The Company's joint ventures are businesses established and maintained in connection with its operating strategy and are not special purpose entities. In general,
the Company does not extend guarantees, loans or other instruments of a variable nature that may result in incremental risk to the Company s liquidity position,
Furthermore, the Company does not rely on dividend payments or other cash flows from its non-consolidated affiliates to fund its operations and, sccordingty,
does not believe that they have a material effect on the Company s liquidity.

The Company helds a 50% non-controlling interest in a joint venture located in Turkey. This joint venture was established in 1995 for the purpose of
manufacturing and marketing automotive pans, including pistons, piston tings, pisten pins, and cylinder liners, to otiginal equipment and aftermarket customers.
Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, the Company s partner holds an option to put its shares to a subsidiary of the Company at the higher of the current fair
value or at a guaranteed minimum amount. The term of the contingent guarantee is indefinite, consistent with the terms of the joint venture agreement. However,
the contingent guarantee would not survive termination of the joint venture agreement.

The guaranteed minimum amount represents a contingent guarantee of the initial invesiment of the joint venture partner and can be exercised at the discretion of
the partner. As of December 31, 2008, the total amount of the contingent guarantee, were all triggering events to occur, approximated $359 million, Management
believes that this contingent guarantee is substantially less than the estimated current fair value of the guarantees” interest in the affiliate. As such, the contingent
guarantee does not give rise to a contingent liability and, as a result, no amount is recorded for this guarantee. if this put option were exercised, the consideration
patd and net assets acquired would be accounted for in nccordance with SFAS No. 14 |{R), Business Combinations.

[fthis put option were exercised at its estimated current fair value, such exercise could have a material effect on the Company's liquidity. Any value in excess of
the guaranteed minimum amount of the put option would be the subject of negotiation between the Company and its joint venture partner.

In accordance with SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equirv, the Company has
determined that its investments in Chinese joint venture arrangements are considered to be “limited-ltived™ as such entities have specified durations ranging from
30 10 50 years pursuant to regional statutory regulations. In general, these arrangements call for extension, renewal or liguidation at the discretion of the parties to
the arrangement at the end of the contractual agreement. Accordingly, a reasonable assessment cannot be made as to the impact of such contingencies on the
tuture liquidity position of the Company.
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Cash Flow Provided fiom Financing Activities

Cash Now provided trom linancing activities was $197 million for year ended December 31, 2008, compared ta cash Mow provided from financing activities of
$265 million for year ended December 31, 2007, This change primarily resulted from a reduction in 2008 borrowing activity compared to 2007, The Company
purchased approxumately 1.1 million shares of its common stock for approximately $17 mullion in a single transaction from an unrclated party on September 115,
2008,

In connection with the consummation of the Plan, on the Effective Date, the Company entered into a Tranche A Term Loan Agreement (the “Tranche A Facility

Agreement”™). The Tranche A Facility Agreement provided for a $1.334.6 million term loan issued on the Effective Date to satisfy in part the obligations owed
under the Prepetition Credit Agreement and centain other prepetition surety-related obligations. On December 27, 2007, the Company notified the administrative
agent under the Tranche A Facility Agreement of the Company *s intent to repay the Tranche A term loan during January 2008. On Junuary 3, 2008, the Tranche

A term loan was repaid in full,

On the Effective Date, the Company, as the issuer, entered into an Indenture (the “Indenture™) relating to the issuance of approximately $303 million in senior
subordinated third priority payment-in-kind notes (the "PLK Notes™, referred to together with the Tranche A Facility Agreement as the “Repaid Enstruments”).
The PIK Notes were issued in order to satisfy in part the vbligations under the Prepetition Credit Agreement and certain other prepetition surety-related
obligations. On December 28, 2007, the Company gave its notice of intent (o redeem the PIK Notes, in full, in January 2008 at a price equa! to their redemption
price. On January 3, 2008, the PIK Notes were redeemed in full.

Also an the Effective Date, the Company entered into a Term Loan and Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Exit Facilities”) with Citicorp U.S.A. Inc, a3
Administrative Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent and certain Tenders. The Exit Facilities include a $540 million revelving credit facility
{which is subject to a borrowing base and can be increased under <ertain circumstanees and subject 10 certain conditions) and a $2,960 million term loan credit
facility divided into a $1,960 million tranche B loan and a $1,000 million tranche C loan, The Company borrowed $878 million under the term loan facility on
the Effective Date and the remaining $2.082 million of term loans, which were available for up to sixty days after the Effective Date, have been fully drawn as
described below. As of the Effective Date, existing letters of credit under the Predecessor Company’s debtor-in-possession (“DIP™) credit agreement of
approximately $34.3 million, and existing letters of credit issued under the Predecessor Company's prepetition credit facility of approximately $39.4 million,
were rolled over as letters of credit under the Exit Facilities.

The obligations under the revolving credit facility mature December 27, 2013 and bear interest for the first six months at LIBOR plus 1.75% ar at the alternate
base rate {“ABR", detined as the greater of Citibank, N.A.’s announced prime rate or 0.50% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 0.75%, and thereatter adjusted in
accordance with a pricing grid based on availability under the revolving credit facility. Interest rates on the pricing grid range from LIBOR plus 1.50% to LIBOR
plus 2.00% and ABR plus 0.50% to ABR plus 1.00%. The tranche B tern loans mature December 27, 2014 and the tranche C term loans mature December 27,
2015: provided, however, that in each case. such maturity may be shortencd to December 27. 2013 under certain circumstances, In addition, the tranche C term
loans are subject to a pre-payment premium, should the Company choose to prepay the loans prior to December 27, 2011, All Exit Facilities term loans bear
imerest at LIBOR plus 1.9375% or at the ABR plus 0.9375% at the Company’s election. To the extent that interest rates change by 25 basis points, the
Company s annual interest expense would show a corresponding change of approximately $5 mitlion.

On Jenuary 3, 2008, the Company drew an additional $2,082 millien under the Exit Facilities, of which $1,642 was used by the Company to repay or redeem the
Repaid Instruments and interest thereon, both as discussed above. Given that the Company intended to finance the Repaid Instruments on a long-term basis,
commitments for such long-term financing existed as of December 31, 2007 and that such intent was achieved with the refinancing of the Repaid [nstruments
with long-term borrowings under the Exit Facilities, each of the Repaid Instruments was classitied as long-term in the Company’s balance sheet as of
December 31, 2007.
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The Company has the following contractual obligations and commercial commitments outstanding at December 31, 2008:

1009 2010 11 2012 2013 Thereafter Total
(Millions of Dollars)
Debt ubligations $£1017 8§ 364 % 308 % 296 $ 296 $§ 27824 § 30105
Interest payments 128.1 127.0 126.0 1249 123.8 172.1 801.9
Letters of credit 56.8 - — — —_ — 56.8
Payments for settlement of liabilities subject to compromise 69.8 231 — — — — 929
Pension and other postemployment benefit plans 69.1 164.1 1455 149.8 1472 * 675.7
Operating feases 42.5 32.6 4.9 20.8 19.1 15.8 155.7
‘Totat $4680 $3832 $3272 $325.1 $3197 $ 29703 $ 479335

* Funding requirements beyond 2013 are not available.

‘The Company’s ability 1o obtain cash adequate to fund its needs depends generally on the results of its operations, restructuring initiztives, and the availability of
tinancing. Management believes that cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and available borrowings under its Exit Fzcilities will be sufficient to tund capitat
expenditures and meet its operating obligations through the end of 2009. In the longer term, the Company believes that its base operating potential, supplemented
by the benefits from its announced restructuring programs, will provide adequate long-term cash flows. However, there ¢an be no assurance that such initiatives
are achievable in this regard,

The Exit Facilities contain some affirmative and negative covenants and events of default, including, subject to certain exceptions, restrictions on incuring
additional indebtedness, mendatory prepayment provisions associated with specified asset sales and dispositions, end limitations on i} investments; ii) certain
acquisitions, mergers or consolidations; iti) sale and leaseback transactions; iv) certain transactions with affiliates: and v) dividends and other payments in respect
of capital stock. The Company was in compliance with all debt covenants under its Exit Facilities as of December 31, 2008. Based on current forecasts, the
Company expects to be in compliance with the covenants under the Exit Facilities through December 31, 2009,

The Company’s subsidiaries in Brazil, France, Germany, Italy and Spain are party to accounts receivable factoring arrangements. Gross accounts receivable
factored under these tacilities were $222 million and $347 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Of those gross amounts, $209 mitlion and
$315 million, respectively. were factored without recourse and treated as a sale under FASB 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liahilities. Under terms of these factoring arrangements, the Company is not obligated to draw cash immediately upon the factoring of
accounts receivable. Thus, as of buth December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has outstanding factored amounts of $8 million for which cash has not yet been
drawn. Expenses associated with receivables factored are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within "Other income, net.”

Legal Proceedings
Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Iter 8 of this report, is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to market exposure from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and raw material
prices. To manage a portion of these inherent risks. the Company purchases various derivative financial instruments to hedge against unfavorable market
changes. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company is subject to the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates due to its global operations. The Company manufactures and sells its products
in North America, South America, Asia, Europe and Africa. As a result, the Company’s financial results could be significantly affected by factors such as
changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic cenditions in foreign markets in which the Company manufactures and distributes its products,
The Company s operating results are primarily exposed to changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dellar and European currencies.
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As currency exchange rates change, translation of the statements of vperations of the Company’s international businesses into United States dollars affects
vear-over-year comparabitity of operating results, The Company does not generally hedge operating translation risks because cash flows from intemational
aperations are generally reinvested locally. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates are generally reported as o component of stockholders” equity (deticit)
for the Company’s lureign subsidiarics reporting in local currencies and as a component of income for its foreign subsidiaries using the U.S, dollar as the
functional currency. The Company's other comprehensive income (loss) decreased by $248 million in 2008 and increased by $229 million in 2007 due to
cumulative translation adjustments resulting primarily from changes in the U.S. dollar to the curo and British pound.

As of Decenber 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s net current assets (defined as current assets less current liabilities) subject to foreign currency translation risk
were $733 million and $772 million, respectively, The potential decrease in net current assets from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in quoted foreign
currency exchange rates would be $73.3 million and $77.2 miltion, respectively. The sensitivity amlysis presented assumes a parallel shift in foreign currency
exchange rates. Exchange rates rarely move in the same direction. This assumption may overstate the impact of changing exchunge rates on individual assets and
liabilitics denominated in a fereign currency. :

‘The Company generally tries to utilize natural hedges within its foreign currency octivities, incliding the matching of revenues and costs, to minimize foreign
currency risk. Where natural hedges are not in place, the Company considers managing certain aspects of its foreign currency actrvities and larger transactions
through the use of foreign currency options or forward contracts. Principal currencies hedged have historically included the euro, British pound, Japanese yen and
Canadian dollar. These hedges were highly effective under SFAS 133 and their impact on earings was not significant during 2008, 2007 and 2006, The
Company had notional values of spproximately $5 million of foreign currency hedge contracts outstanding at both December 31, 2008 and 2007 that were
designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. Unrealized net gains of $1.0 million were recorded in aceumulated other comprehensive loss as of
December 31, 2008,

Interest Rate Risk

In connection with the Restructuring Proceedings and in accordance with SOP 90-7, the Predecessor Company ceased recording interest expense on its
outstanding pre-petition Netes, Medium-term Notes, and Senior Notes effective October |, 2001. The Predecessor Company’s contractual interest nat accrued or
paid was $161.9 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. The Predecessor Company continued to accrue and pay contractual interest on
the Senior Credit Agreement in the month incurred, totaling $128.7 million and $144.1 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

In connection with the consummation of the Plan, on the Effective Date, the Company entered into a ‘Term Loan and Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Exit
Facilities™). The Exit Facilities include a $540 million revolving credit facility (which is subject 1o a borrowing base and can be increased under cerlain
circumstances and subject to certitin conditions) and a $2,960 million term loan credit facility divided into a $1,960 million ranche B loan and a $1,000 million
tranche C loan. The Company borrowed $878 million under the term loan facility on the Effective Date and the remaining $2.082 million of term Joans were
drawn on January 3, 2008. As of the Effective Date, existing letters of credit under the Predecessor Company’s debtor-in-possession credit agreement in the
approximate amount of $34.3 million, and existing letters of credit issued under the Predecessor Company’'s prepetition credit facility in the approximate amount
of $39.4 million, were rolled over as letters of credit under the Exit Facilities.

The obligations under the revolving credit facility mature December 27, 2013 and bear interest rates that adjust in accordance with a pricing gnd based on
avaitability under the revolving credit tacility. Interest rates on the pricing grid range from LIBOR plus 1.50% to LIBOR plus 2.00%. The tranche B term loans
mature December 27, 2014 and the tranche C term loans mature December 27, 2013; provided, however, that in each case, such maturity may be shortened to
December 27, 2013 under certain citcumstances. All Exit Facilities term loans shall bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.9375% or at the ABR plus 0.9375% at the
Company’s election. To the extent that interest rates change by 25 basis points, the Company’s annual interest expense would show a corresponding change of
approximately $5 million.
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The Company, during 2008, entered into a series of five-year interest rate swap agreements with a total notional value of $1,190 million to hedge the variability
of interest payments associated with its variable-rate loans under the Exit Facilities. Through these swap agreements, the Company has fixed its interest rate at an
average interest rate of approximately 5.37% on the hedged principle amount of $1.190 million. Since the interest rate swaps hedge the variability of interest
payments on variable rate debt with the same terms, they quality for cash flow hedge accounting treatment. As of December 31, 2008, unrealized net lusses of
$66.6 million were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss as a result of these hedges. Hedge ineffectiveness, determined using the hypothetical
derivative method, was not material tor the year ended December 31, 2008, )

These interest rate swaps reduce the Company's overall interest rate risk. However, due to the remaining outstanding borrowings on the Company's Exit
Facilities and other borrowing facilities that continue to have variable interest rates, management belicves that interest rate risk 1o the Company could be material
tf"there are signiticant adverse changes in interest rates.

Commadity Price Risk

The Company is dependent upon the supply ot certain raw materials used in its production processes; these raw materials are exposed to price fluctuations on the
open market. ‘The primary purpose of the Company’s commodity price forward contract activity is to manage the volatility associated with these forecasted
purchases. The Company monitors its commodity price risk exposures regularly to maximize the overall effectiveness of its commaodity forward contracts,
including exposures related to natural gas, tin, brass, bronze. zinc. copper, nickel, lead. high-grade aluminum and aluminum alloy. Forward contracis are used to
mitigate commedity price risk associated with raw materials, generally related to purchases forecast for up to fifteen months in the future.

At December 31, 2006, the Predecessor Company had 54 commodity price hedge contracts outstanding that were not designated as accounting hedge contracts,
with a combined notional value of $55 millien and a fair value liability of approximately $3 million, During 2006 and through March 31, 2007, the Predecessor
Company recognized all changes in fair value of these hedges in current eamnings, resulting in unrealized gains of approximately $10 million recorded to “Other
income, net” for the three months ended March 31, 2007. Effective April 1, 2007, the Predecessor Company completed the required evaluation and
documentation to designate the majority of such contracts as cash tlow hedges.

The Company had 302 commodity price hedge contracts outstanding with a combined notional value of $21 million at December 31, 2008 that were designated
as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. As such, unrealized net losses of $33.0 million were recorded to other comprehensive loss as of December 31,
2008. Hedge ineffectiveness of $2.5 million determined using the hypothetical derivative method and loss in fair value of certain contracts not meeting hedge
accounting requirements of $3.6 million were recorded within “Other income, net” for the year-ended December 31, 2008.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIALREPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules |3a-15(t) and
15d-15¢5) under the U.S. Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, Under the supervision and with the participation of the principal executive and financial officers of
the Company. an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting was conducted based upon the framework in faternal Control —
Integrated Eramework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orpanizations (the “COSO Framework™) of the Treadway Commission. Based on the evaluation
performed under the COSO Framework as of December 31, 2008, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is
clfective.

Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31,
2008, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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[o1
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Federal-Mogul Corpuration

We have audited Federal-Mogul Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in firernaf
Control ~Integrated Framework issued by the Commuitice of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Federal-Mogul
Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting inctuded in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting included as ltem 8. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards ot the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Thuse standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of intemnal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material wezkness exists. testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contro! based on the assessed risk. and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the ctrcumstances. We believe that vur audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally aecepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with qutherizations of management and directors of the company: and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or umely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Federal-Mogul Corporation maintained, in ali material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consotidated balance sheets of
Federal-Mogul Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 (Successor), and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’
equity {deficit), and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2008 (Successor), and 2007 and 2006 {Predecessor), and our report dated February 24, 2009
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fs/ Ernst & Young LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 24, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

“T'o the Board of Directors and Sharcholders of
Federal-Mogul Corporation

We have audited the accompanying sonsolidated balance sheets of Federal-Mogul Corporation and substdiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2008 and
2007 (Successor). and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders equity (deficit), and cash fows for the years ended December 31, 2008
(Suceessor), and 2007 and 2006 (Predecessor), Our audits also inciuded the financial statement schedule listed in the index ot itlem 15(a). These tinancial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements ure free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining.
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financizl statement presentation, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion,

In our apinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly. in all material respeets, the consolidated financial position of Federal-Mogul
Cotporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash Hows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statenents taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As dJiscussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on November 8, 2007, the U.S. Bankruptey Court entered an order confirming the Plan of
Reorganization, which became effective on December 27, 2007, Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code. for the Successor as a new
entity with assets, liabilities and a capital structure having carrying values not comparable with prior periods as described in Note 3.

As discussed in Notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, the Predecessor changed its method of accounting for pensions and other postretirement
plans in 2006 and tax uncertainties in 2007, respectively.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s internal control aver
financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Iniernal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 24, 2009 expressed an unkjualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ermnst & Young LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 24, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
208 2007 2006
{Milliens of Dailars,
Except Per Share Amounts}

Net sales $ 68636 $ 69139 § 63264
Cost of products sold {5,741.9} {5.729.3) {5221.2)
Gross margin 1,123.7 1,184.6 1,105.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses (774.1) (8282) (848.2)
Adjustment of assets to tair vatue 451.9) (61.3) (45.9)
Interest expense, net (180 2) (199.1) (205.8)
Amortization expense (75.7) {18.9) (17.7)
Chapter i1l and U.K. Administration related reorganization expenses, net (17.1) (80.7) (95.1)
Equity eamnings of unconsolidated atfiliates 23.7 379 328
Restructuring expense. net (132.1) (<81 (66.4)
Settlement of U.K. pension plans — —_ (500.43
Gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise - 760.7 —
Fresh-start reporting adjustments — 956.1 —
Other income, net 339 40.9 279
(Loss) income before income taxes {(4H49.2) 1,744.| (613.6)
Income tax (expense) benefit (187) {331.8) 64.0
Net (loss) income - : 5 (467.9) - $ 14123 5 (349.6)
053} Ing Per Col ‘ .

Basic $ (4.69) $ i574 3__(615)
Diluted $ {4.69) $ 1546 $ (615

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Curent Assets

Property. plant and equipment, net

Gioodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets
Definite-lived intangible assets, net

Other noncurrent assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Short-term debt, ineluding current portion of long-term debt

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Current portion of posternploy ment benefit liability

Other current liabitities
Total Current Liabilities

L.ong-term debt

Postemployment benefits

Long-term portion of deferred income taxes
Other accrued liabilities

Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries

Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock (§.01 par value: 90.000,000 authorized shares; none issued)
Common stock ($.01 par value; 450,100,000 authorized shares, 100,500,000 issued shares; 99,450,000 and 100,500,000
outstanding shares as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital, including warrants
Accumulated deticit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock, at cost
Total Shareholders’ Equity

See accompanying notes te consolidated financial statements.
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Successor

1hecember 36

2008

2007

{Millions of Dollars)

§ 3382 $ 4254
938.7 1.095.9
8937 1,074.3
2674 3364

29830 3.122.0
19106 2,061.8
1.430.4 1.852.0
5639 3100
3427 520.5

$ 72356 $ 7.866.3

$ 1017 $ 178
6225 7266
483.1 496.0

61.0 61.2
173 8 167.3
14421 1,568.9
2.768.0 25176
1.240.4 936.5
5534 33la
2359 3003
45.0 875
1.0 1.0
21227 21227
(467.9) —
(688.0) —
{16.7) —
9511 21237
$ 72356 § 7.866.3




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Provided From (Used By) Operating Activities
Net ¢loss} income
Adjustments to reconcile net {loss) income to net cash provided from (used by) operating activities:
Drepreciation and amortization
Garmn on settlement of Liabilities subject to compromise
Fresh-start reporiing adjustments
Loss on settlement of U.K. pension plans
Payments of discharge in U.K, CVA settlement
Payments from (to) U.S. Asbestos Trust
Payment of interest on pre-petition debt and notes
Payments to settle non-debt liabilities subject to compromise
Chapter i1 and U.K. Administration related reorganization expenses
Payments for Chapter }! and U.K. Administration related reorganization expenses
Adjustment of assets to fair vilue
Restructuring charges, net
Payments against restructuring reserves
Gain on involuntary conversion
Insurance proceeds from involuntary conversion, excluding capital
Gain on sale of assets and businesses
Change in postemployment benetits, inciuding pensions
Change in deferred taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable -
[nventortes
Accounts payable
Other assets and liabilities
Net Cash Provided From (Used By) Operating Activitics

Cash Provided From {Used By) Investing Activities
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Insurance proceeds from involuntary conversion of capital
Net proceeds from the sale of businesses
Proceeds from sale of investments
Payments to acquire business

Net Cash Used By Investing Activities’

Cash Provided From (Used By} Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of emergence debt
Repayment of Tranche A, Revolver and PIK notes
Payments to Predecessor Company lenders
Proceeds from borrowings on DIP credit facility
Principal payments on DIP credit facility
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt
DPecrease in long-term debt .

Change in restricted cash
Treasury stock purchase -
Net (payments) proceeds from factoring arrangements
Debt refinance fees:
Debt issuance fees
Net Cash Provided From Financing Activities

Etfect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on cash
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents
Cash and ecquivalents at beginning of year

Cash and equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 HT
1Millions of Dollars)
$ 1679 0§ 14123 $ (5349.6)
3495 3537 3289
— {760.7) _
— {956.3) —
- — 500.4
— — (744.1)
225.0 (140.0) . —
— (132.3) —
(22.9) (44.0) ——
17.1 §0.7 95.1
(47.9) (74.8) (76.7)
4513 61.3 459
132.1 48.1 66.4
(40.4) (66.7) (55.2)
(12.2) —_ —
240 — —
—_— (8.2) 3.8)
(10.8) 786 936
488 2600 144
£9.5 {46.6) ' 266
i21.6 14.8 (21.6)
{61.3) 1236 37.7
(168.1) {169.0) (239.7)
6274 345 4217
(319.8) (309.5) (237.4)
12,5 258 225
60 L e
— 14.0 7.8
- 138 . —_
4.7 {6.8) {32.3)
(306.0) (262.7) (239.4)
20820 26688 —_
{(1,790.8) — _
— (2,700.7) —_—
— 669.4 290.4
— (360.4) - (490.0)
(29.5) 65.7 (12.1)
(40.6)- (15.0) (1.3}
- — 762.3
(18.7y C - —
(71 (43.0) 59.4
(0.8) — _
== {19.8) {0.8)
196.5 265.0 607.9
(35.1) 29.3 253
462.8 66.1 (27.9)
4254 3593 31872
$ 888.2 $§ 4354 $ 3593




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance at Junuary 1, 2006, Predecessor
Net loss
Currency translation; net of tax
Minimum pension Hability, net of tax
Total Comprehensive Income
Statement No. 1538 transition, net of tax
Stock compensation
Balance at December 31, 2006, Predecessor

Net income
Currency translation, net of tax
Detined benefit plans, net of tax -
Hedge instruments, net of tax
Tota! Comprehensive Income
Adopticn of FIN 48
Stock compensation
Conversion of mandatorily redeemable securities, net
Balance at December 31, 2007, Predecessor

Fresh-start reporting adjustments: .

Cancellation of Predecessor preferred and common
stock '

Elimination of Predecessor accutmulated deficit and
accumulated other comprehensive income

Issuance of new equity, including warrants, in
connection with emergence from Chapter 11

Balance at December 31, 2007, Successor

Net loss-
Currency translation, net of tax
Defined benefit plans, net of tax
Hedge instruments, net of tax
Total Comprehensive Loss
Purchase of treasury stock
Balance at December 31, 2008, Successor

Series C Accumulzted
ESOP Additional Retained Other Tressury
Preferred Common Paid-in Earnings Comprehensive Stock,
Stock. Stock Capital {Deficit) Income (Losy) at Cost Total
$ 280 § 4453 S 20546 3§ (36021 § (L4588 — 8 (2,433.0)
(349.6) (549.6}
2231 2231
1,160.0 1.160.0
833.5
(154.0) {154.0)
56 56
28.0 +H5.3 2,160.2 (4,15L.7) 229.7) —_ {1,747.9)
14123 1,4123
2229 2229
143.9 1439
(9.3) (9.3)
1,769.8
(13.8) (13.8)
69 6.9
40 36.4 40.4
28.0 449.3 2,203.% (2,753.2) 127.8. - 554
(28.0) . {445.3) (2,203.5) {2,680.8}
27532 (127.8} 2,6254
1.0 21227 21237
— 1.0 2,122.7 — —_ — 2,123.7
(467.9) L {467.%)
(251.6) {251.6)
S (3410 (341.0)
(95.4) (93.4)
(1.155.9)
(16.7} {16.7)
b — 5 1.0 8 21227 § (467.9) $ (638.0y $ (1673 $__ 9511

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial staternents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Finencial Statenrent Presentation: The predecessor to Federal-Mogul Corporation, (the “Predecessor Company ™™ or the “Predecessor”} und all of its then-existing
wholly-owned United States subsidiartes {“11.5. Subsidiaries™) filed voluntary petitions on October 1, 2001 for reorganization under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the
United States Code (the "Bankruptey Code”) with the Unmited States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptey Court”™). On October I,
2001, certain of the Predecessor Company's United Kingdom subsidiaries (together with the U.S. Subsidiaries, the “Debtors”) tiled voluntary petitions for
reorganization under the Bankruptey Code with the Bankruptey Court. On November 8, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court entered an Order (the “Confirmation
Order™) confirming the Fourth Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization for Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession (as Modified) (the “Plan™) and entered Findings of
Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding the Plan (the “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law™). On November 14, 2007, the United States District Court for
the District of Delaware entered an order affirning the Confirmation Order and adopting the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. On December 27, 2007,
the Plan became etfective in accordance with its terms (the “Effective Date™). On the Eifective Date. the Predecessor Company merged with and into New
Federal-Mogul Corporation whereupon (i) the separate corporate existence of the Predecesser Company ¢eased, (i) New Federal-Mogul Corporation became the
surviving corporation and continues Lo be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware and (iii) New Federal-Mogul Corpuration was renamed “Federal-Mogul
Corpuoration” talso referred to as “Federal-Mogul™, the “Company ™, the “Successor Company ™, or the “Successor™).

The consolidated financial statements for the period the Predecessor Company was in Bankruptey were prepared in accordance with AICPA Statement of
Position 90-7 ("SOP 90-7"), Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization wnder the Bunkruptcy Cade, and on a going concern basis, which contemplated
continuity of operations and realization of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP™), the Company was required to adopt fresh-start reporting
clfective upon emergence trom bankruptey on December 27, 2007, The Company evaluated the activity between December 27, 2007 and December 31, 2007
and, based upon the immateriadity of such activity, concluded that the use of an accounting convenience date of December 31, 2007 was appropriate. As such,
fresh-start reporting has been applied as of that date. Financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2006 do not reflect the impact of any changes in the
Company’s capital structure or changes in the estimated fair values of assets and liabilities as a result of fresh-start reporting. For further information on
fresh-start reporting, see Note 3.

Principles of Consolidation: The Company consolidates into its financial statements the accounts of the Company, all wholly-owned subsidiaries, and any
partially-owned subsidiary that the Company has the ability to control. Control generally equates to ownership percentage, whereby investments that are more
than 50% owned are consolidated, investments in affiliates of 50% or less but greater than 20% are generally accounted for using the equity method, and
investments in aftiliates of 20% or less are accounted for using the cost method. The Company does not hold a controlling interest in any entity based on
exposure to economic risks and potential rewards (variable interests) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Further, the Company s joint ventures
are businesses established and maintained in connection with the Company's operating strategy and are not special purpose ¢ntities.

Use of Estimates: 'The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that afTect the
amounts reported therein. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may be based upon amounts that
ditTer from these estimates.

Cush and Eguivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
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Trade Accounts Receivable amd Atfowance for Doubtful Accounts: Trade accounts receivable are stated at historical value, which approximates fair value. The
Company does not generally require collateral for its trade accounts receivable.

Prior to the application of tresh-start reporting, accounts receivable were reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. This
estimated allowance is based primarily on management s evuluation of specific balances as the balances become past due. the financial condition of its customers
and the Company's historical experience of wrile-offs. The Company’s general policy for uncatlectible accounts, if not reserved through specific examination
procedures, is to reserve based upon the aging cutegories of accounts receivable and whether amounts are due from an OEM or aftermarket customner. Past due
status is based upon the invoice date of the original amounts outstanding. Included in selling, general and administration ("SG&A™) expenses are bad debt
expense of $6.2 million for.the year ended December 31, 2008, had debt expense of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, and net bad debt
recoveries of $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, The Successor Company s allowance for doubttul accounts was $26.8 million at December 31,
2008. The Predecessor Company’s allowunce for doubtful accounts was $24.0 million at December 31, 2007. Upon the adoption of fresh-start reponting, the
allowance for doubtful accounts was reset to zero with a coresponding reduction in gross accounts receivable.

Federal-Mogul subsidiaries in Brazil, France, Germany, Italy and Spain are party to accounts receivable factoring arrangements. Gross accounts receivable
factored under these facifities were $222 million and $347 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Of those gross amounts, $209 million and
$315 million, respectively, were factored without recourse and treated as a sale under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS”) No. 140,
Accownting for Transfers and Servicing of Finarcial Assets and Extinguishmenis of Liabilities. Under terms of these factoring arrangements, the Company is not
obligated to draw cash immediately upon the factoring of accounts receivable. Thus, as of both December 31, 2008 and 2007, cash has not yet been drawn refated
to outstanding factored amounts of $8 miliion. Expenses associated with receivables factored are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within
“Other {(income) expense, net.”

Inventories: Prior to emerging from bankruptey, the Predecessor Company valued inventory at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on a first-in,
first-out (“FIFO™) basis primarily outside the United States and on a last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis for specific U.5. subsidiaries based upon the use of such
valuation methodolugy a1 the time those subsidiaries were acquired. The Predecessor Company used the LIFQ method to determine cost for 40% of its inventory
at December 31, 2007, with the remaining inventory being costed using the FIFO method. If all inventories had been valued at current cost, amounts reported
prior to fresh-start reporting would have been increased by $76.8 million as of December 3§, 2007.

Upon emergence from bankruptey, the Successor Company adopted the FIFO inventory valuation methodelogy as its accounting policy for all inventory, As a
result of both the adoption of the FIFO inventory valuation methodology and the application of fresh-start reporting. the Predecessor Company LIFO and other
inventory reserves were eliminated as of December 31, 2007. The value of inventories has also been reduced for excess and obsolete inventories based on
management’s review of on-hand inventories cempared to historical and estimated future soles and usage.

Lang-Lived Assets: As a result of fresh-start reporting, long-lived assets such as property. plant and equipment have been stated at estimated replacement cost as
of December 31, 2007. untess the expected future use of the assets indicated a lower value was appropriate. Definite-lived intangible assets have been stated at
estimated fair value as of December 31, 2007. Prior to the application of fresh-start reporting, long-lived assets were stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization
is computed principally by the straighi-tine methad for financial reporting purposes and by accelerated methods for income tax purposes. Definite-lived assets are
periodically reviewed for impairment indicators. If impairment indicators exist, the Company performs the required analysis and records an impairment charge. if
required, in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. If the carrying volue of a long-lived asset is
considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of the long-lived asset exceeds its estimated fair value.

Inddefinite-lived Intangible Assets: As of December 31, 2007, indefinite-lived intangible assets, primarily consisting of goodwill and trademarks, were stated at
estimated fair value as a result of fresh-start reporting. Prior to the
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application of fresh-start reporting, indefinite-lived intangible assets were carried at historical value. Indefinite-lived imtangible assets are reviewed for
tmpairment annually as of October 1, or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, Accounting for Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assers, the impairment analysis compares the estimated fair value of these assets 10 the related carrying value, and an impairment charge is recorded
tor any excess of carrying value over estimated fair value. The estimated fair value is based upon consideration of various valuation methodologies, including
guideline ransaction multiples, multiples of current ¢amings, and projected future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the nisk involved.

Pension and Other Postemployment Obligations: Pension and other postemployment benefit costs are dependent upon assumptions used in caleulating such
costs. These assumptions include discount rates, health care cost trends, expected retumns on plan assets, and other facters. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, actual
results that differ from the assumptions used are accumulated and amortized over tuture periods and, accordingly, generally aftect recognized expense and the
recorded obligation in future periods.

Revenue Recognition: The Company records sales when products are shipped and title has transferred to the customer, the sates price is fixed and determinable,
and the collectibility of revenue is reasonably assured. Accruals for sales returns and other allowances are provided at the time of shipment based upon past
experience. Adjustments to such retums and allowances are made as new information becomes available.

Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company recognizes shipping and handling costs as a component of cost of products sold in the statement of operations.

Engineering and Tooling Cests: Pre-production tooling and engineering costs that the Company will not own and that will be used in producing products under
long-term supply arrangements are expensed as incurred unless the supply arrangement provides the Company with the noncancelable right to use the tools. or
the reimbursement of such costs is agreed 1o by the customer. Pre-production tooling costs that are owned by the Company are capitalized as part of machinery
and equipment, and are depreciated over the shorter of the tool’s expected life or the duration of the related program.

Research and Development and Advertising Costs: The Company expenses research and development (“R&D™) costs and costs associated with advertising and
promotion as incurred. R&D expense, including product engineering and validation costs, was $173.3 million, $178.3 million and $162.0 miltion for the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, As a percentage of OEM sales, R&D expense was 4% for each of the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007, and 2006. Advertising and promotion expense for continuing operations was $46.1 million, $48.4 million and $55.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Restructiring: The Company defines restructuring expense to include costs directly related to exit or disposal activities accounted for in accordance with SFAS
No. 146, Accownting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, employee severance costs incurred as a result of an exit or disposal activity accounted
for in accordance with SFAS Nos. 88 and 112, and pension and other postemployment benetit costs incusred as a result of an exit or disposal activity accounted
for in accordance with SFAS Nos. 87 and 106. “

Rebates/Sales Incentives: The Company accrues for rebates pursuant to specific arrangements with certain of its customers, primarily in the aftermarket. Rebates
generally provide for price reductions based upon the achievement of specitied purchase volumes and are recorded 25 a reduction of sales as earned by such
customers,

Foreign Currency Transiation: Exchange adjustments related to international currency transactions and translation adjustments for international subsidiaries
whose functional currency is the United States dollar (principally those located in highly inflationary economies) are reflected in the consolidated statements of
operations. Translation adjustments of international subsidiaries for which the local currency is the functional currency are reflected in the consolidated balance
sheets as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. Deferred taxes are not provided on transiation adjustments as the eamnings of the subsidiaries
are considered to be permanently reinvested. As a result of fresh-start reporting, the December 31, 2007 balance of accumulated other comprehensive income of
the Successor Company was reset 10 zero.

Environmental Liabilities: The Company recognizes environmental liabilities when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable, Such liabilities are generally not
subject to insurance coverage. Engineering and legal
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specialists within the Company estimate each environmental obligation based on current law and existing technologies. Such estimates are buscdrprimnrily upon
the estimated cost of investigation and remediation required and the likelihood that other potentially responsible parties will be able w fulfill their commitments
at the sites where the Company may be jointly and severally liable with such parties. The Company regularly evaluates and revises its estimates for
environmental obligations based on expenditures against established reserves and the availabitity of additional information.

Conditional Asses Retivement (bligations: The Company records conditional asset retirement cbligations ("CARQ") in accordance with FASB Interpretation
No. 47, dccounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligntions — an Interpretation of FASH Swtement No. 143 (°TIN 477). FIN 47 clarities that the term
CARO refers to a legal obligation o perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of setttement are conditional on a tuture event. FIN
47 also clarilies that an entity 1s required to recognize a liabitity for the estimated fair value of a CAROQ when incurred if the fair value can be reasonably
estimated. The Company s primary assel retirement activities relate to the removal of hazardous building matertals at its facilities. The Company records the
CARO liability when the amount can be reasonably estimated, typically upon the expectation that a facility may be closed or sold.

Derivative Financial Instruments: The Company uses interest rate swaps, currency swaps and commodity forward contracts to manage volatility of underlying
exposures. The Company recognizes such derivatives on its balance sheet at fair value. The Predecessor Company's outstanding derivatives contracts were nut
considered hedging instruments for accounting purposes as of December 31, 2006 and changes in the fair value were taken directly to the income statement. [n
March 2007, the Predecessor Company designated the majority of its owtstanding derivative financial instruments as hedges in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, dccowing for Derivative Instrionents and [edging Activities, as amended and interpreted. Effective April 1, 2007,
changes in fair value are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and rectassed into operations upon hedge instrument maturity. The
Compuny does not hald or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. ‘The Company’s objectives for holding derivatives are to
minimize risks using the most effective and cost-ctficient methods available. Hedge inelfectiveness is determined using the hypothetical derivative method, and
such amounts are vrecognized in earnings immediately.

Adoption of new accounting proncuncements; In April 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued FASB Statt Position FIN 39-1
(“FSP 35-17), Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39, Offsetting of Amounts Reluted 1o Certain Contracts. FSP 39-1 permits entities to offset fair value
amounts recognized for multiple derivative instruments executed with the same counterparty under a master netting agreement. FSP 39-1 clarifies that the fair
value amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral, or the obtigation to return cash collateral, arising from the same master netting arrangement,
should also be offiset against the fair value of the related dertvative instruments. In addition, this FSP requires an entity to make an accounting policy decision io
present these amounts at either their gross or net values. FSP 39-1 15 ettective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after
November 15, 2007. The Company has historically presented alt of its derivative pesitions and any related material collateral under master netting agreements on
a net basis consistent with the guidance in FIN 39 and FSP 39-1. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consoliduted
financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Starements, which requires that ownership interests in
subsidiaries hetd by parties other than the parent are clearly identified. In addition, SFAS 160 requires that the amount of consolidated net income attributable to
the parent and to the noncontrolling interest be clearly identified and presented on the face of the statement of operations. SFAS 160 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008, The adoption of SFAS 160 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated tinancial position, results of operations or cash flows,

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133,
which requires enhanced disclosures about an entity's derivative and hedging activities and therchy improves the transparency of financial reporting. SFAS 161
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early adoption encouraged. The
Company continues to evaluate the provisions of this standard and anticipates adopting this standard as of January 1, 2009.
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Reclassifications: Certain items in the prior years® financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the presentation used in 2008.

2. REOQRGANIZATION UPON EMERGENCE FROM CHAPTER 11 PROCEEDINGS

Background

On October 1, 2001 (the “Petilion Date™), the predecessor to Federal-Mogul Corporation and all of its then-existing wholly-owned United States subsidiaries
filed voluntary penitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptey Code with the Bankruptey Court. Also on October |, 2001, 133 athliates of
Predecessor Federal-Mogul incorporated under the laws of England and Wales filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptey
Code in the Bankruptey Court and commenced administration proceedings in the High Court of justice, Chancery Division, in London, England under the United
Kingdom I[nsolvency Act 1986. An additional aitiliate of Predecessor Federal-Mogul sncorporated under the laws of Scotland tiled a voluntary petition for
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankrupicy Court on the Petition Date, and commenced administration proceedings betore the
Court of Session in Edinburgh, Scotland in April 2002.

Predecessor Federal-Mogul, together with its United States and United Kingdom affiliates that commenced bankruptey proceedings in the United States and
administration proceedings in the United Kingdom, are referred to collectively as the “Debtors”, Subsidiaries of Predecessor Federal-Mogul other than the
aforementioned U.S. and U.K. subsidiaries were not party to any insolvency proceedings and operated in the normal course during the pendeney of the Chapter
11 Cases and the U.K. administration proceedings.

Following a Confirmation Hearing that began on June 18, 2007 and concluded on October 2, 2007, and following the consensual resolution of various legal
objections to confirmation of the Fourth Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization {As Modified) for Predecessor Federal-Mogul and centain of its affiliates (the
“Plan™), the Bankruptcy Court entered an order on November 8, 2007 confirming the Plan and entered detailed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with
respect to the Plan. On November 14, 2007, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware (the " District Court™) entered an erder affirming the
Confimmation Order and adopting the Findings of Fuct and Conclusions of Law. The Confirmation Order became final and non-appealable thirty days after its
affirmance by the District Court. The Plan became cffective in accordance with its terms on December 27, 2007 (the “Effective Date™).

On the Effective Date, the Predecessor Company merged with and into New Federal-Mogul Corporatien, a Detaware Corporation, whereupon (i} the separate
corporate existence of the Predecessor Company ceased, (ii} New Federal-Megul Corporation became the surviving corporation and continues to be governed by
the laws of the State of Delaware and (iii) New Federal-Mogul Corporation was renamed “Federal-Mogul Corporation” {“Federal-Mogul™, the “Company”, the
“*Successor Company”, or the “Successor™).

From October 1, 2001 through December 27, 2007, the Debtors operated their businesses as debtors-in-possession in 2ccordance with the Bankruptey Code. The
chapter 11 cases of the Debtors {collectively, the “Chapter 11 Cases™) were jointly administered under Case No. 01-10578(JKF). The Debtors filed for relief
under Chapter 11 in respense to a sharply increasing number of asbestos-related claims and their demand on the Debtors’ cash flows and liquidity.

Company Voluntary Arrangements and Discharge of U.K. Administration Proceedings

The commencement of the administration proceedings in the United Kingdom resulted in the appointment of certain sdministrators (the “Administrators"} to
oversee the businesses of the Debtors that were incorporated under the laws of England and Wales (the “U.K. Debtors™). Predecessor Federal-Mogul, the
Administrators of the U.K. Debtors and the co-proponents of the Plan (the **Plan Proponents”) entered into an agreement on September 26, 2005 outlining the
terms and conditions of distributions to creditors of the U.K. Debtors (the “U.K. Settlement Agreement™). A copy of the UK. Settlement Agreement was filed
with the SEC on Form 8-K on September 30, 2005.
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The U.K. Settlement Agreement contemplated the proposal by the Administrators of Company Voluntary Amangements {“CVAs™) for centain of the UK.
Debtars. which CVAs would fotlow the basic terms specified in the UK. Settlement Agreement. In mid-2006, the Administrators proposed CVAs for 31 of the
U.K. Debtors (the “CVA Debtors™). Following approval of the CVAs by the requisite majorities of creditors and sharcholders, the CVAs became citective an
October 11, 2006, resolving claims (other than those dealt with by the Plan) against the principal UK. Debtors.

Upon the 2006 effective date of the CVAs, the Predecessor Company transferred to the Administrators approximately £750 million for:
(i) setilement of claims relating to two U.K. pension schemes;

{ii) settlement of general unsecured claims against the CVA Debtors (other than certain unsecured claims specifically excluded pursuant to the terms of
the CVAs),

(iii} setlement of asbestos property damage claims pavable under the CVAs;

(iv) distribution to a U.K. asbestos trust established under the CVAs for payment to holders of asbestos-related personal injury claims against the CVA
Debtors arising from exposure to asbestos that accurred in whole or predominantly in the United Kingdom, Australia and certain other countrics as
specified in the CVAs (“CVA Asbestos Claims”), and

{v} other miscellaneous C VA-related matters, such as expenses relating to the administration and operation of the CVAs and the U.K. asbestos trust,

The trustees of the UK, asbestos trust wilt pay dividends to holders of CVA Asbestos Claims from the UK. asbestos trust. Amounts paid by the Predecessor
Company to fund the U.K. asbestes trust were recorded by the Predecessor Company as a reduction to asbestos liabilities subject to compromise, Amounts paid
to settle claims relating to the U.K. pension plans first reduced the recorded Hability to zero, with the payment in excess of the recorded liability recorded as a
settlement charge, approximating $500 million, in the Predecessor Company’s 2006 Consolidated Statement of Operations.

On December 1. 2006, the discharge of the administration proceedings for the principal UK. Debtors became effective. That discharge ended those UK.
Debtors” administration proceedings. On February 6, 2008, the High Court of Justice in London, England approved the discharge of the administration
proceedings for all 70 of the U.K. Debtors that did not have CVAs and whose administration proceedings were in cffect as of that date. The Company intends to
have those remaining 70 U.K. Debtors, viruaily all of which are dormant entities, either liquidated under the laws of England and Wales or struck from the
English register of companies in the near term. The discharge of those U.K. Debtors administration proceedings will be effective immediately before the passage
of a resolution to liquidate the U.K. Debtor in question or-the making of an application to strike off the U.K. Debtor in question.

Plan of Reorganization

In early 2007, the Debtors and other Plan Proponents solicited votes to accept or reject the Plan through a process approved by the Bankruptcy Court. The Plan
Proponents comprised the overwhelming majority of significant stakeholders in the Chapter 11 Cases, inctuding representatives of (i) the holders of current and
future asbestos-related personal injury claims against the Debtors, (ii} the holders of unsecured claims against the Debtors, (iii) the holders of equity interests in
Predecessor Federal-Mogul, and (iv) the holders of obligations incurred under Predecessor Federal-Mogul s pre-Petition Date secured credit factlity.

On June 15, 2007, the Debtors’ voting agent filed the results of the Plan voting process with the Bankruptcy Court, which showed that all ¢lasses of claima
against and equity interests in the Debtors voted to accept the Plan by margins in excess of the Bankruptcy Code requirements for plan acceptance, All classes of
asbestos personal injury claims voted to accept the Plan by margins in excess of those required for the imposition of an asbestos trust and channeling injunction
pursuant to section 524(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. The legal representative for future asbestos claimants also supported approval of the Plan.

The Plan provides for distributions of cash and/or securities to be made to holders of pre-Petition Date claims against the Debtors as well as certain ¢laims that
arose during the pendency of the Chapter 1| Cases. Key provisions of the Plan, including significant distributions to implement the Ptan, include the following:

+ On the Effective Date, the Company distributed all of its newly-issued Class B Cammen Stock (representing 50.1% of all of its newly-issued common
stock) to the U.S. Asbestos Trust (defined below), subject to the Company retaining possessory security interests in certain of that stock to secure
obligations of the U.S. Asbestos Trust to the Company. The Company also distributed certain insurance-related rights and proceeds to the U.S,
Asbestos Trust on the Effective Date.
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* On the Effective Date, the Company distributed all of its Class A Common Stock {representing 49.9% of all of its newly-issued common stock) to a
disbursing agent for further distribution to the holders of Predecessor Federal-Mogul's pre-bankrupicy note debt and to those holders of unsecured
claims against Predecessor Federal-Mogu! and its U.S. Debtor subsidiaries that elected under the Plan to receive a stock distribution in lieu of a cash
distribution on account of their claims.

+  On the Effective Date, the Company issued new Tranche A term loans in the approximate amount of $1,334.6 million and senior subordinated third
priority payment-in-kind notes ("PIK Notes™) in the approximate amount of $305 million to satisfy claims under Predecessor Federal-Mogul's
pre-Petition Date secured credit facility and pre-Petition Date claims on account of certain surety bonds. The new Tranche A term loans were repaid
and the PIK Notes were redeemed by the Company on Junuary 3, 2008 (rom proceeds of its new Etfective Date Exit Facilities.

» On the Effective Date, the Company repaid approximately $761.0 million in obligations under the debtor-in-possession financing facility entered into
during the Chapter |1 Cases.

»  On the Effective Date, the Company paid approximately $132.3 million for seulement of an Administrative Expense Claim (as defined in the Plan) on
account of adequate protection payments owed to the holders of Predecessor Federal-Mogul's notes issued prior to the Petition Date.

*  On orafter the Effective Date, the Company distributed 6,931 871 warrants (the “Warrants™) to the disbursing agent for further distribution to holders
of common stock, convertible preferred stock, and convertible subordinated debentures (following the deemed conversion of such debentures under the
Plan} of Predecessor Federal-Mogul that were cancelled under the Plan. Each Warrant provides the holder thereof with the right to purchase one share
of Class A Common Stock of the Company at $45.815 per share from the Effective Date through December 27, 2014,

The Plan further provides that holders of general unsecured claims against the U.S, Debtors that did not elect to receive distributions of Class A Common Stock
on account of their claims will receive cash distributions totaling 35% of the allowed amount of their claims, subject to reduction in the event the total amount of
such claims, aRer considering the value of distributions of Class A Common Stock in lieu of cash, exceeds $258 million. Those distributions will be made in
three annual installments. The first installment payments were made to holders of unsecured claims against the U.S. Debtors during March 2008. The Company
has reserved approximately $51 million and $72 million for payment of unsecured claims against the U.S. Debtors for the yeors ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively. Because such payments are expected to be made through early 2010, $21 miilion and $41 million of the amounts reserved have been
classified as long-term for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Plan also provides that payments will be made 10 holders of certain allowed Administrative Expense Claims (as defined in the Plan) and professional
advisors in the Chapter |1 Cases. The Company has reserved approximately $43.7 million for payment of such claims, including $33.3 million for professional
fees accrued by the Predecessor Company.

Establishment and Operation of the U.S. Asbestos Trust and U.K. Asbestas Trust

Section 524(g) of the Bankruptcy Code provides in general terms that, if certain specified conditions are satisfied, a court may as part of a bankruptcy plan of
reorganization issue a permanent injunction preventing entitics from taking legal action against a debtor to collect, recover, or receive payment on
asbestos-related claims where the bankruptey plan provides that those claims are to be paid by an asbestos trust established under section 324(g) of the
Bankruptcy Code.
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On the Effective Date. in accordance with the Plan, an asbestos personal injury trust qualitying under section 324(g) uf the Bankruptcy Code (the “U.S. Asbestos
Trust”) was created. Pursuant 10 and on the terms specified in the Plan and the Contirmation Order. the U.5. Ashestes Trust has assumed liability for all
asbestos-related personal injury claims of the Debtors. The U.S. Asbestas Trust will make payments to holders of asbestos personal injury claims in accordance
with the trust distribution procedures that were tiled with the Bankruptey Court as an exhibit 10 the Plan, with the exception of asbestos-related personal injury
claims against the U K. Debtors that are 1o be evaluated and paid by the U K. Asbestos Trust. The Plan contains an injunction issued by the Bankrupicy Court
and affirmed by the District Court pursuant to section 524(g) of the Bankruptey Cuode that expressly lorbids any and all actions against the Debtors, their
respective subsidiaries, and certain of their affiliates. for the purpose of, directly or indirectly, collecting, recovering of receiving payments or recovery with
respect to all direct or indirect claims relating to asbestos-related personal injury claims.

The CVAs established a UK. Asbestos Trust which shall provide for the sole and exclusive treatment and payment of the CVA Asbeslos Claims. The UK.
Asbestus Trust is separate from the U.S. Asbestos Trust, and was funded by the Predecessor Company when the CVAs became citective in 2006.

As part of the Plan, the U.S. Asbestos Trust issued on the Effective Date a note in the amount of $125 million to the Company. ‘The issuance of that note reflected
the fact that certain of the asbestos personal injury claims that had been anticipated to be paid from the U.S. Asbestos Trus! prior to entry into the U.K. Glubal
Settlement will instead be poid from the UK, Asbestos Trust, which had been previously funded by the Predecessor Company. The $125 million note had a
maturity date of January 11, 2008 and was repayable in either cash or through the Company taking ownership of 6,958,333 shares of Class B Common Stock of
the Company that were pledged to secure the $125 million note. The note was repaid by the ULS. Asbestos Trust on the maturity date.

Pneumo Abex Settlement and Ongoing Bankruptcy-Related Matters

The Plan contemplated that one of two alternative scitlements would be implemented by and between certain of the Debtors, on the one hand, and Cooper
Industries, LLC (“Cooper™). Pneumo Abex LLC (*Pneumo Abex™), and certain of their aftiliates, on the vther hand. The first of these alternatives was known as
the “Plan A" Settlement and was detailed in an addendum of additional provisions filed with the Plan (as subsequently amended, the “Addendum™). The Plan A
Settlement contemplated in general terms that Cooper and Pneumo Abex would make a combined contribution of $756 million, ptus the contribution of certain
rights and additional consideration, to the U.S, Asbestos Trust, which would be placed into a segregated subfund of the U.S. Asbestos Trust tor the satisfaction of
Preumo Asbestos Claims (as defined in the Addendum). Pneumo Asbestos Claims would be payable exclusively trom such subfund, and a court injunction
would prevent the assertion of Pneumo Asbestos Claims against any of the Pneumo Protected Parties (as defined in the Addendum).

The second alternative settlement was the “Plan B” Settlement, pursuant to which the U,S. Asbestos Trust would pay $138 million to Cooper and $2 miliion to
Preumo Abex in satisfaction of the indirect asbestos claims of those entities and their affilintes against the Debtors. Under that settlement, the Pneumo Protected
Parties (including Cooper and Pneumo Abex) would not receive the benefit of any court injunctions, and Preumo Asbestos Claims would remain assertable
against them in the tort system. Pneumo Asbestos Claims will not be assertable against the Suceessor Company or any of its affiliates under cither settlement.
Both the Plan A Settlement and the Plan B Settlement provided for a broad release of claims from Cooper, Pneumo Abex and various of their atliliates in favor
of' the Successor Company.

Contemporanecusly with confirmation of the Plan, the Bankrupicy Court approved the Plan B Settlement. On September 30, 2008, the Bankruptcy Court issued
an order denying implementation and appraval of the Plan A Settlement. On October 1. 2008, Cooper notified the Debtors that it had terminated the Plan A
Settlement. and. on that date, the releases and settlements contained in the Plan B Settlement became eftective.

On the Effective Date, the Company, on behalf of the U.S. Asbestos Trust, placed $140 million needed 1o fund the Plan B Settlement into an escrow account,
where it has been paid out as part of the implementation of the Plan B Settlement. In exchange for the funding by the Company, the U.S. Asbestos Trust issued a
$140 million note payable to the Company with a maturity date 60 days after the Effective Date. The U.S. Asbestos Trust's obligations under the $140 million
note were secured by a possessory security interest in 7,793,333 shares of Class B Common Stock of the Company previously issued to the U.S. Asbestos Trust.
Following the exercise by Thornwood
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Associates Limited Partnership of its option to purchase from the U.S. Asbestos Trust the Companys Class B Common Stock, the $140 million note was repaid
by the U.S. Asbestos Trust on February 23, 2008 at which time the possessory security interest in 7,793,333 shares of the Company’s Class B Common Stock
was released. The note receivable is included in other current assets as of December 31, 2007.

Various maiters relating to the Chapter 11 Cases continue to be litigated in the Bankruptcy Court or have been litigated therein and are awaiting rulings. The
ongoing pursuit of these matters does not atTect the discharges, feleases and injunclions afforded to the Debtors under the Plan.

Discharge, Releases and Injunctions Pursuant to the Plan and the Confirmation Order

The Plan and Cenfirmation Order contain various discharges, injunctive provisions and releases that became operative upoen the Effective Date, including
(i) discharge (except as otherwise provided in the Plan and Confirmation Order) of each of the Debtors of all pre-Effective Date obligations in accordance with
the Bankruptey Code, and (i) various injunctions providing, among other things, that, all creditors and interest holdurs of any of the Debtors (or their respective
estates ) shull be prohibited from tking any action against the Debtors with respect to such discharged obligations.

Dismissal of Certain U.K. Subsidiaries’ Chapter 11 Cases

On the Effective Date, in accordance with a previously-entered order of the Bankruptey Court, the Chapter || Cases of 75 of the Company's U.K. subsidiaries
were dismissed. Each of those UK. subsidiaries hes either few or (in most cases) no known third-party creditors, has no history of using asbestos or
manufacturing, selling or distributing asbestos-containing products, and has never to the Debtors’ knowledge beer named in any asbestos-related lawsuits or
comparable proceedings. None of the U.K. subsidiaries whose Chapter 11 Cases were dismissed was a party to the Plan.

Cl 11.And UK. Admini fon Related R ization E
Chapter 11 and U.K, Administration related reorganization expenses in the consolidated statements of operations consist of legal, financial and advisory fees,
including fees of the U.K. Administrators, critical employee retention costs, and other directly related interna! costs as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 26
{Miltlons of Dollars)
Professional fees directly related to the filing s 171 $728 $ 638
Critical employee retention costs —_ 7.9 12.3
Discharge of UK. Administration fees & other costs — — 264
Interest income earned on restricted cash — — i34

$ 171 $80.7 3 951

3. FRESH-START REPORTING

The Predecessor Company’s emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases resulted in 2 new reporting entity for accounting purposes and the adoption of fresh-start
reporting in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“*AICPA”) Statement of Position 90-7, Financial Reporting by Entities in
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code (“50P 90-7"). Since the reorganization value of the assets of the Successor Company immediately before the date of
confirmation of the Plan was less than the total of all post-petition liabilities and allowed claims, and the holders of the Predecessor Company's voting shares
immediately before confirmation of the Plan received less than 50 percent of the voting shares of the emerging entity, the Successor Company adopted fresh-start
reporting.
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Following confirmation of the Plan by the Bankruptcy Ceurt on November 8, 2007 and the affirmance of (hat confirmation by the District Court on
November 14, 2007, the Plan required a number of conditions precedent te be satistied prior to it becoming effective, These conditions included. but were not
limited to: (i) the establishment of the U.S. Asbestos Trust and the transfer of the Class B Common Stock and certain adiditional assets thereto, (i) the eniry by all
pacties into the documents governing the U.3. Asbestos Trust and numerous other corporate-refated documents, (iii) the District Court order confirming the Plan
becoming a final, non-appealable urder, and (iv) the closing of the Company’s post-bankrupicy secured credit facilities. Under the terms of the Plan, the Plan
could not beeome effective without such conditions being satisfied or waived. The first date on which all of the conditions prevedent set forth in the Plan were
satisfied was December 27, 2007, which corresponds with the Effective Date of the Plan. As such, the Company was required to adopt fresh-start reporting us of
December 27, 2007,

‘The Company analyzed the transactions that occurred during the four-day period from December 28, 2007 through December 31, 2007, and concluded that such
transactions were not material individually or in the aggregate as they represented approximately 1% of total revenues; gross margin; selling, general and
administrative expenses: and income before taxes. As such, the Company used December 31, 2007 as the date for adopting fresh-start reporting in order to
coincide with the Company s normal financial closing for the month of December. Upon adoption of iresh-start reporting, the recorded amounts of assets und
linbilities were adjusted to reflect their estimated fair values. Accordingly. the reported historical financial statements of the Predecessor Company prior to the
adoption of fresh-start reporting tor periods ended prior to Decernber 31, 2007 are not comparable to those of the Successor Company.

"The Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Plan based wpon a reorganization value of the Company between $4.369 million and $4.715 million, which was estimated
using various valuation methods, including (i} a comparison of the Company and its projected performance to the market values of comparable companies: (i} 4
review and analysis of several recent transactions of companics in similar industries to the Company; and (iii) a caleulation of the present value of the future cash
flews of the Company under its projections. Bused upon a reevaluation of relevant factors used in determining the range of reorganization value and updated
expected cash flow projections, the Company coneluded that $4.369 million should be used for ffesh-start reporting purposes as it most closety approximated tair
value.

In accordance with fresh-start reporting, the Company's reorganization value has been allocated to existing assets using the measurement guidance provided in
SFAS 141. In addition. lizbilities, other than deferred taxes. have been recorded at the present value of amounts estimated to be paid. Finally. the Predecessor
Company's accumulated deficit has been eliminated, and the Company’s new debt and equity have been recorded in accordance with the Plan. Defurred taxes
have been determined in conformity with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™ ("SFAS 1097). The excess of
reorganization value over the volue of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities has been recorded as goodwill in the accompanying
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Estimates of fair value represent the Company’s best estimates, which are based on industry data and trends and by reference to relevant market rates and
transactions, and discounted cash flow valuation methods, among other factors. The foregoing estimates and assumptions are inherently subject to significant
uncertainties and contingencies beyond the reasonable control of the Company. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the estimates, assumptions, and
amounts reflected in the valuations will be realized, and actual results could vary materially. In accordance with SOP 90-7, the Company was required to udopt,
on December 31, 2007, all accounting guidance scheduled to become effective within the subsequent twelve-menth period (see Note 7).
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The implementation of the Plan of Reorganization and the effects of the consummation of the transactions contemplated thetein, which included setilement of

various liabilities, issuance of certain securities, incurrence of new indebtedness. repayment of old indebtedness, and other cash payments and the adoption of
fresh-stant reporting in the Company 's Consolidated Balance Sheet are as follows:

Sertlement of

Predecessor Liabilities Subject Fresh-Start Successor
As of £2/31/07 ‘To Compromise Adjustiments As of 12/31/07
(Millions of Dollary)
Assets

Current assets:

Cosh and cash equivalents 5 4458 § (204) (@ $ — $ 4254

Accounts receivables, net 1.0935.9 — —_ 1.095.9

[nventories, net 9312 —_ 143.1 (e} 1,074.3

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3243 2322 ({a) (50.1) (&) 5264
Total Current Assets 2,797.2 231.8 93.0 3,1220
Propenty, plant and equipment, net 21929 _ (131D (&) 2,061.8
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets 1,206,1 —_ 6459 (D 1,852.0
Definite-lived intangible assets, net 233.4 — 566 (&) 310.0
Asbestos-related insurance recoverable 872.5 (872.5) {m _ —
Other noncurrent assets 2707 87 (b 2411 () 520.5
Totul Assets 3 75928 $ (632.0) $ 905.5 3 7.866.3

Liabilities and Sharcholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Current Liabilities:

Short-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt $ 8690 8 (751.2) {») - 117.3

Accounts payvable 659.2 674 (a) — 7266

Accrued liabilities 4754 (1.6) (a) 212 (e) 496.0

Current portion of postemployment benetit liability 61.2 — - 61,2

Other current liabiliues 159 5 (3.6) () 114 (e) 167.3
Totat Current Liabilities 23243 (689.0) 336 1.568.9
Liabilities subject to compromise 54640 (3.464.0) (a) —_ —
Long-term debt 20.6 26600 (g (163.0) () 25176
Postemployment benefits 948.0 (11} (2 —_ 5936.9
Lung-term portion of deferred income taxes ' 107.0 190.0  (a} 344 (o) 3314
Other accrued liabilities 171.0 1293 (ad) —_ 300.3
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries 433 — 42 f(e) 873
Shareholders’ Equity {Deficit);

Series C ESOP preferred stock . 28.0 — (28.0) (c) —_

Predecessor Company Common stock 4493 — (449.3) {c) —

Successor Company Common stock - : 1.0 (a) - 1.0

Additional paid-in capital 2,203.5 20706  (ad) (2,151.4) (&) 21227

Accumulated deficit {4,194.0) 4845 (a) 37095 (o) —

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 127.8 (33) {124.5) (¢) —
Total Shareholders’ Equity { Deficit) {1,385 4) 23528 9563 21237
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity {Deficit) 5 75928 § (632.0) 5 905.5 b 7.866.3

(a) To record i) the discharge of linbilities subject to compromise; i) payments and accruals required as pant of the discharge of liabilitics subjest to
compromise; iii} the transfer to the U.5. Asbestos Trust of collection rights under the asbhestos insurance policies; iv) the current portion of notes receivable
from the U.S. Asbestos Trust: v) the issuance ot Successor Company common stock and warrants; and vi) the resulting gain on discharge of liabilities
subject to compromise of $484.5 million, net of tax of $276.2 million.

(b} To record the non-current portion of the $125 million loan note. Upon repayment of this note in January 2008, $40 million must be held in escrow
pursuant to the Plan and will be available for the Company's use upon termination of the escrow requirement expected at some point beyond 2008. This
adjustment also includes the $15 million long-term portion of a settlement with one insurance carsier to reimburse the Company for pre-petition claims
paid by the Predecessor Company.

(¢)  To record the i) gain on fresh-start reporting adjustments; ii) canceliation of Predecessor Company Commaon Stack; #i) close out of remaining equity
balances of the Predecessor in accordance with fresh-start reporting; and iv) the ¢ancellation of Predecessor Company Series C ESOP Preferred stock.

td}  Adjustment includes of the reclassification of $19.1 million from equity into a Jong-term liability related to the grant of stock options to José Maria
Alapont as further discussed in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(e} Fo adjust assets and liabilities to estimated fair value or other measurement as specified within FAS 141,

() To climinate the unamortized balance of indefinite-lived intangible assets of the Predecessor Company and record Suceessor Company indefinite-lived
intangible assets, including reorganization value in excess of amounts allocated to identitied tangible and intangible assets {Successor Company goodwill ).

3}

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009
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In accordance with SFAS 41, the preliminary allocation of the reorganization value completed as of December 31, 2007 was subject to additional adjustment
within one year after emergence from bankruptey to provide the Company with adequate time to complete the valuation of its assets and liabilities. During 2008,
subsequent adjustments to tair value estimates initially recorded as of December 31, 2007 were recorded as follows:

* Valuation reports associated with long-lived tangible and intangible assets were completed, resulting in adjustments to the recorded values of long-tived
tangible and intangible assets:

» Valuations assoviated with the Company’s investments in non-consolidated afliliates were completed, resulting in adjustments to the recorded
investment values; and

*  Adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilitics were finalized based upon the completed valuations and related adjustments above.

Liabilitics Subiect To €. .

Liabiiities subject to compromise include the following:

December 31

2007
(Millions of Dollars)
Debt $ 3,727.0
Asbestos liabilities 1.389.3
Accounts payable 1755
Company-obligated mandatorily redeemable securities 74.3
Interest payable i
Environmental liabilittes 27.0
Other accrued liabilities 268
Predecessor Company Balance 54640
Application of fresh-stan reporting (5.464.0)

Successor Company Balance 3 —

4. RESTRUCTURING

The Company defines restructuring expense to include costs directly associated with exit or disposal activities accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 146,
Accounting for Costs Asseciated with Exit or Disposal Activities, employee severance costs incurred as a result of an exit or disposal activity accounted for in
accordance with SFAS Nos. 88 and 112, and pension and other postemployment benefit costs incurred as a result of an exit or disposal activity accounted for in
accordance with SFAS Nos. 87 and 106.

Estimates of restructuring charges are based on information available at the time such charges are recorded. In general. management anticipates that restructuring
activities will be completed within a timeframe such that significant changes to the exit or disposal plan are not likely. In certain countries where the Company
operates, statutory requirements include involuntary termination benefits that extend several years into the future. Accordingly, severance payments continue
well past the date of termination at many international locations. Thus, these programs appear to be ongoing when, in fact, terminations and ather activities under
these programs have been substantially completed. Management expects that future savings resulting from execution of its restructuring programs will generally
result in full pay back within 36 months.

Due 10 the inkerent uncertainty involved in estimating restructuring expenses, actuzl amounts paid for such activities may differ from amounts initially estimated.
Accordingly, the Company reversed approximately $3 million, $7 million and $5 million of previously recorded reserves in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Such reversals are recorded consistent with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100, Restructuring and Impairment Charges, and result from actua! costs at
program completion being less than costs estimated at the commitment date, In most instances where final costs are lower than original estimates, the
Predecessor Company experienced a higher rate of voluntary employee attrition than estimated as of the commitment dates resulting in lower severance costs.
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Management expects to finance these restructuring programs over the next several years through cash generated trom its onguing operations or through cash
available under its existing credit facility, subject to the terms of applicable covenants. Management does not expect that the execution of these programs will
have an adverse impact on its Hiquidity positton.

The Company s restructuring activities are undertaken as necessary to execute munagement’s sirategy and streamline operations, consolidate and tuke advantage
ol available capacity and resources, and uitimately achieve net cost reductions. Restructuring activities include efforts ta integrate and rationalize the Company s
businesses and 1o relocate manufacturing operations to lower vost markets. These activities generally fall into one of the following categories:

. Closure of facitities and relocation of production — in connection with the Company’s strategy. certain operations have been closed and refated production
relocated to best cost geographies or to other locations with available capacity.

2. Consolidation of administrative functions and standardization of manufacturing processes — as part of its productivity strategy, the Company has acted to
consolidate its administrative functions and change its manufacturing processes to reduce selling, general and administrative cosls and improve operating
cificiencies through standardization of processes.

The following is a summary of the Company’s consolidated restructuring reserves and related activity for 2008, 2007 and 2006. “PTE”, “PTSB”, “VSP”, “AP"
and “CGA™ represent Powertrain Energy, Powertrain Scaling and Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Protection, Automotive Products and Global Altermarket,
respectively.

PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Corporate Total
{Millions of Doltars)

Balance at January 1, 2006,

Predecessor $ 98 § 17 $09 $1i05 3528 $ 06 & 263
Provisions 15.3 347 35 9.7 6.3 2.1 7.6
Reversals (1.8) (2.00 (0.6) (0.6) (0.2) — (5.2)
Payments (8.7 {19.0) (3.5) (15.0) (6.4) 2.6) (55.2)
Foreign currency 1.0 11 0.1 04 _01 ___4q01y ___ 26

Ralance at December 31, 2006, ‘

Predecessor £5.6 16.5 0.4 50 26 — 40.1
Provisions 14.9 22.0 39 4.0 7.1 30 549
Reversals {2.2) (1.2) (0.3 3.1 — — (6.8)
Payments {19.3) (33.5) (2N (5.6) 5.1 {0.5) (66.7)
Reclassification to postemployment benefits .1 —_ — ()] - — (4.4)
Foreign currency ’ 1.2 05 0.1 — 0.1 0.1 2.0

Balance at December 31, 2007, R

Successor . 6t 4.3 1.4 —_ 47 26 19.1
Provisions ) 433 420 236 1.1 1.5 54 1349
Reversals : ’ ’ S T 0.9) (0.2 (0.1 0.2y (0.5) 0.9y (2.8}
Puyments ) ) (11.0$) 6.9 (8.3) (52) 7.0) (2.0) (40.4)
Foreign currency 0.6 L6 . 03 ©.1) 01 O 24

Batance at December 31, 2008,

Successor $ 381 §$ 408 $Ii89 $ 56 $48 3§ 50 §$1132

Activities under Global “Restructuring 2009” Program

An unprecedented downturn in the global automotive industry and global financial markets led the Company to announce, in September 2008 and December
2008, certain restructuring actions, herein referred to as “Restructuring 2009, designed to improve operating performance and respond to increasingly
chailenging conditions in the global automative market. This plan, when combined with other workforce adjustments, is expected 1o reduce the Company’s
global worktorce by approximately 8,600 positions. The Company continues to solidify certain components of this plan, and will arnounce those components as
plans are finalized. During 2008, the Company has
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recorded $126.8 million in restructuring charges associated with Restruciuring 2009, and expects to incur additional restructuring charges up to $37 million
through 2010. As the majority of the costs expected to be incurred in relation to Restructuring 2009 are related to severance, such activities are expected to yield
future annual savings at least equal 1o the incurred costs.

PTE PTSB VSP AP GA Corporate Total

{Milliona of Dollzrs}

Balence of reserves at December 31, 2007,

Successor —- — — — — — —
Provisions 396 41.0 25.5 96 7.1 40 136.8
Payments 3.3 (2.9) (69 40 (2.3 (1.2) (22.6)
Foreign currency 1.1 13 02 = = @ ——— .26

Halance of reserves at December 31, 2008

Successor $£354 $£ 194 3188 56 $48 3 28 $ 1068

Significant components of charges related to Restructuring 2009 are as follows:

Totad Incurred Estimated
Expected During Additionzl
Costs 2008 Charges
{Millions of Dollars)

Powertrain Energy $ 484 S 396 0§ 83

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings 45.0 41.0 4.0

Vehicle Safety and Protection 398 255 14.3

Automaotive Products 16.2 9.6 6.6

Global Afermarket 10.1 7.1 3.0

Corporate 45 40 s

£ 1640 $ 1268 $ 372

Activities under Global “Restructuring 2006" Program

In January 2006, the Predecessor Company announced 2 global restructuring plan (“Restructuring 2006™) as part of its sustainable global profitable growih
strategy. From the inception of this program through December 31, 2007, the Predecessor Company incurred expenses of $119.9 million under this pregram
associated with the closures of its facilities located in Alpignano, [taly: Upton, United Kingdom: Malden, Missouri; Pontoise, France. Rochdale, United
Kingdom: Slough, United Kingdom: St. Johns, Michigan; St. Louis, Missouri; and Bretten, Germany. The Predecessor Company also transferred production with
high labor content from its facilities in Nuremberg, Germany, Wiesbaden, Germany, and Orleans, France o existing facilities in best cost countries. During 2008,
the Successor Company incurred expenses of $35.5 million for Restructuring 2006. Payments associated with this program are expected ta continue into 2010.
This program was completed during 2008,
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Included in the summary table above, the payment activity and remaining reserves associated with activities executed under Restructuring 2006 are as follows;

PTE Prss VSP AP GA Carporate Totul
{Millions of Dollars)

Balance of reserves at January 1, 2006,

Predecessor $ 45 5§ — $07 § 97 %19 § — § i68
Provisions 15.3 343 20 9.6 535 0.1 66.8
Reversals (1.6) 20) 4 0.6) 10.2) — (4.8}
Payments (7.3) 7.7 9y (145 (6.1 0.1) (47.6)
Foreign currency (0.1) 13 — 04 — — 16

Balance of reserves ot December 31, 2006,

Predecessor 10.8 159 04 1.6 1.1 — 328
Provisions 133 220 08 4.0 14 26 46.1
Reversals {2.2) (1.2} {O.2) (3D — — 67
Payments (17.8) (33.5) 0.7y (5.5) 14.0) — {61.5)
Foreign currency 1.2 06 — — 02 o 240

Balance of reserves at December 31, 2007,

Successor 53 38 0.3 — 0.7 26 127
Provisions 29 1.7 0.2 1.5 0.7 —_ 7.0
Reversals (0.5} 0.2y (0.1} 0.2) {0.5) — (1.5)
Payments (4.8) 3.9 (0.4) (1.2) (1.0) {0.6) (1.9
Forcign currency (0.2) = — — 0.t — o

Balance of reserves at December 31, 2008

Successor $ 27 $§ 14 $— $ 0.1 — $ 20 $ 62

Other Restructuring Activity and Programs
There were no significant restructuring activities during the year ended December 31, 2008 other than the Restructuring 2009 and Restructuring 2006 programs.

During 2007, the Predecessor Company reclassitied certain restructuring reserves related to long-term pension arrangements from restructuring reserves to
postemployment benefits. This reclassitication was made as a result of the Predecessor Company's continuous evaluation of its restructuring activities. The
Predecessor Company s evaluation determined that these amounts would be more appropriately classified as postemployment benefits.

In addition to the Restructuring 2006 program above. the Predecessor Company initiated several individual location restructuring programs. The details of
activity during 2007 associated with these individual location programs are as follows: .

vehicle Safety and Protection

During 2007. the Predecessor Company announced the closure and relocation of its system protection facility in Exton, PA to other facilities with available
capacity.- The Predecesser Company recorded approximately $2.4 million of severance charges during the year and as of December 31. 2007. This project was
substamtially completed as of December 31, 2008, Expected future cost savings associated with this activity are estimated to be approximately $4.1 mitlion per
year.

Global Afrermarket

The Predecessor Company commenced a restructuring of its Global A Rermarket sates and marketing functions designed to drive business growth and to improve
customer focus. Through realignment of the sales force on a regional basis, the Company intends to strengthen customer relations particularly in emerging
markets. Accordingly, a charge of approximately $3 million related to these activities was recorded during 2007. Expected savings associated with the project are
estimated to be approximately $4.3 million per year. This program was completed during 2008.
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‘There were no signiftcant restructuring activities during the year ended December 31, 2006 other than the Restructuring 2006 program.

S.ADJUSTMENT OF ASSETS TO ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE

The Company and its Predecessor recorded total impainment charges of $451.3 million, $61.3 million and $45.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively, as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
{Millions of Dollars)

Long-lived tangible asscts $§ 1388 £ 36.1 $459
Goodwill 2387 252 —
Other indefinite-lived intangible assets 130.0 —_ —
Envestments in unconselidated aitiliates 63.8 — —

$ 4513 $613 $ 459

Impairments of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are discussed further in Note 10 below. Impairments of investments in unconsolidated
aftiliates are discussed further in Note 11 below.

The Company recorded impairment charges of $18.8 million, $36.1 million and $45.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, to adjust long-lived tangible assets to their estimated fair values in accordance with SFAS No. 144, dccounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets ("SFAS No, 1447}, The charges by reporting segment are as follows:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
(Mitlions of Dotlars)
Powertrain Energy $ 99 $ 04 $10.7
Powertrain Sealing and Bearings 4.0 (0.6} 274
Vehicle Safety and Protection 0.7 278 9.9
Automotive Products 4.0 4.6 |
Global Aftermarket ' — 1.6 —
Corporate 0.2 23 —
Other i - et {3.2)
$_ 188  $§36.1 $ 45.9
2008 Impairments
Powertrain Energy:
. The Company recorded impairment charges of $4.9 million related to the identification of a Powertrain Energy facility where the Company’s assessment

of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property. plant and equipment. indicated impairment was necessary. In
addition, the Company recorded impairment charges of $3.0 million related to Powertrain Energy operating facilities for which the Company will
announce the closures in 2009 as part of its ongoing Restructuring 2009 program. The impairment amount was determined by assessing the book values
associated with building and production equipment in relation to their estimated net realizable values.
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Powertrain Scaling and Bearings:

. The impairment charge of $4.0 million primarily relates to the identification of a Powertrain Sealing and Bearings facility where the Company’s
assessment of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrving value of property. plant and equipment, indicated an impairment was
necessary.

Automotive Products:

. The Company recorded impairment charges of $2.6 million related to the identification of an Automotive Products facility where the Company’s
assessment of estimated future cash Mows, when compared 10 the current carrying value of property, plant and equipment, indicated impairment was
necessary, The remaining impairment charge of $1.4 million primarily refates to Automotive Products operating facilities for which the Company will
announce the closures in 2009 as part of its ongoing Restructuring 2009 program. The impaimment amounts were Jetermined by assessing the book values
associated with building and productien cquipment in refation to their estimated net realizable values.

2007 impairments

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

. The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.3 million related to the identification of certain Powertrain Sealing and Bearings facilities
where the Predecessor Company’s assessment of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of property. plant and
equipment, indicated an impairment was necessary. In addition, the Predecessor Company’s ability to remediate a CARO at a cost below the original
estimate resulted in the reversal of the excess reserve through impairment where such reserves were originally recorded,

Vehicle Safety and Protection:

. The Predecessor Company recorded impatrment charges of $24.8 million related to one UL.S. Friction location as an announced reduction in OEM purchase
volumes by one of the Company’s customers resulted in a re-evaluation of the expected future cash tlows of this operation as compared to the current
carrying value of property, plant und equipment.

Automotive Products:

. During 2007, the Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.2 million refated to certain Automotive Products operating locations primarily
as a result of reduced volumes resulting in a revaluation of expected future cash flows of these operations as compared to the current currying value of the
plant, machinery and equipment.

2006 Impairments

Powenrtrain Energy;

. During 2006, the Predecessor Company announced the closure of its Malden, Missouri manufacturing facility. As a result of this closure, the book values
associated with building and production equipment has been assessed in relation to their estimated net realizable values, and impairment charges of $7.1
million were recorded.

. The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $3.1 million related to other Powertrain Energy operating locations, primarily as a result of
reduced volumes resulting in a revaluation of the expected future cash flows of these operations as compared to the current camying value of property,
plant and equipment.

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings:

. During 2006, the Predecessor Company announced the closure of its St. Johns. Michigan manufacturing facility. As a result of this closure, the
book values associated with building and production equipment has been assessed in relation to their estimated net realizable values, and
impairment charges of $3.4 million were recorded.

. The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $7 9 million related to the identification of an operating facility that the Predecessor Company
closed as part of its ongoing restructuring etforts. In addition, the Predecessor Company recorded $16.1 million of impairment charges related to assets at
certain Sealing
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System operating facilities where the Predecessor Company's assessment of estimated future cash flows, when compared to the current carrying value of
property, plant and equipment, indicated an impairment was necessary.

Vehicle Safety and Protection:

. The Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $9.1 million related to three of its Friction locations. Buildings and production equipment at
these locations had previousty been impaired in connection with the closure and anticipated sale of the facilities. After a revaluation of the estimated fair
values ot these locations, additional impairment charges were deemed appropriate as of December 31, 2006.

. The Predecessor Company recorded other impairment charges of $0.8 million related to cermain Friction operating locations, primarily as a result of
reduced volumes resulting in a revaluation of the expected future cash flows of these operations as compared to the current carrying value of property,

plant and equipment.

6. OTHER INCOME, NET

The specific comporents of “Other income, net” are as follows:

Successar Predecessor
Year Ended December 31 -
2008 2007 2006
(Millions of Daollars)
Environmental claims settlements $ 169 5 — 5 -
Gain on involuntary conversion 122 — —
9.0) (7.9} 4.2)

Accounts receivable discount expense

Unrealized (Loss) gain on hedge instruments {6.1) 4.1 —
Minority interest ' 3.h 42 (0.8)
Foreign currency exchange 1.9 88 40
Cratn on sale of assets 1.2 15.3 13.0
Rovyalty (expense) income {0.2) 29 36
Gain on sale of business — 8.2 38
Other 20.1 33 8.5
$ 3309 $409 . $279

‘The Company is a party to two lawsuits in Ohio and Michigan relating to indemnification for costs arising from environmental releases from industrial operations
of the Predecessor Company prior to 1986. These two lawsuits had been stayed temporarily to allow the parties to engage in settlement negotiations and are both
now proceeding to trial. During 2008, the Company reached settlements with certain parties, which resulted in net recoveries to the Company of $16.9 million.
The Company continues to engage in setilement discussions with the remaining parties, although no assurances can be given regarding the outcome of such

discussions,

In 2008, the Company experienced a fire at a plant in Europe, As of December 31, 2008, the Company has received cash proceeds of $30.0 million from its
insurance carrier, for which it recognized a $12.2 million gain associated with the involuntary conversion.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company manufactures and sells its products in North America, South America, Asia, Europe and Africa, As a result, the Company’s financial results could
be significantly affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in foreign markets in which the Company
manufactures and sells its products. The Company’s operating results are primarily exposed to changes irt exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and European

currencies,
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The Compony generally tries to use natural hedges within its foreign currency activities, including the matching of revenues and costs, to minimize foreign
currency risk. Where matural hedges are not in place, the Company considers managing certain aspects of its foreign currency activities and Jarger transactions
through the use of foreign currency options or forward contracts. Principal currencies hedged have histerically included the euro, British pound, Japanese yen and
Canadion dollar. These hedges were highly effective and their impact on earmings was not significant during 2008. 2007 and 2006, The Company had notional
values of approximately $5 million of foreign currency hedge contracts outstanding at both December 31, 2008 and 2007 that were designated as hedging
instruments for accaunting purposes. Unrealized net gains of $1.0 million were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2008,

Interest Rute Risk

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was party to a series of five-year interest rate swap agreements with a total notional value of $1.190 million to hedge the
variability of interest payments associated with its variable-rate term loans under the Exit Facilities. Through these swap agreements, the Company has fixed its
hase interest and premium rate at a combined average interest rate of approximately 3.37%6 on the hedged principal amount of $1.190 million. Since the interest
rate swaps hedge the variability of interest payments on variable rate debt with the same terms, they qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment. As of
December 31, 2008, unrealized net losses of $66.6 million were recorded in uccumulated other comprehensive loss as a result of these hedges. Hedge
tnetlectiveness, determined using the hypothetica! derivative method, was not material for the year ended December 31, 2008

These interest rate swaps reduce the Company's overall interest rate risk. However, due to the remaining outstanding borrowings on the Company’s Exit
Facilities and other borrowing facilitics that continue to have variable interest rates, management believes that interest rate risk to the Company could be material
it there are sigmiticant adverse changes in interest rates.

Commaodity Price Risk

The Company's production processes are dependent upon the supply of certain raw materials that are exposed to price fluctuations on the open market. The
primary purpose of the Company’s commodity price forward contract activity is to manage the volatility associated with these forecasted purchases. The
Company monitors its commodity price risk exposures regularly to maximize the overall effectiveness of its commodity forward contracts, Principat raw
materials hedged include natural gas, copper, nickel, lead, high-grade aluminum and aluminum alloy. Forward contracts are used to mitigate commodity price
risk associated with raw materials, generally related to purchases forecast for up to fifteen months in the future.

At December 31, 2006, the Predecessor Company had 54 commodity price hedge contracts outstanding that were not designated as accounting hedge. Through
March 31, 2007, the Predeccssor Company recognized all changes in fair value of these hedges in cucrent earnings, resulting in unrealized gains of approximately
$10 million recorded to “Other income, net” for the three months ended March 31, 2007, Effective April }, 2007, the Predecessor Company completed the
required evaluation and documentation 1o designate the majority of such contracts as cash flow hedges.

'The Company had 302 commeodity price hedge contracts outstanding with a combined notional value of $9! million at December 31, 2008, substantiaily all of
which were designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. As such, unrealized net losses of $33.0 million were recorded to accumulated ather
comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2008. Hedge ineffectiveness of $2.5 million determined using the hypothetical derivative method and loss in fair value of
cenain contracts not meeting hedge accounting requirements of $3.6 million were recorded within “Other income. net” for the year ended December 31, 2008,

Other

For derivatives designated either as fair value or cash flow hedges, changes in the time value are excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. Hedge
ineffectiveness, determined in accordance with SFAS No. 133, did not have a materinl effect on operations for 2008 and 2007. No fair value hedges or cash flow
hedges were re-designated
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or discontinued during 2008, 2007 or 2006, Derivative gains and losses included in other comprehensive income for the effective hedges were reclassified into
operations at the time forecasted transactions are recognized. Such amounts were not material in 2008 and 2007,

Concentrutions of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of accounts receivable and cash investments. The
Company s custemer base includes virtually every significant gtobal light and commercial vehicle manufacturer and a large number of distributors and installers
ot automotive aftermarket pants. The Company s credit evaluation process and the geographical dispersion of sales transactions help te mitigate credit risk
concentration. The Company requires placement of cush in financial institutions evaluated as highly creditworthy,

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair lalue AMeasuwrements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and
enhances disclosure about fair value measurements, SFAS 157 is etfective for financial statements issued for fiscal vears beginning atter November 15, 2007. On
February 2, 2008, the FASB 1ssued FASD Statf Position No. FAS 157-2 (“FSP 157-2™) which delays the effective date of SFAS §57 for nonfinancial assets and

nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually ), Where the
measurement objective specitically requires the use of “tair value”, the Company has adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 related to financial assets and financial
liabilities as of December 31, 2007 in connection with its tresh-start reporting.

SFAS 157 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based upon assumptions that market

participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, SFAS 137 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring tair value as follows:

Level ]: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
Level 2: inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of the following three valuation techniques noted in SFAS 157

a. Market approach: Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable ossets or liabilities.
b. Cost approach: Amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset (replacement cost)
c. Income approach: Techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based upcn market expectations (including present value

techniques, option-pricing and excess earnings models).
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“The following table elassifics the financial assets and financial liabibities measured at fair value ona recurring and non-recurring basis as of December 31

Asset / Valuation

Frequency (Linbility) Level 2 Level 3 Technique
(Millions of Dollars)

December 31, 2008:

Equity method investments Non-recurring $ 2206 § — $ 2206 C
Interest rate swap contracls Recurring (66.6) (66.6) — C
Commodity contracts Recurring {33.0) (33.0) —_ C
Foreign exchange contracts Recurring 1.0 1.0 — C
December 31, 2007:

Long-term debt Nop-recurring § (251760 $ (25176) § — A
Eyuity method investments Non-recurring 3236 — 3236 C
Commodity contracts Recurring (9.3) (9.8) —_ C
Foreign exchange contracts Recurring L9 0.9) —_ C

Upon the adoption of fresh-start reporting, the Company’s investments in non-consolidated affiliates were adjusted to estimated fair value by increasing the
aggregate investmeat balances by approximately $127 million. These estimated fair values were determined based upon internal and external valuations
considering various relevant market rates and transactions, and discounted cash flow valuation methods, among other factors, as {inher described in Note 3
above.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company evaluated the recorded value of its investments in non-consolidated affiliates for potential impairment. Given the
economic downturn in the global automotive industry and the related declines in anticipated production volumes. the Company concluded that its investments in
non-consolidated aftiliates, primarily in the Powertrain Energy segment were impaired, and an impairment charge of $63.8 million was recorded as of
December 31, 2008.

8. INVENTORY

Prior to emerging from bankrupicy. the Predecessor Company valued inventory at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on a first-in, first-out
(“FIFO™} basis primarily outside the United States and on a last-in, first-out (“LIFO™) basis for specitic U.S. subsidiaries based upon the use of such valuation
methodology at the time those subsidiaries were acquired, The Predecessor Company used the LIFO method to determine cost for 40% of its inventory at
December 31, 2007, with the remaining inventory being costed using the FIFO method. 1 all inventories had been valued at current cost, amounts reported prior
to fresh-start reporting would have been increased by $76.8 million as of December 31, 2007. Inventory quantity reductions resulting in liguidations of certain
LIFO inventory layers decreased the Predecessor Company’s net loss by $1.7 million in 2007.

Upen emergence from bankruptcy, the Successor Company adopted the FIFO inventory valuation methodology as its accounting policy tor all inventory. As a
result of bath the adoption of the FIFO inventory valuation methodology and the application of fresh-start reponting. the Predecessor Company LIFQ and other
inventory reserves were eliminated as of December 31, 2007

The Successor Company used the FIFO method to determine its inventory cost at December 31, 2008. The value of inventories has also been reduced for excess
and obsolete inventories based on management’s review of on-hand inventories compared to historical and estimated future sales and usage.

In connection with fresh-start reporting, inventory balances as of December 3t. 2007 were increased by approximately 368 million in accordance with SFAS
No. 141 using the tfollowing valuation methodology:

1) fimished goods have been vatued at estimated selling prices less the sum of (a) costs of disposal and (b} a reasonable profit allowance for the selling
etfort of the Successor Company,
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2y work in process has been valued at the estimated selling prices of finished goods less the sum of (a) costs to complete. (b) costs of disposal and (¢) a
reasonable profit allowance for the completing and selling effort of the Successor Company; and

3) raw materials have been vatued at current replacement cost.

Alter consideration of the December 31, 2007 fresh-stant reporting adjustment above, inventorics consisted of the following:

Successor
December 31
2008 2007
{Miilions of Dollars)
Raw materials 51748 $ 2022
Work-in-process 131.8 1809
Finished products 6240 691.2
930.6 1,074.3
Vatuation reserves (369 —

$893.7 $ 16743

The fresh-start reporting valuation increase to inventory impacted cost ot goods sold as the related inventory was sold. During 2008, the Company recognized
$68 million in additional cost of goods sold, reducing gross margin by the same, due to this valuation adjustment to inventory.

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Upon the adoption of fresh-start reporting, property, plant and equipment carrying values were stated at current replacement cost as of December 31, 2007, unless
the expected future use of the assets indicated a lower value as appropriate. In addition, accumulated depreciation was reset to zero. The values assigned to the
property, plant and equipment upon the adoption of fresh-start reponting were preliminary and represented the Company’s best estimates of replacement costs
based upon valuations considering both internal and external factors. The finalization of fresh-start reporting resulted in subsequent changes 1o these estimates.
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $259.2 million, $319.1 million and $295.9 million, respectively.

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

Successor Successor
December 31 December 31
Useful Life 2008 Lseful Life 2007

(In millions} {In millions)
Lund — s 254.0 — $ Jod.2
Buildings and building improvements 24 - 40 years 365.7 24 - 40 years 362.3
Machinery and equipment . i 2-12 years 1.550.1 . 2- 12 years 1,395.3
2,169.8 2,061.8

Accumulated depreciation (259.2) —
3 1.$10.6 3 20618
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The Company leases property and cquipment used in their operations. Future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining
terms of more than one year are as follows (in millions of dollars):

2009 $ 425
2010 326
2011 249
2012 208
2013 19.1
Thereafter 158

$153.7

Tota! rental expense under operaling leases for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $61.3 million, $56.7 million and $32.9 million,
respectively, exclusive of property taxes, insurance and other occupancy costs generaily payable by the Company.

10. GOODWILLAND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, goodwill and other intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2607
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Currying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
_Amoum_ Amortization  __Amount _Amownt  Amortization  __Amount

(Miltions of Dollars)
Definite-lived Intangible Assets

Developed technology § 1150 % (105 b 1045 § 1400 % — b 140.0
Customer relationships 5346 (65.2) £50 4 1700 —_ 170.0
$ 6396 § (75.7) b 5639 § 3100 % — 3 310.0

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Goodwill $ 10764 $ 1,5440
Trademarks and brand names . 354.0 3u8.0

The Company and its Predecessor evaluate recorded goodwill for impairment annually as of October | and in accordance with SFAS No, 142, Accounting Jor
Gioochvill and Other Intangible Assets. As a result of its annual assessment. the Predecessor Company recorded impairment charges of $25.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. This impairment charge, incurred within the Global Pistons operating unit of the Powertrain Energy Reporting Segment, was required
to adjust the carrying value of goodwill to estimated fair value for the year ended December 31, 2007. The estimated fair value of the operating unit was
determined based upon consideration of various vaiuation methodologies. including guideline transaction multiples. multiples of current earnings. and projected
future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risk involved. The 2007 impairment charge is primarily attributable to significant increases in
forecasted future capital expenditures to keep pace with current technological product requirements, without a corresponding increase in product profitability.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company adjusted its net canying amount of intangible assets based upon preliminary valuations as a result of applying fresh-start
reporting. Included in these adjustments were the elimination of Predecessor goodwill and the establishment of Successor goodwill. Successor goodwill was
determined a5 the excess of reorganization value over amounts attributable to specific tangible and intangible assets. including developed technology and
customer relationships.

During 2008. the Company received valuation estimates for intangible assets other than goodwill that were more detailed and comprehensive than those used for
its initial application of fresh-start reporting. Based upon the revised valuations, the Company recorded adjustments to the inittally recorded fresh-start reporting
amounts, with offsets directly to goodwill.
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‘The Company has assigned $115 0 million to technology. including vatue for patented and unpatented proprietary know-how and expertise as embodied in the
processes. specifications and testing of products. This value was reduced from $140.0 million recorded as of December 31, 2007 due to changes primarily in the
underdying valuation assumptions and not a change in the portfolio of identitied technologtes nor on any changes in the expected revenue sireams associated with
vach of the identified technologies. The value assigned is based on the relief-trom-royalty method which applies a fair royalty rate for the technology group to
forecasted revenue. Royalty rates were determined based on diseussions with management and a review of royalty data for similar or comparable technologtes.
‘The amortization periods between 10 and 14 years are based on the expected useful lives of the products or product families for which the technology relate.

Aftermarket products are sold to a wide range of wholesalers, retailers and installers as replacement parts for vehicles in current preduction and for elder
vehicles, For its aftermarket customers, the Company generally establishes product line arrangements that encompass all products offered within a particular
product line. These are typically open-ended arrangements that are subject to termination by either the Company or the customer at any time. The generation of
repeat business from any one aftermarket customer depends upon numerous factors, inctuding but not limited to the speed and accuracy of erder fullillment, the
availability of a full range of product. brand recognition, and market responsive pricing adjustments. Predictable recurring revenue is generalty not heavily based
upon priar relationship experience. As such, distinguishing revenue between that attributable to customer relationships as upposed to revenue atiributable to
recognized customer brands is ditTtcult,

During 2008, the Company completed its analysis of its various Aftermarket revenue streams und bifureated those streams between revenues associated with
hrand recognition and revenues associated with customer relationships. Valuations for brand names and customer relationships were then determined based upon
the estimated revenue streams. As a result of the valuations, the Company recorded $484.0 million for its trademarks and brand names. As part of [resh-start
reporting, value was assigned to trademarks or brand names based on camnings potential or relief from costs associated with licensing the trademarks or brand
names. As the Company expects to continue using cach trademark or brand name indefinitely with respect to the related product lines, the trademarks or brand
names have been assigned indefinite lives and will be tested annually for impairment.

‘The Company has assigned $519.2 million to its customer relationships, of which $62.0 million relates 10 original equipment (“OE”) customer relationships and
$457.2 million relates 1o aftermarket customer relationships. The values assigned to customer relationships are based on the propensity of these customers to
continue to generate predictable future recurring revenue and income. The value was based on the present vatue of the future earnings attributable (o the
intangible assets after recognition of required returns 1o other contributory assets. The amortization periods of between 1 and 16 years are based on the expected
cash flows and historical attrition rates, as determined within each of the separate product groups,

The Company has also recorded $35.4 million in customer relationships in connection with the February 2008 acquisition of Federal-Mogul Bearings India
Limited (“"FMBIL"). The acquisition of FMBIL did not have a material impact on the Company 's tinancial statements or liquidity.

Given the complexity of the calculation and the significance of fourth quarter economic activity, the Company has not yet completed its annual impairment
assessment. Based upon the draft vatuations and preliminary assessment, the Company recorded estimated impairment charges of $238.7 million and $130.0
million for goodwil} and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. respectively. for the year ended December 31, 2008, To the extent that the finalization of the
Company’s assessment of goodwill and other indefinite-tived intangible assets requires adjustment to the preliminary impairment charge, such adjustment would
be recorded in the first quarter of 2009, These charges were required to adjust the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets to
esumated fair value. The estimated fair values were determined based upon consideration of various valuation methodologies, including guideline transaction
multiples, multiples of cument eamings, and projected future cash flows discounted at rates commensurate with the risk involved. Although the annuat
assessment was conducted as of October 1, 2008, the Company incorporated general economic und company specific factors subsequent to this date inlo its
assessment, including updated discount rates, costs of capital, market capitalization of the Company, and financial projections, all in order to give appropriate
consideration to the unprecedented economic downtum in the automotive industry that continued throughout the fourth quarter of 2008.
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The goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment charges of $368.7 million and $23.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, are broken down by reporting segment as {ollows:

Succeasor
December 31
2008 H07
(Millions of Dollars)
Powertrain Energy $ 137 § 232
Pewertrain Seahing and Bearings 15.8 —
Vehicle Safety and Protection 1025 —
Automotive Products 106.7 —
Global Aftermarket 1300 -
Corporate — -
$ 687 § 252

The 2008 impairment charge is primarily attributable to significant decreases in forecasted future cash flows as the Company adjusts to known and anticipated
chunges in industry production volumes.

During 2008, the Company recorded amortization cxpense of $75.7 million associated with definite-lived intangible assets. The Company wtilizes the straight
line method of amortization, recogaized over the estimated usetul lives of the assets. The Company’s estimated future amortization expense tor its definite-lived
intangible assets is as follows {in millions of dollarsy:

2609 $ 488
2010 48.8
2011 47.1
2012 471
2013 4.7
Thercafter 3274

$563.9

The Company evaluated the criteria defined by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants practice aid entitled Assers Acquired in a Business
Combination to be Used in Research and Development Aciivities. The criteria included control, economic benefit, measurability. no alternative future use and
substance, As a result of this evaluation, the Company concluded that there were no signiticant research and development activities to which value should be
assigned in connection with fresh-start reporting.

11, INVESTMENTS IN NON-CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES

The Company maintains investments in 14 non-consolidated affiliates, which are located in China, Germany, India, Italy, Korea, Turkey, the United Kingdom,
and the United States. The Company’s direct ownership in such affiliates ranges from approximately 1% to 50%. The aggregate investment in these affiliates
approximates $221 million and $324 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as “Other
noncurrent assets.” Upon the adoption of fresh-start reporting, the Company 's investments in non-conselidated aftiliates were adjusted to estimated fair value by
increasing the aggregate investment balances by approximately $127 million. These cstimated fair values were determined based upen internal and external
valuations considering various relevant market rates and transactions, and discounted cash flow valuation methods, among other factors, as further described in
Note 3 above.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company evaluated the recorded value of its investments in non-consolidated affiliates for potentiat impairment. Given the
cconomic downturn in the global automotive industry and the related declines in anticipated production volumes, the Company concluded that its investments in
non-consalidated affiliates, primarily in the Powertrain Energy segment were impaired, and an impairment charge of $63.8 million was recorded as of
December 31, 2008,
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The Company's equity tn the eamings of non-consolidated affiliates amounted to approximately $24 million. $38 million and $33 million for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. respectively. During 2008, these entities generated sales of approximately $642 million. net income of approximately $67
mittion and at December 31, 2008 had total net assets of approximately $482 million. Dividends received from non-vonsobidated aftiliates by the Company for
the periods ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $33 million, $36 million and $16 million, respectively. The Company dees not hold a controlling
interest in an entity based on exposure to economic risks and potential rewards (vanable interests) for which it is the primary beneficiary. Further, the Company's
Joint ventures are businesses established and maintained in connection with its operating strategy and are not special purpose entities.

The Company holds a 30% non-controlling interest in a joint venture located in Turkev. This joint venture was established in 1995 for the purpose of
manufacturing and marketing automotive pans. mcluding pistons, piston rings, piston pins, and cvlinder liners, to OE and aftermarket customers. Pursuant to the
joint venture agreement, the Company’s partner hoelds an option to put its shares to a subsidiary of the Company at the higher of the current fair value or at a
guaranteed minimum amount. The term of the contingent guarantee is indetinite, consistent with the terms of the joint venture sgreement. However, the
contingent guarantee would not survive termination of the joint venture agreement,

The guaranteed minimum amount represents a contingent guarantee of the initial investment of the joint venture partner and can be exercised at the discretion of
the partner, As of December 31, 2008, the total amount of the contingent guarantee, were all triggering ¢vents 10 occur, approximated $39 million. Management
belicves that this contingent guarantee is substantiatly less than the estimated current fatr value of the guarantees’ interest in the aftiliate. As such, the contingent
guarantee does not give rise (0 a contingent hability and, as a result, no amount is recorded for this guaraniee. It this put option were exercised. the consideration
paid and net assets acyuired would be accounted tor in accordance with SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations.

1f this put option were exercised at its estimated current fair value, such exercise could have a material effect on the Company 's liquidily. Any value in excess of
the guaranteed minimum amount of the put option would be the subject of negotiation between the Company and its joint venture partner,

In accordance with SFAS No. 150, Acconnting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equitv, the Company has
determined that its investments in Chinese joint venture arrangements are considered to be “limited-lived™ as such entities have specified durations ranging trom
30 10 50 years pursuant to regional statutory regulations. In general, these arrangements call for extension, renewal or liquidation at the discretion of the parties to
the arrangement at the end of the contractual agreement, Accordingly, a reasonable assessment cannot be made as to the impact of such arrangements on the
future liguidity position of the Company.

12. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

Suceessor
December 31

2008 1007

(Millions of Dollars)
Accrued compensation $ 1757 § 2244
Restructuring reserves 113.1 19.1
Accrued rebates 103.7 93.6
Nen-income tax payable 253 212
Accrued product retums ) 20.7 20.0
Accrued income taxes 16.7 48.5
Accrued professional services ' 142 228
Accrued warranty 9.2 1.1
Accrued Chapter 11 and UK. Administration expenses 4.5 353

$ 4831 § 496.
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13. DEBT

In connection with the consummation of the Plan, on the Effective Date. the Company entered into a Tranche A Term Loan Agreement (the “Tranche A Facility

Agreement™, The Tranche A Focility Agreement provided for a $1.334.6 million term loan issued on the Effective Dute to satisty in part the obligations owed
wnder the Predecessor Company's prepetition credit agreement and cettain other prepetition surety-related obligations. On December 27, 2007, the Company
notified the administrative agent under the Tranche A Facility Agreement of the Company”s intent to repay the Tranche A term foan during January 2008. On

January 3, 2008, the Tranche A term loan was repaid i full.

On the Effective Date, the Company, us the issuer, entered into an Indenture {the “Indenture™) relating to the issuance of approximately $305 million in senior
subordinated third priority payment-in-kind notes (the “PIK Notes™, referred to together with the Tranche A Facility Agreement as the “Repaid Instruments™).
‘The PIK Notes were issued in order to satisty in part the obligations under the Predecessor Company s prepetition credit agreement and certain other prepetition
surcty-related obligations. On December 28, 2007, the Company gave its notice of intent to redeem the PIK Notes, in full, in January 2008 at a price equal to
their redemption price. On Jfanuary 3, 2008, the PIK Notes were redeemed in full.

Also on the Effective Date, the Company entered into a Term Loan and Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Exit Facilittes™) with Citicorp U.S.A. Inc. as
Administrative Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A, as Syndication Agent and certain lenders. The Exit Facilities include a $540 million revolving credit facility
{which is subject to a borrowing base and can be increased under certain circumstances and subject 1o certain conditions) and a $2,960 million term loan credit
facility divided into a $1,960 million tranche B loan and a $1.000 million tranche C loan. The Company borrowed $878 miliion under the term loan tacility on
the Effective Date and the remaining $2,082 million of term loans, which were available for up to sixty days after the Effective Date, have been fully drawn as
described below. As of the Effective Date, existing letters of credit under the Predecessor Company’s debtor-in-possession (“DIP™) credit agreement of
approximately $34.3 million, and existing letters of credit issued under the Predecessor Company’s prepetition credit facility of spproximatety $39.4 million,
were rolled over as letters of credit under the Exit Facilities,

The obligations under the revolving credit facility mature December 27, 2013 and bear interest for the first six months at LIBOR plus 1.75% or ot the alternate
base rate (“ABR", defined as the greater of Citibank, N.A.’s announced prime rate or 0.50% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 0.75%, and thereafter shall be
adjusted in accordance with a pricing grid based on availability under the revolving credit facility. Interest rates on the pricing grid range trom LIBOR plus
1,50% to LIBOR plus 2.00% and ABR plus 0.50% to ABR plus 1.00%. The tranche B term loans mature December 27, 2614 and the tranche C term loans
mature December 27, 2015: provided, however, that in each case, such maturity may be shortened to December 27, 2013 under certain circumstances. In
addition, the tranche C term loans are subject to a pre-payment premium, should the Company choose to prepay the toans prior 1o December 27, 2011. All Exit
Facilities term loans bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.9375% or at the alternate base rate (as previously defined) plus 0.9375% at the Company's ¢lection. To the
extent that interest rates change by 25 basis points, the Company’s annual interest expense would show a corresponding change of approximately 35 million.

On January 3. 2008, the Company drew an additional $2,082 million under the Exit Facilities, of which $1,642 was used by the Company to repay or redeem the
Repaid Instruments and interest thereon, both as discussed above. Given that the Company imended to finance the Repaid Instruments on a long-term basis,
comnuitments tor such long-term financing existed as of December 31, 2007 and that such intent was achieved with the refinancing of the Repaid Instruments
with long-term borrowings under the Exit Facilities. each of the Repaid Instruments was classified as long-term in the Company’s balance sheet as of
December 3}, 2007.

The Company, during 2008, entered into a series of five-year interest rate swap agreements with a total notional value of $1,190 million to hedge the variability
of interest payments associated with its variable-rate term loans under the Exit Facilities. Through these swap agreements, the Company has fixed its base interest
and premium rate at a combined average interest rate of approximately 5.37% on the hedged principle amount of $1,190 million. Since the interest rate swaps
hedge the variability of interest payments on variable rate debt with the same terms, they quality for cash flow hedge accounting treatment.
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‘The Exit Facilities were inttially negotiated by the Predecessor Company and centain of the Plan Proponents, reaching agreement on the majority of significant
terms of the Exit Facilitivs in early 2007, Between the time the terms were agreed in carly 2007 and the Effective Dale. interest rates charged on similar Jebt
instruments for companies with similar debt ratings and capitalization levels rose to higher levels. As such, when applying the provisions of fresh-start reporting,
the Compuny estimated it fair value adjustiment of $163 million for the available borrowings under the Exit Facilities. This estimated tair value has been recorded
within the fresh-start reporting. and will be amonized as interest expense over the terms of each of the underlying components of the Exit Facilities. During 2008,
the Company recognized $22.2 miltion in inferest expense associated with the amertization of this Eair value adjustiment,

Debt consisted of the following:

Succeysor
December 31
008 2007
(Millions of Dellurs)

Exit Facilities:

Revalver $ - £ 1510 |

Tranche B term loan 1.940.4 — ‘
Tranche C term loan 990.0 8780
Tranche A term loan — 1,3346
Senior subordinated third priority secured notes — 305.2
Bebt discount {140.8) (163.0)
Other debt, primarily foreign instruments 801 1206
2,869.7 26354
Less: short-term debt, including current maturities of long-term debt (101.7) (117.8)
Total long-term debt $ 2.768.0 $2517.6

The obligations of the Company under the Exit Facilities are guaranteed by substuntiadly all of the domestic subsidiaries and certain foreign subsidiaries of the
Company. and are secured by substantially all personal property and certain real property of the Company and such guarantors, subject to certain limitations, The
liens granted to secure these obligations and certain cash management and hedging obligations have first priority.

The Exit Facilities contain some affirmative and negative covenants and events of default, including, subject to certain exceptions, restrictions on incurring
additional indebtedness, mandatory prepayment provisions associated with specified asset sales and dispositions, and limitations on i) investrents: ii) certain
acquisitions, mergers or consolidations; iii) sale and leaseback transactions; iv) certain transactions with affiliates and v) dividends and other payments in respect
of capital stock.

The total commitment and amounts outstanding on the revolving credit facility are as follows:

Successor
December 31
2008 2007
{Millions of Dollars}
Current Contractual Committnent $ 5400 $ 5400
Outstanding:
Revolving credit facility 5 - $ 1510
Letters of credit 46.6 73.7
Total outstanding $ 466 § 2247
Borrowing Base on Revolving credit facility
Current borrowings — 151.0
Letters of credit 46.6 73.7
Available to borrow 475.7 3153
Total borrowing base $ 52231 § 5400
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Under the Exit Facilities, the Company had $36.9 mullion of letiers of crednt outstanding at December 31, 2008: $46.6 million pertaining to the revolving credit
facility und $10.3 millivn pertaining to the term Joan eredit lacility. To the extent letters of credit associated with the revalving credit facility are issued, there is a

corresponding decrease in borrowings available under this feility.

‘The Company has the following contractual debt obligations outstanding 1 December 31, 2008:

Maturities of Leng-Term Borrowings Debt
{Millions of
Dollars)
2009 $ 101.7
2010 Jod
2011 308
2012 196
2013 96
‘Thereatter 2.782.4
Total $§ 30105

‘The weighted average interest rate for short-term debt was approximately 8.7% and 7.9% as of Decemnber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. [nterest paid on debt
in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $152.4 million, $216.5 million and $246.5 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of the Company’s Exit Facilities was $1,362.7 million. The estimated fair value was $1,426.9 million lower
than its carrying value. Fair market values are developed by the use of estimates obtained [rom brokers and other appropriate valuation techniyues based on
information available as of Decemnber 31. 2008, There was no difference between estimated fair value and carrying value of the Company’s debt as of
December 31, 2007 dus to fresh-start reporting. The fair value estimates do not necessarily reflect the values the Company could realize in the current markets.

14. PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Company sponsors several defined benefit pension plans (“Pension Benefits™ and health care and life insurance benefits (“Other Benefits™) for certain
employees and retirees around the world, As of December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 138, Emplovers Accomniing for Defined Benefis Pension
ened Other Postretivement Plans, which requires balance sheet recognition of the over funded or under funded status of pension und other postemptoyment benefit

plans.
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The measurement date for all detined benefit plans is December 31. The year end status of the plans is as follows:

Pension Benefits

United States Plans International Plans {Jther Benefits
203 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

(Miltions of Doflars)
Change in benefit obligation:

Benetit obligation, beginning of vear, Successor % 1.005.8 $ 3483 § 5228
Benetit obligation, beginning of year, Predecessor $ 1,0438 $ 3162 $ 6104
Service cost 24,1 256 66 7.1 1.6 22
Interest cost 61.5 60.0 190 16.3 30.0 3Ls
Employee contributions -_ — 02 0.1 1.6 2.0
Benefits paid (74.8) (7.4 (23.) (214) (50.5) (317
Medicare subsidies received — — — — 42 46
Curtailment — (111} 10.6) (1.4 — —_
Settlements — — — (8.9) —_ —_
Plan amendments 0.6 — — —_ 8.0) (85.7)
Actuarial losses (gains) and changes in actuarial assumptions (31.0) (31.1) i4 (32.7 2.8) 64
Net transfer in — — — 38.1 —_ —_
Currency translation — — {177 4.9 (32) 3!
Benefit ubligation, end of year $§ 982 $10058 $£ 3340 § 3483 5 4937 § 3228
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year, Successor $ 9071 $ a2 5 -
Fair vatue of plan assets, beginning of year, Predecessor $ 8398 $ 202 s —
Actual return on plan assets {295.4) 48.3 1.4 27 — —
Company contributions 4.0 90.4 234 207 4.7 451
Benefits paid (74.8) (7.4} 232) 21.4) (50.5) (5L
Medicare subsidies received — — —_ —_ 42 46
Plan settlements —_ — — (7.7 — —_—
Employee contributions — -— 02 01 1.6 20
Net transfer in — _ —_ 241 — —
Currency transiation — — (40 25 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 5409 $ 907l 0§ 400 $ 422 $ — s —
Funded status of the plan $ (4453 8 (987) $(2940) $(306.1) $(4937) $(522.8)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:
Noncurrent assets $§ - 5 — $ 20 $ 30 3 — 5 —
Current liabilitics (2.6) (2.8} (14.7) (15.6) (43.7) (42.7)
Noncurrent liabilities {442. D) (959) {281.3) {293.5) (450.0) {480.1)
Net amount recognized $ (45 § (987 $(2040) $(306L) 34937y $(5228)
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss (income), net of tax impacts:
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 3484 § — $ 19 $ — $ 2n 8 —
Prior service cost (credit) 0.6 — — — (8.0) —
- Total $ 3490 § — $ L9 $ - $ go.ny § —
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Weighted-average assumptions used to detenmine the benetit obligation as of December 31

Discount rate
[xpected return on plan assets
Rate uf compensation increase

Pensian Benefita

inited Stutes Plins Internationnl Plans

{iher Benefity

2008 2007 T008 1007

6.45% 6.25% 5.25-8.25% 3.50-8.25%
8.50% 850%  4.00-10.00% 4.00-10 00%
3.50% 3170% 2.50 - 5.00% 2.00-5.00%

2008 2007
6.40% 6.20%

‘The Company evaluates its discount rate assumption annually as of December 31 for each of its retirement-related benefit plans based upon the yield of high
quality, fixed-income debt instruments, the maturitics of which correspond to expected benelit payment dates.

The Company’s expected return on assets is established annually through analysis off anticipated future long-term investment performance for the plan based

upon the asset allocation strategy. While the study gives apprapriate consideration to recent fund performance and historical returns,

a long-term prospective rate.

infurmation for defined benefit plans with projected benclit obligations in excess of plan assets:

Projected benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009

Pension Benefits

the assumption is primarily

LUinitedd States Plans Internatisnal Plans Other Benefita
2008 2007 008 2007 2008 2067

{Milliens of Dollars}

$ 9862 $ 10058 § 3312 3 3422
540.9 907.1 353 332
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Intormatien tor pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

Pension Benefits

U nited States Plans Tnternational Plans
20U8 2007 003 1007
{Millions of Dollars)
Projected benefit obligation $ 9862 % 10058 % 3109 § 3110
Accumulated benefit obligation y72.2 995.7 297.] 3024
Fair value of plan assets 540.9 907.1 17.6 84

The accumnulated benefit obligation for all pension plans is $1,288.9 million and $1,326.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Components of net peniodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31

Pension Benefits

United States Plans Internationsl Plany Other Benefits
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
(Miltions of Dollars)
Service cost $ 241 $256 $273 $ 66 £ 71 $ 75 $ 16 $ 22 % 20
Interest cost 6l.5 60.0 580 19.0 16.3 123.7 30.0 315 329
Expected return on plan assets (74.3) (72.3) {62.2) (2.6) (2.3) (94.8) — —_ —
Amortization of actuarial lusses — 18.0 273 — 26 50.6 0.1 19.0 15.0
Amortization of prior service cost (credit) — 6.5 6.3 —_ 0.1 — on (12.5) 4.1)
Settlement loss ~ U K. plans — — — — — 500.4 -— — —
Settlement and curtailment (gain) loss — — (] 0.1 (1.5 (L.0) — — —
Net periodic cost $ 113 § 378B § 572 §$231 $223 $6264 $314 § 404 F458

During 2006. the Predecessor Company recorded a settlement charge on UK. pension plans equal to $500.4 millien in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. This charge relates to the obligations of its two U.K. pension plans that were settled per the terms set forth in the company voluntary arrangements
("CVAs™). which became eilective October 11, 2006. Accordingly, all amounts associated with the U K. pension plans were removed from the Predecessor

Company’s balance sheet in accordance with SFAS No. 88, Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for
Termination Bencfits,

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31

Pension Benefits

United States Plans International Plans : Qther Benefits
2008 1007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Discount rate 6.25% 5.85% 550-815% 4.50-800% 620%  5.85%
Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 850%  4.00-10.00% 4.50-8.75% — —
Rate of compensation increase 3.70% 3.70% 2.00- 5.00% 2.00-3.80% — —_
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Amounts in aceumulated uther comprehensive (loss) income expected 1o be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year:

Pension Benefits

United States International Other Benefits
(Millivns of Doltars)
Amortization of actuarial gains {losses) s 0.0 § 0.1 s (480}
Amaortization of prior service cost (eredit) 0.1 — (0.9)
Total by 30.1 5 (LR ] 3 (.o

The assumed heatth care and drug cost trend rates used to measure next year’s postemptoyment healthcare benefits are as fullows:

{Hher Benefits

2008 07
Heakth care cost trend rate 7.5% 3.0%
Ultimate heatth care cost trend rate 50% Su%
Year ultimate health ¢are cost trend rate reached 2014 013
Drug cost rend rate 9.2% 10.0%
Ultimate drug cost trend rote 5.0% 5.0%
Year ultimate drug cost trend rate reached 2014 2013

The assumed health care cost trend rate has a significant impact on the amounts reported for Other Benefits plans. The following table illustrates the sensitivity to
a change in the assumed health care cost trend rate:

Total Service and

Interest Cost APBO
- {Millions of Dollary)
100 basis point (“bp™) increase in health care cost trend rate b 1.5 § 255
100 bp decrease in health care cost trend rate (1.4 23.9)
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The tollowing table illustrates the sensitivity to a change in certain assumptions for projected benefit obligations (“PBO”). assoctated expense and other
comprehensive loss ("OCL™). The changes in these assumptions have no impact on the Company 's 2009 funding requirements.

Pension Benefits

United States Plans International Plans Other Benefits
Change Change Change Change
in 2009 Change in in 2009 Change in Change Change
pension in accumuluted pension in accumulnted in 2009 in
expense PBO OCL erpense PBO OCL eapense PBO
(Millions of dollars)
25 bp decrease in discount rate $ (18 % 207 §% 207y $ @1 0§ 81 $ 8. % 04 % 100
25 bp increase in discount rate 1.7 (20.7) 207 0.1 (7.8} 1.8 0.4 (9.5}
25 bp decrease in rate of return on assets 1.3 — _ 0.1 — — —_ —
25 bp increase in rate of return on assets (3 — — (0.1) — — — —

The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at the measurement dates of December 31, 2008 and 2007, by asset category are as follows:

United States Plan Asscts Internationad Plan Assets
December 3t December M1
Actual Target Agtual Target
P 7009 M08 o1 2009
Asset Category
Equity securitics T1% 75% 5% 4% 6% 4%
Debt securities 9% 25% 25% 8% 13% 3%
Insurance contracts — — — _88% _81% 38%

100%  100% [00% 100%  100% 100%

The plans invest in a diversified portfolio of assets consisting of global equity and fixed-income investments. The Company expects to contribute approximately
$235.3 million to its pension plans in 2009,

Projected benefit payments from the plans are estimated as follows:

Pension Benefits

United States International Other Benefits
{Millisns of Dollars)

2009 $ 750 $ 210 $ 43.8
2010 . 76.9 214 44.5
201r ) . 82.3 219 44.7
2012 794 221 438
2013 §2.0 244 42.8
Years 2014 - 2018 4571 127.2 204.0

The Company alse maintains certain defined contribution pension plans for eligible employees. The total expense attributable to the Company's defined
contribution savings plan was $25.1 million, $25.1 million and $25.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The amounts contributed to defined contribution pension plans include contributions to .8, multi-employer pension plans of $0.4 million, $0.7 million, and $1.0

million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

Other Postemployment Benefits

The Company accounts for benefits to former or inactive employees paid after employment but before retirement pursuant to SFAS No. 112, Employers’
Accounting for Postemplovment Benefits. The liabilities for such U.S. and
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European postemployment benetits for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 w ere $41.7 million and $39.1 midlion, respectively.

15. INCOME TAXES

Under the liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
tiabilitics and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected (o reverse.

The components of (loss} income trom continuing operations before income taxes consisted of the following:

3
&

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 3§
2008 2007 2006
{Millicns of Dallars)
Domestic £ (3606) S 14903  $ (2001}
International (88.6) 253.8 {413.5)
“Tutal $  (H92) $ 1744 1 $(613.6)
Significant components of the (expense) benefit for income taxes are as follows:
Succesior Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
(Millions of Doflars)
Current:
Federal $ 48 $ AN $49.7
State and local Wh {44) (1.0}
[nternational {34.0) {75.1) 4.2
Total current (30.9) (344} 529
Duferred;
Federal .9 {274.6) —
State and local a1 — —
[nternational . (29.8) 272 1
Total deferred 12.2 (247.4) [N

(187 $(331.8) 3640
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The reconciliation of income taxes computed 2t the United States federat statutory tax rate to income tax (expense) benefit is:

Successor Predecesvor
; Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006
{Millions of Doliars)
Income tax benefit (expense) at United States statutory rate $ 1512 $ (6104) $ 2148
Tax etfect from:
Goodwill impatrment (87.8) (8.7 —
Gain on purchase of debt by related party {21.0} — —
Foreign operations 1) (197.6) (71.3)
Fresh start reporting adjustments — 3347 —
Gain on settlement of liubilities subject to compromise — (3.4) —
State income taxes 24 (4.4} (rm
Favorable audit settlements and lax refunds - 9.4 98.0
Net tax benefit of intercompany loan write-offs - — 5337
Asbestos trust deduction — 65.1 —
Valuation allowances (35.4) 1001 (705.8)
Nordeductible interest, fees and other 1.0 (11.6} {4.4)
Income Lax (expense) benefit £ (8T $(331.8) $ 640
The following table summarizes the Company’s total (provision) benefit for income taxes by component:
Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 3
2008 2007 2006
(Millions of Doklars)
Income tax (expense) benefit $ (18.7 $(331.8) $ 640
Adjustments to goodwill {262.2) 30.5 —
Allocated to equity: .
Postemployment benefits 119.0 (58.5) (352.8)
Derivatives 344 — —_—
Foreign currency translation 1.& 1.8 (182)
Valuation atlowances : (151.2) 30.5 3394
Signiticant components ef the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilitics are as follows:
Successor
December 31
2008 2067

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards

Postemployment benefits, including pensions

Reorganization costs

Other temporary differences

Tax credits
Total deferred tax assets

Valuation allowances for deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax aggets

Deferred tax liabilities
Investment in U.S. subsidiaries
intangible assets
Fixed assets
Total deferred tax liabilities
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{Milliens of Dollars}

$ 4788 $ 3562
4122 3492
110.4 131.9
49.0 19
488 394

1099.3 8306
(786.5} (433 9
3128 396.7
(367.4) (283.8)
(335.6) (169.3)
(91.4) (149)
(794 4) (567.1)

$ (481.6) $ (170.4)
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Deferred tax assets and habilities are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

Successor
December 3t
2008 107
{Millions of Dollars)
Assets!
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 556 $ 706
Other nongurrent assets 24.3 989
Lixbiltties:
Other current liabilities (8.2) (8.5)
Long-term portion of deferred income taxes (353.3) (3314

§ (481.6) $(1704)

Income taxes paid, net of refunds, in 2008, 2007 and 2006 were $72.6 million, $48.0 mitlion and $74.0 million, respectivcly.

The Company did not record taxes on a portion of its undistributed earnings of $652.3 million at December 31, 2008 since these earnings are considered by the
Company 1o be permanently reinvested. 1f at some future date, these eamings cease lo be permanently reinvested, the Company may be subject to United States
income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on such amounts. Determining the unrecognized deferred tax liability on the potential distribution of these earnings is
not practicable as such liability, if any, is dependent on circumslances existing when remittance oceurs.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had a deferred tax asset of $527.6 million for tax loss carryforwards and tax credits. including $245.2 million in the United
States with expiration dates from 2009 through 2028; $124.4 million in the United Kingdom with no expiration date; and $138.0 million in other jurisdictions
with various expiration dates. Prior to January 1, 2009, uny reduction in the valuation allowance as a result of the recognition of deferred tax assets were adjusted
through goodwill. Beginning January 1, 2009, pursuant te SFAS 141(R), any reduction to the valuation atlowance will be retlected through continuing
operations,

The Predecessor Company adopted Financial Interpretation No. 48. Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109
C'FIN 487) as of January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in companies’ financial statements in accordance
with SFAS No. 109, Adceonnting for Income Taxes. As a result, the Company applies a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold for all tax uncertaintics, FIN 48
only allows the recognition of those tax benefits that have a greater than 50% likelihood of being sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. As a
result of implementing FIN 48, the Predecessor Company recognized a $13.8 miltion decrease in the reserve for unrecognized tax benetits. which was accounted
for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 total shareholders’ deticit.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had total unrecognized tax benefits of $456.2 million and $252.0 million, respectively. Of these totals, 350.5
million and $91.9 million, respectively, represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate. The
total unrecognized tax benefits ditfer from the amount which would atfect the effective 1ax rate primarily due to the impact of valuation allowances.
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A summary of the changes in the gross amount of unrecognized 1ax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are shown below:

Year Ended
December 31
1008 2007
{Millions of Pallary)

Change in unrecognized tax benefits

Balance at January 1 $ 2520 $1706
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 395 121.9
Additions for tax positions of prior years 072 99
Decreases for tax positions of prior years {13.7) {(32.2)
Deereases for statute of limitations expiration (17.0) (8.5
Settlements {7.2) (1.2)
Impact of currency transtation (2.6) 35
Balance at December 31 $456.2 $ 2520

The Company classiftes tax-related penalties and net interest as income tax expense, As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company recorded $9.4 million and
$6.0 millton, respectively, in liabilities for tax-related net interest and penalties on its consolidated balance sheet. During the year ended December 31, 2008, the
Company recorded a tax expense related to an increase in its liability for interest and penalties of $1.7 mullion.

The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions throughout the world, The Company is no longer subject 10 U.S. federal tax examinations for years before 2005
or state and local tor years hefore 2001, with limited exceptions. Furthermore, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations in major foreign tax
Jurisdictions for years prior to 1998. The income tax returns of various subsidiaries in various tax jurisdictions are currently under examination. It is possible that
these examinations will conclude within the next tweive months. However, it is not possible to estimate net increases or decreases to the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefits during the next twelve months.

16. LITIGATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Resolution of Asbestos Liabilities

As described in Note 2, all asbestos-refated personal injury claims against the Debtors will be addressed by the U.S. Asbestos Trust or the UK, Asbestos Trust in
accordance with the terms of the Plan and the CVAs, and such claims will be treated and paid in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the CVAs, and their
related documents. All ashestos property damage claims against the Debtors have been compromised and resolved through the Plan and the CVAs. Accordingly,
the Debtors have not recorded an osbestos liability as of December 31, 2008 or 2007, :

Environmental Matters

The Company is a defendant in Jawsuits filed, or the recipient of administrative orders issued. in various jurisdictions pursuant to the Federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA"™) or other similar national, provincial or state environmental Jaws. These laws
require responsible parties to pay for remediating contamination resulting trom hazardous substances that were discharged into the environment by them, by prior
owners or occupants of their property, or by others to whom they sent such substances for treatment or other disposition, The Company has been notified by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, other national environmental agencies, and various provincial and state agencies that it may be a potentially
responsible party (“PRP"} under such laws for the cost of remediating hazardous substances pussuant to CERCLA and other national and state or provincial
environmental laws. PRP designation typically requires the funding of site investigations and subsequent remedial activities.

Many of the sites that are likely 10 be the costliest to remediate are olten current or former commercial waste disposal facilities to which numerous companies
sent wastes. Despite the joint and several liability which might be imposed on the Company under CERCLA and some of the other laws pertaining to these sites,
the Company's share of the total waste sent to these sites has generally been small. The other companies that sent wastes to these sites,
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often numbering in the hundreds or more, generally include Targe, solvent, publicly owned companies and in most such situations the government agencies and
courts have imposed liahility in some reasonable relationship to contribution of waste, Thus. the Company' believes its exposure tor liubility at these sites is
limited.

‘The Company has also identitied certain other present and lormer propertics at which it may be responsible for cleaning up or addressing environmental
contamination, in some cases as a result of contractual commitments. The Company is actively seeking 1 reselve these actual and potential stawutory. regulatory
and contractual obligations. Although difticult to quantify based vn the complexity of the issues, the Company has secrued amounts corresponding 16 1 best
estimate of the costs ossucisted with such regulatory and contractual ebligations on the basis of availuble information {rom site investigations w! best
professional judgment of consultants.

The Company is a party to two lawsuits in Ohio and Michigan relating to indemnitication for costs arising from environmental releases from industrial operations
of the Predecessor Company prior to 1986, These two lawsuits had been stayed temporarily to allow the parties to engage in settlement negotiations and are both
now proceeding to trial. During 2008, the Company reached settlements with certain parties, which resulted in net recoverics to the Company of $16.9 million.
‘The Company continues to engage in settlement discussions with the remaining parties, although no assurances <an be given regarding the outcome of such
discussions.

“Total environmental reserves, determined on an undiscounted busis, were $25.8 million and $30.4 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and are
mcluded in the Consolidated Balunce Sheets as follows:

Successor
December 31
2008 007
{Millions of Dollars)

Current liabilities

Fnvironmental liabilities £ 7.1 $ 715
Long-term accrued liabilities

Environmental liabilities 18.7 239

§ 358 8§ 304

Management believes that recorded environmental liabilities will be adequate 1 cover the Company’s estimated iability for its exposure in respect lo such
matters. In the event that such linbilities were to significantly exceed the amounts recorded by the Company, the Company s results of operations and financial
condition could be materially affected. At December 31, 2008, management estimates that reasonably possible material additional losses above and beyond
management's best estimate of required remediation costs as recorded approximate $69 million.

Other Matters

“The Company is involved in other legal actions and claims, directly and through its subsidiaries. Management does not believe that the outcomes of these other
actions or claims are likely 1o have a material adverse etlect on the Company's financial position, operating results, or cash flows,

17. CONDITIONAL ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

‘The Company records conditional asset retirement obligations (“CARO™) in accordance with FASB Interpretation No, 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations — an interpretation af FASB Statement No. {43 (“FIN 477}, when the amount can be reasonably estimated, typically uport the expectation
that an operating site may be closed or sold. The Company has identified sites with contraciual obligations and several sites that are closed or expected to be
closed and sold in connection with Restructuring 2009. In connection with these sites, the Company has accrued $27.0 million and $27.3 million as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, for CARO, primarily related to anticipated costs of removing hazardous building materials, and has considercd
impairment issues that may result from capitalization of CARQ in accordance with SFAS 144,
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The Company has additional CARO, also primarily related to removal costs of hazardous materials in buildings, for which it believes reasonable cost estimates
cannot be made at this time because the Company does not believe it has a reasonable basis 1o assign probabilities to a range of potential settlement dates for

these retirement obligations. Accordingly. the Company is currently unable to determine amounts to acerue for CARQ at such sites.

For those sites that the Company identifies in the future for closure or sale, or for which it vtherwise belteves it has a reasonable basis to assign probabilities to a
range of potential settlement dates, the Company will review these sites tfor both CARO in accordance with FIN 47 and impairment issues 1n accordance with

SFAS No. 144,

Reserves tor CARO are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

Current Liabilities
lLong-term accrued liabilities

A reconciliation of the CARO for 2007 and 2008 is as follows {in millions of dollars);

CARQO at January [, 2007, Predecessor Company
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities seted/ndjustments

CARO at December 31, 2007, Successor Company
Liabilities incurred
Licbilities settled/adjustments

CARO at December 31, 2008, Successor Company

18. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following:

Foreign currency translation adjustments and other, net of tax
Hedge instrumenis, net of tax
Postemployment benefits, net of tax
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, Predecessor Company
Reorganization adjustments and application of fresh-start reporting
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Successor Company

19. CAPITAL STOCK

Commen and Preferred Stock

The Successor Company, under its certificate of incorporation, is authorized to issue 540,100,000 shares of capital stock consisting of 450,100,000 shares of
Common Stock, $.01 par value and 90,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $.01 par value.

From December 27, 2007 through July 27, 2008, the Successor Company was authorized to issue 540,100,000 shares of capital stock consisting of 400,000,000

shares of Class A Common Stock, $.01 par value, 50,100,000
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R 2007
{Millioas of Dollars)
$ 89 $ 111
181 162
$ 20 $ 273
$25.3
6.2
(4.2)
273
4.4
[CN]
$27.0

December 31
2008 2007

{Mitlions of Doliars)
$(251.6) $ 4206

(95.4) .3
{341.0) {283 5)
127.8
(127.8)
$ (688.0) 5 —
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shares of Class B Coinmon Stock, $.01 par value and 90,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $01 par value. Both classes of commaon stock had identicat rights
with respect to dividends, distributions, and voting rights except that Class B Common Stock voted for Class B Directors and Class A Common Stock voted for
Class A Directors of the Board of Directors.

On February 25, 2008, Thornwood Assoviates Limited Partnership, a lunited partnership beneficially owned indirectly by AIr. Curt Feahn, exercised the two
opuons held by it to purchase alf of the shares of Class B Common Stock from the U.S. Asbesios Trust for aggregate consideration of $900 million, and the
shares of Class B Common Stock automatically converted into shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the then applicuble certificate of incorporation.

Effective July 28, 2008, upon the written vonsent of the Successor Company’s majority shareholder and notice to all shareholders, the Successor Company's
certificate of incorporation was amended o, amang other things, eliminate all references to Class B common stock and related provisions and reclassily the
Successor Company's Class A common stock as the sole class of common stock.

On Scptember 11, 2008, the Company purchased 1,093,500 shares of its common stock for $16.7 miltion ina single transaction with an unrelated party.

Warrants

In cunnection with the Plan, holders of the Predecessor Company's common stock. Series € ESOP Convertible Preferred Shares and the 7% Convertible Junior
Subordinate Debentures received warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock of the Successor Company at an exercise price equal to $43.813, exerciszble
through December 27, 2014, The Campany issued 6,951,87] warrants us of the Effective Date. all of which remain outstanding as of December 31, 2008, All of
the Predecessor Company's comimon stock (and all rights and covenants related thereto) was cancelled pursuant to the Plan on December 27, 2007, of which
91,344,239 shares were outstanding at December 27, 2007,

The Company has accounted for these warrants as equity instruments in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 00-19, Acconnring Jor Deriveative
Financial Istruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, and as such, will be classified in stockholders’ equity as they meet the
definition of “...indexed to the issuer's stock™ in Emerging Issues Task Foree 01-6 The Meaning of Indexed 10 @ Company s Own Stock, The Company has
estimated the fair value of these warrants at $33.0 million as of December 31, 2007 using the Black-Scholes eption pricing model. Key assumptions used by the
Company are summarized in the following table:

Expected volatility : : 41%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Risk-free rate over the estimated expected life of warrants 3.88%
Expected term {in years) 70

20. STOCK-BASED COMFPENSATION

On February 2, 2005, the Predecessor Company entered into a five-year employment agreement with José Maria Alapont, effective March 23, 2005, whereby
Mr. Alapont was appointed as the Predecessor Company s president and chief executive officer. In connection with this agreement, the Plan Proponents agreed to
amend the Plan to provide that the reorganized Federal-Mogul would grant to Mr. Alapont stock options equal to at least 4% of the value of the Successor
Company at the reorganization date (the “Employment Agreement Options”). The Employment Agreement Options vest ratably over the life of the employment
agreement, such that one fifth of the Employment Agreement Options will vest on each anniversary of the employment agreement effective date. For purposes ot
estimating fair value, the Employment Agreement Options were deemed to expire on December 27, 2014.

Additionally, one-haif of the Employment Agreement Options had an additional feature allowing for the exchange of one half of the options for shares of stock
of the Successor Company, at the exchange equivalent of four options
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for one share of Common Stock. The Employment Agreement Options without the exchange feature are referred to herein as “plain vanilla options™ and those
Empteyment Agreement Options with the exchange feature are referred to as “options with exchange.”

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), Share Based Pavments, the Predecessor Company determined the amourt of compensation expense associated with the

Employment Agreement Options based upon the estimated fair value of such options as of December 31, 2007 snd 2006, Key assumptions and related
oplion-pricing models used by the Company are summarized in the following table.

Predecessor Company

007 1006
Plain vanilla Options with Plsin Vanilla Optioas with
Options Exthange Options Exchange

Valuation model Black-Scholes  Modified Binomial  Bluck-Schofes Modified Binomial
Expected volatility 43% 43% 37% 37%
Expected dividend vield 0% % 0% 0%
Risk-iree rate over the estimated expected vption life 326-4.24% 326-424% 457 -5071% 457-507%
Expected option life (in years) 3.80 462 4.09 4.99

In estimating the expected life of the plain vanilla options, the Company utilized the “simplified methed” as first described in SEC Statf Accounting Bulletin
("SAB™) 107 and as permitted in accardance with SAB 110, The simplified method was used as there is only one individual who has outstanding options as of
December 31, 2007 and no historical option exercise data is available.

Prior to the Effective Date of the Plan, the Predecessor Company was required to reassess the value of the Employment Agreement Options quarterly and adjust
the aggregate compensation expense recognized to reflect any change in the value of the Employment Agreement Options. The Predecessor Company recorded
compensation expense pertaining to the options of $6.9 million and $5.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,

On the Effective Date and in accordance with the Plan, the Company granted to Mr. Alapont stock options to purchase four million shares of Successor Company
Common Stock at an exercise price of $19.50 (the “Granted Options™). Pursuant to the Stock Option Agreement dated as of December 27, 2007 between the
Company and Mr. Alapont {the “Initial CEO Stock Option Agreement™), the Granted Options do not have an exchange feature, In lieu of “options with
exchange™ under the Employment Agreement Options, the Successor Company entered into a deferred compensation agreement with Mr. Alapont intended to be
the economic equivalent of the options with exchange. Under the terms of this deferred compensation agreement, Mr. Alapont is entitled to certain distributions
of Common Stock, or, at the election of Mr, Alapont. certain distributions of cash upon certain events as set forth in the Deferred Compensation Agreement dated
as of December 27, 2007 between the Company and Mr. Alapont {the “Deferred Compensation Agreement”}). The amount of the distributions shal! be equal 1o
the fair value of 500,000 shares of Common Stock, subject to certain adjustments and offsets, determined as of the first to occur of {1) the date on which
Mr. Alapont’s employment with the Company terminates, {2) March 23, 2010, the date on which Mr. Alapont’s employment agreement with the Company

expires. {3) Mr. Alapont’s death, (4) the date Mr. Alapont becomes disabled (as defined for purposes of Section 4094 of the Internal Revenue Code), (5} at the

election of Mr. Alapont, a change in control (as defined for purposes of Section 409A of the internal Revenue Code), or (6) the occurrence of an unforeseezble
emergency (as defined for purposes of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code).

In connection with fresh-start reporting, the Company determined the aggregate estimated fair value at $33.7 million associated with the Granted Options and
deferred compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), Share Based Payments ("SFAS 123(R)"). Since the Deferred Compensation Agreement provides
tor net cash settlement at the option of Mr. Atapont, the Granted Options are treated as a liability award under SFAS 123{R), and the vested portion of the
awards, aggregating $19.1 million, has been recorded as a liability as of December 31, 2007. The remaining $14.6 million of total unrecognized compensation
cost related to non-vested stock options is expected to be recognized ratably over the remaining term of Mr. Alapont’s employment agreement. Key assumptions
and related option-pricing models used by the Company are summarized in the following table.
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Successor Company December 31, 2007 Vaslusiion
Optioas Cannected

Plain Vanilla To Deferred Deferred
Vafuation modet Black-Scholes Monte Carlo Monte Carlo -
Expected volatility 4% 41% H%
Expected dividend yield 0% U%h 0%
Risk-{ree rate over the estimated expected option life 13% 353% 3.53%
Expected vption lite (in years) 387 461 161

On February 14, 2008, the Company entered into Amendment No. | to the Inital CEOQ Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February, 14, 2008 (the
“Amendment”™). Pursuant to the Amendment, the exercise price for the option was increased to $29.75 per share. On February 15, 2008. the Initial CEO Stack
Optiun Agreement as amended was cancelled by mutual written agreement of the Company and Mr. Alapont. On February 15, 2008, the Company entered into a
new Stack Option Agreement with Me. Alapont dated as of February 15, 2008 (the “New CEO Stock Option Agreement™). The New CEO Stock Option
Agreement grants Mr. Alapont a non-transferable, non-qualified option (the “CEQ Option™} to purchase up to 4,000,000 shares of the Company's Common
Stock subject to the terms and conditions described below. The exercise price for the CEO Option is $19.50 per share, which is at least equal to the fair market
value of a share of the Company's Common Stack an the date of grant of the CEQ Option. In no event may the CEQ Option be exercised, in whole or in purt,
after December 27, 2014, The New CEO Stock Option Agreement provides for vesting as follows: 40% of the shares of Common Stock subject to the Option
were vested on the date of gront, and an additional 20% of the shares of Common Stock subject ta the Option vest on each of March 23, 2008, March 23, 200y
and March 23, 2010

These transactions were undertaken to comply with Internal Revenue Code Section JU9A in connection with the implementation of Mr. Alapont's employment
agreement. The grant of the CEO Option was approved by the Company's sharcholders effective July 28, 2008.

The Cumpany revalued the CEQ Option at December 31, 2008, resulting in a revised fair value of $4.1 million. During 2008, the Company recognized $t6.0
million in income associated with these options. Since the Deferred Compensation Agreement provides for net cash settlement at the option of Mr. Alapont, the
CEO Option is treated a3 a liability award under SFAS 123(R), and the vested portion of the awards, aggregating $3.1 million, has been recorded as a liability as
of December 31, 2008. The remaining $1.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost us of December 31, 2008 related to non-vested stock options is
expected to be recognized ratably over the remaining term of Mr. Alapont’s employment agreement, Key assumptions and related option-pricing models used by
the Company are summarized in the following table:

Successor Company December 31, 2008 Valuatisn
Options Connected

Plain Vanilla To Deferred Deferred
—Options Compengati Compensation
Veluation model - B ~ Black-Scholes Monte Carlo Monte Carlo
Expected volatifity 69% 69% 69%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free rate over the estimated expected option life 1.05% 1.19% 1.19%
Expected option life (in years) v 3.14- 36t 361
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21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

As Jiscussed in Note 19, the common shares of the Predecessor Company were cancelled upon the implementation of the Plan. As such. the camings per share
information for the Predecessor Company is not meaningful to shareholders of the Successor Company's common shares, or to petential investors in such
common shares.

The fullowing is a reconciliation of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted (loss) income per common share:

Successor Predecessor
Year Ended December 31
2003 1007 2006

(In Millions of Dollars, Except Share
and Per Share Amounts)

Net (loss) income $ (467.9) $14123 $ (549.6)
Weighted average shares vutstanding, basic (in millions) 997 89.7 89.4
[ncremental shares based on assumed conversion of cumulative convertible preterred stock N/A 1.6 1.9
Incremental shares on assumed cenversion of deferred compensation stock (in millions) 0.3 N/A N/A
Diluted (in millions) 100,0 9.3 9L.3!
(Loss) income per share:

Basic £ {69 8 1574 % (615
Diluted £ (269 $ 1546 $ (6.15)

The Successor Company had a loss for the year ended December 31, 2008 and the Predecessor Company had a loss for the year ended December 31, 2006, As a
result, diluted loss per share is the same as basic in those periods, as any potentially dilutive securities would reduce the loss per share,

22, OPERATIONS BY REPORTING SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC AREA

The Company’s integrated operations are organized into six reporting segments generally corresponding to major product groups: Powertrain Energy, Powertrain
Sealing und Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Protection, Autometive Products, Global Aftermarket and Corporate. Segment information as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2006 has been reclassified to reflect organizational changes implemented in the second quarter of 2607,

Powerirain Energy is one of the world's leading providers of powertrain components. Federal-Mogul's powertrain energy products are used in automotive. light
truck, heavy-duty, industrial, marine, agricultural, power generation and small air-coeled engine applications, The primary products of this segment include
engine pistons, piston ringg, piston pins. ¢ylinder liners, camshalfts, valve seats and puides, and transmission components. These products are offered under the
Federal-Mogul®, AE®, Goetze® and Nural® brand names. These products are either sold as individual products or offered to automotive manufacturéers as
assembled products. This strategic product offering adds value to the customer by simplifying the assembly process, lowering costs and reducing vehicle
development time, Powertrain Energy operates 33 manufacturing facilitics in |3 countries, serving many major automotive, heavy-duty diesel and industrial
customers worldwide.

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings is one of the world’s leading sealing solutions and bearings providers. Federal-Mogul offers a portfulio of world-class brand
names, including Federal-Mogul®, Fel-Pro®, FP Diesel®, Glyco®, National®, and Payen'®. The group serves a number of different industries including
automotive, truck, commercial equipment (construction. agricultural, power generation, marine and rail), industrial, recreation and consumer power equipment.
Product offering includes dynamic seals, bonded piston seals, combustion and exhaust gaskets, static
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paskets and seals, heat shields, engine bearings. bronze engine bearings, aluminum engine bearings and bushings und washers, Powertrain Sealing and Bearings
operates 29 manufacturing facilities 10 12 countrivs, serving many major automotive, heavy-duty divsel and industrial customers worldwide.

Lehicle Safetv and Protection is one of the world's leading suppliers of friction and systems protection products. Such products are used in awomotive and
heavy-duty applications and the primary products of this segment include brake disc pads. hrake shoes. brake linings und blocks und element resistant sheeving
systems protection products Federal-Mogul has a well-balanced portfolio of world-class brand names, including Federal-Mogul ©, Abexi., Beral®, Ferodo® and
Wagner®. Federal-Mogul supplics friction products to all the major customers in the light vehicle, commercial vehicle and railway sectors and is also a leading
company in the aftermarket. Vehicle Safety und Protection operates 18 manufacturing facilities in 13 countrics, serving many major automotive, railroad and
industrial customers worldwide,

Automotive Products is one of the world's leading manufacturer of products in several key aftermarket product lines, including brake, chassis, ignition, lighting,
luel and wiper products, These products are marketed under the leading brand mames Federal-Mogul®, AE®, ANCO®, Canterdd, Fel-Proi, Ferodo®®, FP
Diesel B, Glycow, Goetze B, MOOGD, National®, Payens, Sealed Power® and Wagnerk. Automotive Products operates 25 manufacturing facilities in 10
countries. serving a diverse base of distributors around the world.

Global Aftermarket distributes products manutactured within the above segments, or purchased, to the independent automotive, heavy-duty and industriat
replacement markets. Federal-Mogul is a leader in several key altermarket product lines. These products are marketed under the kading brand rames AER,
ANCOR, Carterl), Championk, Fel-Pra®, Ferodo®, Glyco®, GoetzeR, MOOG®, National B, One-Source B, Payen®, Sealed Power® and WagnerR. Global
Altlermarket operates 20 distribution facilities in 13 countries, serving a diverse base of distributors, retail parts stores and mass merchants around the world.

Corporate is comprised of headquarters and central support costs for human resources, finance, information systems und other corporate activities as well as
certain health and welfare costs for pension and other postemployment benefits for the Company's retirees. Current period service costs for active employees are
included in the results of operations for each of the Company’s reporling segments,

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those of the Company. Revenues related 10 Powertrain Energy, Powertrain Sealing and Bearings.
Vehicle Safety and Protection, and Automotive Products sold to OEM customers are recorded within the respective segments. Revenues from such products sold
to altermarket customers are recorded within the Global Aftermarket segment. All product transferred into Global A ftermarket from other reporting segments is
transferred at cost in the United States and at agreed-upon transfer prices internationally.

The Company evaluates segment performance principally on a non-GAAP Operational EBITDA basis. Operational EBITDA is defined as carnings before
interest. income taxes. depreciation and amortization, and certain items such as restructuring and impairment charges, Chapter 11 and U.K. Administration
related reorganization expenses, gains or losses on the sales of businesses, gain on settlement of liabilities subject to comprise, fresh-start ceporting adjustiments
and the impact on 2008 gross margin of the fresh-start reparting valuation of inventory,
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Net sales and gross margin information by reporting segment i5 as fotlows:

Powertrain Energy

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings
Vehicle Safety and Protection
Automotive Products

Cilobal A ltermarket

Curporate

Operational EBITDA by reporting segment is as tollows:

Powertrain Energy
Powertrnin Sealing and Bearings
Vehicle Safety and Protection
Autometive Products
(ilobal A frermarket
Corporate
Totat Segments Operational EBITDA

Successor Predecessor Successor Predecessor
Net Sales Grosy Margin
Yeur Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006 1008 2007 2006
{Millions of Dollars)
$ 2085 $2034 S$I1805 §$ 269 § 258 $ 267
1,048 1,054 956 63 33 79
n7y 793 724 172 193 170
379 334 288 81l 73 51
2637 2,679 2,553 530 61! 610"
et — b 2 (3 (72)

$ 6866 $6914

ltems required to reconcile Operational EBITDA to (loss) income before income tax cxpense:

interest expense, net
Depreciation and amortization
Restructuring charges, net

Gross margin impact of December 31, 2007 fresh-start reporting inventory adjustment

Adjustment of assets to fair value
Settlement of U.K. pension plans

Chapter 11 and UK. Administration related reorganization costs .

Gain on settbement of liabilities subject to compromise

Fresh-start reporting adjustments
Other
{Loss) Income Before Income Taxes

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009

L

$6326 $_ 1124 $1,185 $ L1065

Successor Predecessor
Year Fnded December 31
2008 2007 2006

(Millions of Dollars)
5 34 $ 333 $ 319

1] 55 79
162 181 154 .
80 70 49
378 424 432,
(241} (300) (409)
754 763 624
(180) (199) (206)
(350 (354) (329)
(132) (48) {66}
{68) — —
451) (61) (46)
— — (501)
(mn {81) (95)

— 76l —_
— 956 —
(5) 7 5

S_(449) $174 $ (614)
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‘Fotal assets, capital expenditures, and depreciation and amartization information by reporting segment is as set forth in the tables below. Included in total assels
as of December 31, 2007 were estimated values, primarily tor fixed assets, intangible assets and deferred taxes. associated with the application of fresh-stant
reporting, The finalization of fresh-start reporting resulted in subsequent changes to these estimates. Goodwill was assigned to reporting segments based an
individual reporting unit fair values over values aitributed to specitic intangible and tangible assets.

Powertrain Eneruy

Powertrain Sealing and Bearings
Vehicle Safety and Protection
Automotive Products

Global Aftermarket

Corporate

The following table shows geographic information:

United States
Ciermany
France

United Kingdom
Other

23. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO DECEMBER 31, 2008

Suvcessor Successor Predecessor * Successor Predecessar
Depreciation
Total Assets {apital Expenditures and Amartization
December M Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31
1008 3007 2008 2007 2006 2008 07 K6
{Millions of Doltars)
$1512 $1820 § I3t $147 % 88 § 102 $13% §s1i122
8i6 822 69 65 51 35 74 72
1.077 1,708 40 45 39 53 67 63
785 1,022 41 23 25 38 44 42
2,007 1988 4 6 7 8 1! 12
1,039 306 35 24 27 94 19 18
$7236 $7866 $ 320 $310 $237 § 330 §$354 § 329
Sutcessor Predecessor Successor
Net Sales Net PPE
Yeat Ended December 31 December 31
2HI8 2007 1006 1008 2007
(Millions of Dollars)
$ 2597 $2789 $28I1 $ 633 § 659
1,372 1,319 1,120 447 446
565 568 492 107 . 134
339 377 389 70 117
1,993 1,861 1514 654 706
$ 6866 $ 6,914 $ 6326 $ 1911 $ 2062

The Company’s imtegrated operations were organized throughout 2008 into six reporting segments generally corresponding 1o major product groups: Powertrain
Fnergy. Powertrain Sealing and Bearings, Vehicle Safety and Protection, Automotive Products, Global Aflermarket and Corporate. The Company, as part of its

cfforts to streamline operations and adapt to the global market downtumn within the automotive industry. adopted a proposal in February 2009 to realign its
reportable operating segments. The realignment proposal was confirmed by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 23, 2009. The realignment will result
in the consclidation of the individual operating units within the former Automotive Products reportable segment into the other reportable segments. Changes in
personnel and other operating procedures, including management reporting, are currently in process, and the Company will present restated reportable segment

financial information within its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31. 2009,
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4. QUARTERLY FINANCEAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

As discussed in Note 19, the common shares of the Predecessor Company were cancelied upon the implementation of the Plan. As such, the camings per share
information tor the Predecessor Company is not meaningful to sharcholders of the Successor Company’s common shares, or to potential investors in such
common shares.

The tollowing table presents selected unaudited quanterly operating results of the Company for 2008 and 2007, and the audited results of the Company for the
years ended December 31, 20u8 and 2007.

First Second Third Fourth!!) Yeur
(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts and stock prices)

Year ended December 31, 2008, Successor Company:

Net sales $ 18392 $ 19952 % 16920 § 13192 $ 68656
Ciross margin 1664 395.6 27389 i82.8 1,123.7
Net (loss) income (31.3) 896 36 {529.6) 467.9)
Net (loss) income per basic share 0.3hH 0.90 0.04 (5.15) (4.69)
Net {loss) income per diluted share (.31) 0,89 .04 (5.35) (+69)
Shares used in computing basic (loss) income per share 100.0 160.0 99.8 98.9 99.7
Shares used in computing diluted (loss) income per share 100.3 100.3 100.1 99.3 160.0
Stock price;

High $ 2700 L 21.20 $ 17.29  § 12.80

Low $ 18.00 $ 491 § 1194 § 3a2

Dividend per share — — _ —

First Second Third Fourtht2) Year
(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts and stock prices)

Year ended December 31, 2007, Predecessor Company:

Net sales $ L7165 $ 1,7634 5 16855 $ 17485 § 69139
Gross margin 307.8 3224 279.5 274.9 1,184.6
Net income 4.5 3.9 13.7 1,390.2 £412.3
Net income per basic share 0.05 0.04 O.15 15.46 15.74
Net income per diluted share 0.05 0.04 0.15 15.23 15.46
Shares used in computing basic income per share 89.6 89.7 89.9 89.9 89.7
Shares used in computing diluted income per share Q1.3 91.2 914 91.3 91.3
Stock price: :

High $ .86 5 1.39 3% 1L19 % 0.94

Low $ 0.45 ] 077 % 050 % —

Dividend per share — — — —

(1} Includes impairment charges of $451.3 million associated with goodwill and other indefinite lived intangible assets, and long-lived tangible assets. Also
inctudes $126.8 million of restructuring costs incurred in connection with Restructuring 2009 program.

(2)  Includes impairment charges of $54.3 million associated with goodwill and long-lived tangible assets. Also includes $760.7 million gain on settlement of
liabilities subject to compromise, and $956.3 million in fresh-start reporting adjustments.
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ITEM 9, CIHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None,

ITEM9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

'The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that infarmation required to be disclosed in the Company's periodic
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specitied in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information
is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Otficer and Chief Financial Otficer, us appropriate, 10 allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure,

A control system, no matter how well conceived and aperated, can provide only reasonable. not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are
met. Further, the design of ¢ control system must retlect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must e considered relative to

their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in al! control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that ail control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected,

As of December 31, 2008, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the panicipativn of the Company's manngement, including the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company 's disclosure controls and procedures. Based
upen that evaluation, the Chiet’ Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
eftective as of December 31, 2008, at the reasonable assurance level previously described.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company included within this Form 10-K Management’s Report on Intemal Control over
Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2008, The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm also attested to. and reported on, the Company 's
jnternal Contral over Financial Reporting. Management's report and the independent registered public accounting firm’s report are included in fem 3 of this
Form 10-K and incorporated by reference herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

‘There has been no change in the Company’s internal contrel over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2008 that has materially affected or
is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's intemat control over financial reporting.

ITEM 98B. OTHER INFORMATION

Naone.
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PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOYERANCE

The information required by Ttem 10 regarding our directors and other COrporale governance matlers 15 incarporated by reference to the Company’s proxy
statement under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance™ and “Sceurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.” The
information required by ltem 10 regarding ot executive officers appears as a supplerncmary item following [tem 4 under Part [ of this report. The information
required by [tem 10 regarding compliance with section 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. is incorporated by reference to the
Company’s proxy statement under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.™

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Intormation with respect to compensation of executive officers and directors of the Company under the captions “Director Compensation”, “Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation Discussion and Analysis™ in the Company’s proxy statement is incorpornted herein by
reference and made a part of this report.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICEAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOUKHOLDER
MATTERS

Information under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Company’s proxy statement is incorporated herein
by reference and made a part of this report.

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTQORS INDEPENDENCE

‘The intormation required by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the Cnmpnny $ proxy statement under the captions “Director Independence and
Controlled Company Status™ and “Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions.”

ITEM 14, PRINCIPALACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to the fees and services of our principal accountant under the caption “Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm™ in the
Compuny's proxy statement is incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this report.
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PART IV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{a) The tullowing documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements
Financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed under Past 11, ftem 8§ hereof.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Financial Statements and Schedules Omitted

Schedules other than the schedule listed above are omitted because they are not required or applicable under instructions contained in
Regulation $-X uf because the information called for is shown in the financial statements and notes thereto.
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SCHEDULE ] — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

FEDERAL-MOGUL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Successor
Colump A Column B Column C Column ¥ Colusmn E
Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other Eod of
Description of Peried Expenies Accounts Desductions Period
(mons af Dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2008:
Viluation gllowance for trade
receivables 3 — $ 6.2 s 20.6¢1 $ — $ 268
Reserve for inventory valuation —_ 10.9 26.01p —_ 369
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 433.9 354 2472 —_ 786.5
Predecessor
Column A Column B Column Cotumn D Column E
Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costy and Other End of Fresh-Start
Description of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period Adjustments
(Millions of rallars)
Year ended December 31, 2007:
Valuation allowance for trade
receivables $ 292 % 1.2 $ — $ (6.4)0 % 240§ (24.0)
Reserve for inventory valuation 66.3 5.2 —_ (13,69 579 (57.9)
Vatuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 1,607.6 (100.1) (30.5) (669.4) 8076 (323.7)
Year ended December 31, 2006:
Valuation allowance for trade
receivables $ 431 % 09 § — $ (.02 29.2
Reserve for inventory valuation 638 113 —_ (10.8y» 66.3
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 1,143.3 705.8 (241.54 — £,607.6

Successor

Company

$

483.9

(1) Represents remaining portion of fresh-start adjustment that is being reestablished with a corresponding increase to gross accounts receivable and

inventory.

{2)  Uncollectible accounts charged off net of recoveries,

(3} Obsolete inventory charged off.

{4y Changes related to deferred tax assets on postemployment benefit Liabilities, net of currency translation.

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP. 10-K, February 24, 2009
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10.23

Exhibits
The Company will furnish upon request any of the following exhibits upon payment of the Company's reasonable expenses for furnishing such exhibit,

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of {Xcember 11, 2007 between Federal-Mogul Corporation and New  Federal-Mogul
Corporation, (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.t 1o the Company 's Current Report un Form $-K dated December 11, 2007.)

The Company's Second Amended and Restated Certiftcate of Incorporation. (Incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 3.4 1o the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 28, 2008)

The Company’s Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated July 28, 2008.)

Federal-Mogul U.S. Asbestos Personal Injury Trust Agreement by and among the Company, the Future Claimants Representative, the
Official Committee of Asbestos Claimants, the ‘Trustees, Wilmington Trust Company, und the members of the Trust Advisory
Comminee. dated as of December 27, 2007 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 w the Company’s Current Repurt on Form 3-K
duted December 27, 2007.)

Registration Rights Agreement dated as uf December 27, 2007 by and among the company, Thomwood Associates Limited Partnership
and the Federal-Mogul Asbestos Personal [njury Trust {Incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on
Fuorm 8-K dated December 27, 2007))

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. as amended. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 19923

Description of Umbrella Excess Liability insurance for the Senior Management Team. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ycar ended December 31, 1990.)

Amended and Restated Federni-Mogul Supplemental Key Executive Pension Plan dated January |, 1999 and Restated February 2004
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.) %

Master Services Agreement for Finance & Accounting Services dated September 30, 2004 between the Company and International
Business Machines Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
guarter ended October 31, 2004.)

Employment Agreement dated February 2, 2005 between the Company and José Maria Alapont. {Incorporated by reference o Exhibit
10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 3005.)

Federa!-Mogul Corporation Key Executive Pension Plan for José Maria Alapont. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 1o the
Company’s Arnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.)

Form of Change in Control Employment Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Gtirrent Report on
Form 8-K dated February 2, 2005.) §

Agreement between the Company, T&N Limited. the other Plan Proponents, High River Limited Partnership. the Administrators and the
Pension Protection Fund dated September 26, 2005 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated September 30, 2005.)
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10.40

10.41

10.42

Amendment No. | to Credit and Guaranty Agreement dated as of June 28, 2006 between the Company and certain subsidiaries in fivor
of Citicorp USA, Inc., us administrative agents (Incorporated by reference to Exhibat 10,30 to the Company's Annual Report on Ferm
10-K tor the year ended December 31, 2006.)

Amendment No. 2 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement dated as of November 30, 2006 between the Company and certain subsidiaries in
favor of Citicorp USA, Inc,, as asdministrative agents (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 10 the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31, 2006.)

Employment Contract dated April 20, 2005 between Federal Mogul Services, Eurl and Jean Brunol. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.32 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006) t

Stock Option Agreement by and among the Company, the Federal-Mogul Asbestos Personal [njury Trust, und Thormwood Associates
Limited Parinership. dated December 27, 2007 { Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Campany’s Current Report on Form §-K
Jdated December 27, 2007))

Lockup Agreement by and among the Company, the Federal-Mogul Asbestos Personal Injury Trust, and Thomwood Associates Limited
Partnership, dated December 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report un Form 8-K dated
December 27, 2007.)

Warrant Agreement by and between the Company and Mellon Invester Services LLC, dated December 27, 2007 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)

Stock Option Agreement by and between the Company and José Maria Alapont dated as of December 27, 2007 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Curvent Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)

Amendment No. | 1o Stock Option Agreement between the Company and José Maria Alapont dated February 14, 2008 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 14, 2008.) t

Cancellation Agreement between the Company and José Maria Alapont dated as of February 15, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2008.) +

Stock Option Agreement by and between the Company and José Maria Alapont dated as of February 15, 2008 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 15, 2008.) 1

Deterred Compensation Agreement by and between the Company and José Maria Alapont dated as of December 27, 2007 (Incorporated
by reterence (o Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Agreement by and among the Company, as Borrower, the Lenders party thereta, Citicorp USA, Inc.,
as Administrative Agent, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent dated as of December 27, 2007 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)

Tranche A Term Loan Agreement by and among the Company, as Borrower, the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, dated as of December 27, 2007 {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)
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*10.50
*13.51

Indenture by and among the Company, Guarantors therein and U.S. Bank National Association, dated as of December 27,. 2007
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 413 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2007.)

$140 Millien Loan Agreement by and between the Company and the Federal-Mogul Asbestos Personal Injury Trust, dated as of
December 27, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 o the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Devember 27,
2007y

$125 Million Loan Agrecment by and between the Company and the Federal-Mogul Asbestos Personal Injury Trust. dated as of
December 27, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27,
2007)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of June 18, 2002 between the Company and George Michael Lynch.
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 45 to the Company 's Annual Report en Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2007

Severance Agreement dated as of June |8, 2002 between the Company and George Michael Lynch, {Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.46 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.} 1

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of June 24, 2002 between the Company and Jeff'J. Kaminski (Incorporated by
reference 1o Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 13, 2008 ) +

Severance Agreement dated as of June 24, 2002 between the Company and Jeff ). Kaminski (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 13, 2008.) t

Federal-Mogul 2008 Management Incentive Plan. +

Federal-Mogul 2008 Management Incentive Uptift Plan. ¥

Subsidiaries ot the Registrant.

Powers of Attorney.

Certitication by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14
Certification by the Campany's Chief Financtal Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14

Certification by the Cumpany's Chiet Exccutive Ofilcer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Rule
13a-14(b)

* Filed Herewith

1 Management contracts and compensatory plans or arrangements.

15¢¢).
None

Separate finuncial statements of affiliates whose securities are pledged as coliateral.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on ity behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FEDERAL-MOGUL CORPORATION

By A/ Jelf) Kaminski
Jeff I, Kuminski
Senior Vice President and Chiet’
Financial Officer

Date February 24, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Director, President and
{5/ José Maria Alapont Chiet Executive Officer February 24, 2000

José Maria Alapomnt (Principal Executive Otficer)

Senior Vice President and Chief

/s/ Jeit ). Kaminski Financial Officer February 24, 2009
Jelt ). Kaminski {Principal Financial Officer)

/sf Alan Haughie Vice President and Controller February 24, 2009
Alan Haughie tPrincipal Accounting Officer)

* George Feldenkreis,
Vincent J. Intrieri,
J. Michael Laisure,
Keith A. Meister,
David $. Schechter,
Netl 8. Subin, and
James H. Vandenberghe

*

Y
{s/ Robert L. Katz Directors Febmuary 24, 2009
{Robert L. Kaz, Attorney-in-fact)

121

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2008




Exhibit 10.50

s '!!.]I-
The Management Incentive Plan (MIP) is intended to align the actions of participants with the goals of the Company and reward participants for achieving or
exceeding those goals.

Individual employees are eligible for participation in the MIP based on an appointment by the employee’s Vice President.

Target Bonuses are expressed as a percentage of the employee's Base Annual Salary, 1f the employee is paid on a meonthly basis, the Base Annual Salary, for
purposes of the MIP Plan, is 12 times the monthly rate, If the employee is paid on an every-other-week basis, the Base Annual Salary is 26 times the bi-weckly
rate. For bonus calculations, exclude 13th month or other mandated payments in countries that require them. For caleulation purposes, the employee’s Base
Annu! Rate as of December 31, 2008 is used.

Target Bonus percentages vary by the position occupied hy the individual in the organization. No changes may be made to the assigned target bonuses without
the written approval of the Director of Compensation and Benelits and/or the St Vice President of Hluman Resources. It is the responsibitity of the Human
Resource Directors to insure that Target Bonuses are consistent.

Pro-Ration:

When an individual first becomes eligible to participate in the MIP, or is promoted from a job with one Target Bonus level to anather with a different Target
Bonus level, or from one operation to another with different metric measures, the calculated bonus is pro-rated based on the number of months in the applicuble
job. There is no pro-ration for periods of service of less than two months.

For example; a person newly hired with less than 2 months service weuld not receive a MIP payment while a person with 10 months service or more would not
be pro-rated.

1f a participant is not actively at work for a period of more than three months (30 days). his/her award will be pro-rated.

C

Business unit Human Resource Directors are solely responsible for communication of this MIP plan to participants.

Source; FEDERAL MOGUL CORP. 10-K, February 24, 2009




Metricy:

For 2008, the MIP metrics fucus on EBITDA, Corporate Free Cash Flow, Sustainable Global Profitable Growth, Safety. Customer Satistaction and Service,
Inventory, Material Cost and Scrap, SG&A and Restructuring. Specitic metrics apply to panticipants Jdepending on their area of responsibility, For example, some
Sirategy Board members and their direct reports will be measured on Business Unit EBITDA rather than corporate wide EBITDA.

Adinstments:

"The metrics and their achievement levels are the basis for payout calculations. However, ¢ach participant’s individual performance and contributions will also be
considered and may alter the final payout. tn addition, the Company may reduce the 2008 MIP payment 10 a Group Qperations Vice President, Group Finance
Director or Plant Manager based on its assessment of the results of an audit or series of audits of plants or locations within the individuals’ group.

‘The pavout range for the 2008 MIP is trom 0 to 150% of a participant’s "Farget Bonus. For example. if an employee's Target Bonus is 10% of Base Annual
Salary, he may receive an amount equal from zero up to 15% of Base Annval Salary. Payout percentages are reunded to the nearest whole percent (0.5 and above
rounds up and any amount under 0.5 rounds down.)

The 2008 MIP bonus payment is limited to a maximum of 150% ot an individual's Target Bonus.

Migi Metric Achi Level:

If. for any metric, the achievement level does not equal or exceed 85% of the target, the payout for that metric will be zero.

Maxi Metri -

The maximum level of achievement for a payout is 120% of the target for a metric. At 120% achievement, the MIP payout level is 150% for that metric,

MIP participants must be actively employed on the day of payout to be eligible for 2 MIP payment. Payments under the 2008 MIP will be made between

January 1, 2009 and March 13, 2009 after business results are calculated and audited. In all countries, jocal tax taws apply, MIP payments are pensionable
income. In the U.5., payments are subject to 401(k) deduction elections and statutory withholding.

2
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The Company may muke changes to the MIP program and alter. pustpone or disaltow individual or Jocation payments as it deems appropriate, within the plun’s
puyout range ot zero W 150% of larget.

¢ "

Al incentive plan designs and awards, if any. are subjeet 1o approval of the Compensation Commitiee of the Board of Dircctors.

G > M -

aiWithbolding of Taxes: Federat-Mogul shull withhokd the amuunt of taxes which, in the dutermination of the Company. are required under law with respect to
any amount due or paid under the Plan,

t)Voluntary Termination: Subject to the Company Discretion clause above, in the event a participant elects to leave Federal-Mogul before payment of the 2008
MIP bonus is made, all rights under the MIP cease and no benetit is vested, acerued or due under the MIP.

¢iinvoluntary Termination® Subject to the Company Discretion clause above, it a participant is invotuntary terminated for reasons other than “for cause™, dies,
or becomes permanently disabled prior to December 31, 2008, he or she will be paid a pro-rated portion of his/her valcutated MIP Bonus. The pro-ration will be
caleulated based on the formula (x times Target MIP Bonus times the final caleulated payout percentage) where x equals a fraction where the numerator is the
number of days the employee is employed in the year and the denominator is 365 (366 in o Lezp Year) Payment will be made at the same time active
participants are pand. In the event of involuntary termination. payment of this pro-rated MIP Bonus is contingent on the employee signing the Agreement and
Release torm.

I imi'i.!!innl‘

a)No Continued Employment

Neither the establishment of the Plan. participation in the Plan, nor any payment thereunder shall be deemed to constitute an express or implied contract of
employment of any participant for any period of time or in any way abridge the rights of Federal-Mogul to determine the terms and conditions of employment or
to ferminate the employment of any employee with or without cause at any time,

biQther Plang

Nothing contained herein shall limit Federal-Mogul's power to make regular or discretionary payments to employees of Federal-Mogul, whether or not they are
participants in this Plan,

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 200%




Exhibit 10.51

E . 2008 Manage,
Ingentive Uplify Plan

Gual:
The 2008 Management Incentive Uiplift Plan (2008 Uplift} is a special program designed to incentivize long term performance and retain critical skills. Toward
this goal it provides participants with the opportunity to receive an additional bonus for 2008 achicvements.

Pactici )
‘This program is being offered to a select group of employees and applies solely to the calendar year 2008, Individual employees are eligible for participation in
the 2008 Uplifi based upon appeiniment by the President and Chiet Executive Officer. Because of limited participation in this program, cmployees are expected
to keep their participation confidential.

‘Fhe 2008 Uplift Target Bonus Percentage is assigned to cligible participants at the discretion of the President and Chiet Executive Ofticer.

For example, the President and Chief Executive Officer may clect to assign a Manager with a normal MIP Target Award of 20% of base a 2008 Uplift Target
Bonus of 10%. When combined with the annual MIP program hissher combined 2008 Target Award ts 30%.

Shown another way this example would provide:

Annual MIP Target Bonus 20%
2008 Uplift Target Bonus 10%
Combined 2008 Target Awards J0%

Ero-Ratien:
If an employee is hired or promaoted during 2008, the calculation of hissher award will be prorated in the same manner as the annual MIP prorata calculation
tormula, [f a participant is not actively at work for a period of more than three months, his/her award will be pro-rated,

Metrics;
The 2008 Uplift program metrics focus on Corporate-Wide EBITDA, Corporate-Wide Free Cash Flow, New Business Bookings, and Return on Equity as
calculated by the Corporate Finance department.

Corporate-Wide EBITDA - Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization.

Corporate-Wide Free Cash Flow - EBITDA adjusted for capital expenditures and interest.
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New Business Bookings - The total dullar value of newly booked contracts in 2008, A target valuge will he caleulated based un an expected average annual
growth rate and average product life eyeles.

Return on Equity - Federal-Mogul's net income. adjusted for non-budgeted exceptional charges, divided by equity.

The metrics and ther achievement levels are the basis for payout calculations. However, each participant’s individual performance and contributions will also be
considered and may alter the final pavout. The paywut range for the 2008 Uplift program is fram 0 to 200% of u participant’s 2008 Uplift ‘Target Bonus. 11 an
employee’s 2008 Uplift Target Bonus is, for example, 10% of base salary: he may receive an amount equal to zero up to 20% of base salary.

If for any metric the achievement level equals 100% of the goal, the pavout tor that metric will be 100%.

Alini \chi Level:
If, for any metric the achievement levet does not equal or exceed 85% of the target, the payout for that metric witl be zero. Al the B5% achievement level the
pavout is 63%%.

The maximum fevel of schievement for a payout is 123% of the target for a metric. At 125% achievement, the 2008 Uplift payout level is 200% for that metric,
The payuut curve between the minimum achievement bevel and 10026 is linear; as is the payout curve between (0024 and the maximum achievement level.
Two-thirds (21'3)0t' the 2008 Uplift pavout will be made within 30 days after completion of the annual audit of results and between January 1, 200 and

March §5, 2009, One-third { '/3) of the 2008 Uplift payout will be made between January 1, 2010 and March |5, 2010. Interest will be credited to the deferred
amount at a rate equal to the average one-month LIBOR plus 1.9375% over such deferrat peried.

2008 Uplift participunts must be actively employed on the day of payout to be eligible for cither portion of the 2008 Uplift payment.

[n all countries, local tax laws apply. 2008 Uplift payments are pensionable income. In the U.S., payments are subject te 401(k} deduction elections and statutory
withholding.

[~
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The President and Chief Executive Officer may make changes to the 2008 tplift program and alter, postpone or disallow individual or location payments, within
his sole discretion, as he deems appropriate within the plan’s payout range of zero to 200% of Target. With respect to the President and Chietf Executive Oificer’s
participation and award payment the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors shatlt have sole discretion,

. ation Commi { the Board uf Dirsctors:

All incentive plan designs and awards, 11 any, are subjeet to approval of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors,

G | Provisions:
awithholding of Taxes; Federal-Mogu! shall withhold the amount of taxes which, in the determination of the Company, are required under law with respect to
any amount due or paid under the Plan.

b)ixpenses: Federal-Mogul is responsible tor all expenses and costs in connection with the adoption and administration of the Plan.

c)Agtive Employment; Active employment means actively engaged in the work of the corporation. Those in severance or nutice period status pending
termination are not considered in active employment.

OVeluntary Termipation: Subject to the Executive Discretion clause above, in the event a participant ¢lects to leave Federal-Mogul before either portion of the
2008 Uplitt payment is made, bt rights under this Plan cease and no benefit is vested, accrued or due under the Plan.

¢)Retirgment; If a participant retires in accordance with the provisions of an applicable retirement or pension plan or policy, he/she will be paid any deferred
portion of the 2008 Uplift at the same time as other participants,

Ninvoluntary Termination: Subject to the Exeeutive Discretion clause above, if a participant is involuntarily terminated for teasons other than “for cause™, dies,
or becomes permanently disabled prior to December 31, 2008 he/she will be pasd a pro-rated portion of his'her calculated 2008 Uplift bonus. The pro-ration will
be caleulated based on the formula (x times Target 2008 Uplift bonus times the final calculated payout percentage) where x equals a fraction where the numerator
is the number of days the employee is employed in the year and the denominator is 365.

Payment will be made at the same time active participants are paid between January 1, 2009 and March 15, 2009,

In the event of involuntary termination, payment of this pro-rated 2008 Uplift bonus is contingent on the employee signing the form of Federal-Mogut
Agreement and Release,

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K. February 24, 2009



Limitations:
a)No Continged Emplovient;

Neither the establishment of the Plan, participation in the Plan, nor any payment thercunder shall be deemed to constitute an express or implied contract of
employment of any participant for any period of time or in any way abridge the rights of Federal-Magui ta determine the terms and conditions of employment or
10 terminate the employment of any employce with or without cause at any time.

b¥Other Plans;
Nothing contained herein shall limit Federal-Mogul's power to make regular or discretionary payments to employees of Federat-Mogul, whether or not they are
participants in this Plan.

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009




FEDERAL-MOGUL CORPORATION SUBSIDIARIES

Exhibit 21

The direct and indirect operating subsidiaries of the Company and their respective States or other jurisdictions of incorporation as of December 31, 2008 are as

tollows:

Name of Subsidiaries

Federal Mogu! Argentina SA.

Federal-Mogul Plasticos Puntanos, S.A.
Federa!-Mogul Pty Ltd.

Federal-Mogul Automotive Pty Ltd.

Federal-Mogul S.A,

Coventry Assurance, Lul.

Federat Mogut do Brasil Lida,

Federal Mogul Materiais de Friceao Ltda.
Federal-Mogul Industria de Autopecas Lida
Federal-Mogul Canada Limited

Fuederal-Mogul (Shanghai) Automotive Parts Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Champion Spark Plug (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Dengsuh {Qingdao) Pistons Cu., Ltd.
Federal-Mogu! Friction Products Co. Ltd.
Federal-Mogul (China) Co., Lid.

Federal-Mogul Qingdao Automotive Parts Co., Lid.
Federal-Mogul Qingdao Piston Co. Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Sealing Systems Co.. Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Shanghai Bearings Co., Lid
Federul-Mogul Shanghai Compound Material Co., Ltda.
Federal-Mogu! Friction Products A.S.

Federal Mogul Aftermarket France SAS
Federal-Mogul Financial Services SAS
Federat-Mogul Friction Products SAS

Fuderal-Mogul Operations France SAS
Federal-Mogul Sealing System SAS

Federal-Mogul Services Sart

Federal-Mogul Systems Protection SAS
Federal-Mogul, SAS

Federal-Mogul Sintertech, SAS

Federal-Mogul Automotive Verwaltungs GmbH
Federal-Mogul Betriebsgrundsticke Burscheid GmbH
Federal-Mogul Burscheid Beteiligungs GmbH
Federal-Mogul Burscheid GmbH

Federal-Mogul Deva GmbH

Federal-Mogul Friction Products GmbH
Federal-Mogul Friedberg GmbH

Source; FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009

Country

Argentina
Argentina
Australia
Australia
Belgium
Bermuda
Brazil
Brazil
Brazil
Canada
Ching
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
China
Czech Rep.
France
France
France
France
France
France
France
France
France
Germany
Ciermany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany

Percentage of Volting
Stock Owned Directly and
Indirectly by
Federol-Mogul
96.3%
96.0%
100.0% °
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
75.5%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
61.5%
100.0%
60.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100,0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%




Narme of Subnidiaries

Federal-Mogui Holding Dewtschland GmbH
Federal-Mogul Nurenberg Gmbli
Federal-Mogul Powertrain Russia GmbH
Federal-Mogul Sealing Systems Bretten GmbH
Federnl-Mogul Sealing Systems GmbH
Federal-Mogul TP Europe Gmbh & Co. KG
Federal-Mogul TP Piston Rings GmbH
Federnl-Mogul Vermogensvenwaltungs GmbH
Federal-Mogul Verwaltungs und Beteiligungs GmbH
Federal-Mogul Wiesbaden GmbH

Gioetze Wohnungsbau GmbH
Weybum-Bartel GmbH

Curzon Insurance Limited

Federal-Mogul (T&N) Hong Kong Limited
Federnl-Mogul World Trade (Asis) Limited
Federal-Mogu! Hungary Kit

Federal-Mogul Bearing [ndia Limited
Federal-Mogu! Goetze (India} Limited
Federel-Mogul TPR (India) Limited

Ferodo India Private Limited

Sarara Rubber and Chemicals Pvi. Lid.
Federal-Mogu! ltaly S.r.l.

Federal Mogul Japan K.K.

KFM Bearing Co., Lid.

Federal-Mogul Luxembourg 8. . 1. §,
Federal-Mogul Holdings, Ltd.
Federal-Mogul de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Federal-Mogul S A. de C.V.

McCord Payen de Mexico 8. de R.L.
Raimsa, S.A. de C.V.

Servicios Administrativos Industriales, S.A.

Servicto de Componentes Automotrices, S.A. de CA.

Subensambles [ntermacionales, S A, de 8.V.
T&N de Mexico S.de R.L

Cooperatict Federnl-Mogul Dutch Invesiments B.A.
Federal-Mogul Global B.V.
Federal-Mogul Growth B.V. -
Federal-Mogul Holdings B.V.
Federal-Mogu! [nvestments B.V.
Federal-Mogu! Netherlands B. V.
Federal-Mogul Bimet Spolka Akcyjna
Federal-Mogu! Gorzyce 5.A.
Federal-Mogu! Powertrain Vostok QCO

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009
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Percentage of Voting
Stock Owned Directly and

Indirectly by
Country Federal-Mogul
{iermany 100.0%
(lermany 100.0%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 66.7%
Ciermany 66.6%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 100.0%
Germany 100.0% _
Germany 100.40%
Guemsey 100.0%
Hong Kong 100484
Hong Kong 100.0%s
Hungary 100.0%%
India 63.8%
India 75.0%
India 62.7%
India 100.0%
India 75.0% .
Italy 100.0%
Japan . 100.0%
Korea 100.0%
Luxembourg’ 100.0%
Mauritius Is 100.0%
Mexico 97.7%
Mexico 98.3%
Mexico 100.0%-
Mexico 100.0%
Mexico 100.0%
Mexico 100.0%
Mexico 100.0%’
Mexico 100.0%
Netherlands 100.0% .
Netherlands 100.0%
Netherlands. 100.0%
Netherlands 100.0%
Netherlands 100.0%
Netherlands 100.0%
Poland 95.0%
Poland 99.8%
Russia 100.0%




Name of Subsidiaries

Country

Federad Mogul of South Africa(Pty) Lid.
Federal-Mogul Aftermarket Espana, SA
Fuederal-Mogul Friction Products SA
Federal-Mogul Iberica, §.1.

Federal-Mogul Sart

Federal-Mogul Friction Products (Thailand) Limited
AE Internationat Limited

AE Limited

Federal-Mogul Acquisition Company Limited
Federal- Magul Aftermarket UK Limited
Federal-Mogul Bradford Limited
Federal-Mogu! Camshaft Castings Limited
Federal-Mogul Camshali Limited
Federal-Mogul (Continental European Operations) Limited
Federal-Mogul Employee Trust Administration Limited
Federal-Mogul Engineering Limited
Federal-Mogut Export Services Limited
Federal-Mogul Friction Products Limited
Federul-Mogul Global Growth Limited
Federal-Mogul 1gnition (U.K.) Limited
Federal-Mogul Sealing Systems Limited
Federal-Mogul Sintered Products Limited
Federal-Mogul Sunderland Ltd.
Federal-Mogul Systems Protection Group Limited
F-M International Limited

F-M Trademarks Limited

F-M UK Holding Limited

Sintration Limited

T&N Holdings Limited

T&N Investments Limited

Té&N Limited

Wellworthy Limited

McCord Sealing, nc.

Federal-Mogul Dutch Holdings Inc.,
Federal:Mogul FAP, [nc.

Federal-Mogul Finance 1, LLC.
Federal-Mogul Finance 2, LLC.
Federal-Mogul Global Ine,

Federal-Mogul Ignition Company
Federal-Mogu! Piston Rings, Inc.
Federal-Mogul Technical Center, LLC
Federal-Mogul UK. Heldings Inc.

Feruodo America, Inc.

Ferodo Holdings, inc,

FM International, LLC

T&N Industries [nc.

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009

South Africa
Spain
Spain
Spain

Switzertand

‘Thailand
UK
UK
Uk
LUK
UK
UK
(U} 4
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK

US-Alabama

1)S-Delaware

US-Belaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Delaware

US-Detaware

US-Delaware

* Exhibit 21

Percentage of Voting
Stock Owned directly
and Indirectly by
100.0%
51.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0% -
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%




Federal-Mogul Powerieain, Inc.
Federal-Mogul World Wide Ine.
1.W.J Holdings, Inc.
Federal-Mogu! Products, Inc.
Federal-Mogu! Venture Corporation
Federal-Mogul de Venezuela, C AL

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24. 2009

LIS-Michigan
LS-Michigan
US-Michigan
US-Missouri
US-Nevada
Venezuela
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100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%




Exhibit 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Lach of the undersigned directors of Federal-Mogul Corporation (the “Company ™), hereby appoints Robert L. Katz and Brett Pynnonen, and each of them
individually. his true and lawiul sttorney-in-fact or attorneys-in-tact, with full power of substitution, for and in his rame, place, and stead, to affix, as
attomey-in-tact, his signature, by manual or facsimile signature, electronic ransmission or othenwise, to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for its
tiscal year ended December 31, 2008, and any and all amendments thereto to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. under the provisions of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with power to file said Annual Report and such amendments, and any and all other documents that may be
required in connection therewith, with the Sccurities and Exchange Commission. hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact, and each of them. full power and
authority to do and perform any and all acts and things requisite or appropriate m connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could
do in person, hereby ralifying and contirming all that said attorneys-in-fact or any of them may lawtully do or cause to be done by virtue hereot.

This Power of Attorney may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original with respect to the person exceuting it.

SIGNATURES
fsf Jusé Maria Alapont Director, President and Chief Executive Officer February 23, 2009
José¢ Maria Alapont
s/ George Feldenkreis Director February 23, 20609
George Feldenkreis
/s/ Vincent J. Intrieri Director February 23, 2009
Vincent J. Intrieri
/sf J. Michael Laisure Director February 23, 2009
1. Michael Laisure
/s/ Keith A. Meister Director February 23, 2009
Keith A, Meister
/s/ David S. Schechter Director February 23, 2009
David S. Schechter
/s/ Neil S. Subin Director February 23, 200%
Neil S. Subin
/s/ James H. Vandenberghe Director February 23, 2009

James H. Vandenberghe

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009




tixhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATFION
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I. losé Maria Alapont, the Chief Executive Olticer of Federal-Mogul Corporation (the “Company™), certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Federal-Mogul Corporation,
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of 2 material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this repor;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respeets the financial
condition, results of operations and cash {lows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report:

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintuining disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 133-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)} and internal comtrol ever financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(0) and 15d-15(1)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision. 10 ensure
that material information relating to the registrant. including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entitics,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared.

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 10 be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting und the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

<) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
guarter that has materially atfecied, or is reasonably likety to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the equivatent tunctions):

a) Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal contrel over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely atfect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report tinancial information; and

b}  Any fraud. whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date; February 24, 2009

By: /s/ José Maria Alapont

José Maria Alapont
President and Chiet Executive Officer

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2008




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

1. Jet¥ ). Kaminski, the Chief Financial Officer of Federal-Mogu! Corporation (the “Company ™), certity that:
I { have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Federal-Mogul Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
stafements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3 Based an my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition. results of operations and cash flows of the regisirant as of, and for, the periods presented in this repont;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible tor establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-i5(¢) and 13d-15(e)) and internal contro! over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(1) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a} Designed such disclosure controts and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures ta be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that matenial intormation relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the retiability of financial reporting and the preparation of finuncial statemenis for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
yuarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially atfect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting, and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 1o the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directers (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

@}  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemat control over firancial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal contro! over
financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 2009

By: /s/Jeff J. Kaminski

Jeft J. Kaminski
Senior Yice President and Chief Financial Officer

Source: FEDERAL MOGUL CORP, 10-K, February 24, 2009




Iixhibit 32

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to 18 United States Code § 1350and
Rule 13a- 14(byof the Securitics Exchange Actof 1934

The Undersigned hereby certifies that 1o his knowledge the annuai report on Ferm 10-K of Federal-Mogul Corporation (the "Company ™) filed with the Securitics
and Exchange Commission on (he dute hereof fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a)or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934 and that the
informution contained in such annual repont Fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed vriginal of this wrilten statement, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, o wtherwise adopting the signatures that appear in typed form
within the electranic version of this written statement, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Secunities
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Date: February 24, 2009

By: /s/José Maria Alapont
José Maria Alapont
President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /sf Jeft J. Kaminski
Jelt ). Kaminski
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Ofticer
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